

## Standard Open Procedures from Deceased Donors

29

Rainer W.G. Gruessner

## Contents

Introduction	354
General Considerations	354
Enteric Versus Bladder Drainage	354
Systemic Versus Portal Vein Drainage	357
Whole-Organ Versus Segmental Transplants	359
Intraperitoneal Versus Extraperitoneal Placement	359
Bilateral Versus Ipsilateral Placement of SPK Transplant	360
Standard Procedures: Systemic Versus Portal Venous Drainage and Enteric Versus Bladder	261
Drainage	301
Systemic Vein and Bladder Exocrine Drainage	301
Portal Vein and Enteric Exocrine Drainage [152]	371
	571
Other Techniques to Divert Exocrine Pancreatic Secretions	378
Duodenal Drainage	378
Gastric Drainage	378
	380
Orer Dust Drainage	381
Open-Duct Drainage and Duct Ligation	381
Less Common Types of Pancreas Transplants	381
Segmental Transplants	381
Split-Pancreas Transplants	382
Pancreas Transplants After Native Pancreatectomy	383
En Bloc Transplants and Transplants from Pediatric Donors	383
En Bloc or Single-Unit Pancreas-Kidney Transplants	383
Transplants from Pediatric Donors	384
Combined Deneuses and Fythe renal Solid Organ Transplants	296
Simultaneous Pancreas_Liver Transplants	386
Sinutaneous i ancieas-Elvei Transpiano	500
Other Technical Variations	391
Duodenal Button Versus Duodenal Segment	391
Temporary Externalization of Pancreatic Secretions and Cutaneous Graft Duodenostomy	391
Other Rare Technical Variants	392
Conversion from Bladder to Enteric Drainage	394
Graft Pancreatectomy	395
Pancreas Retransplants	398
References	400

R. W.G. Gruessner (⊠)

Department of Surgery, State University of New York (SUNY), Downstate Health Sciences University, Brooklyn, NY, USA e-mail: rainer.gruessner@downstate.edu

© The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2023 R. W.G. Gruessner, A. C. Gruessner (eds.), *Transplantation of the Pancreas*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-031-20999-4\_29

#### Introduction

Since the first pancreas transplant in 1966 [1], a variety of surgical techniques for graft implantation have been reported. In fact, more so than with any other solid organ, the history of pancreas transplantation has predominantly revolved around the development and application of different surgical techniques [2]. And no other abdominal organ has seen such a variety of surgical techniques for the purpose of transplantation. The two most controversial issues in the past have been the management of exocrine pancreatic secretions (enteric vs. bladder drainage) and the type of venous drainage (systemic vs. portal venous drainage). Other issues have included pancreatic mass (whole vs. segmental transplants) and graft placement (intraperitoneal vs. extraperitoneal; and in SPK, bilateral vs. ipsilateral). According to the International Pancreas Transplant Registry (IPTR), an intraabdominal whole-organ pancreas transplant with enteric and systemic venous drainage is now the preferred technique worldwide (see Chap. 66). However, the surgical technique may need to be adapted to the individual circumstances of donor and recipient to optimize the outcome.

## **General Considerations**

#### **Enteric Versus Bladder Drainage**

A multitude of surgical techniques for diverting exocrine pancreatic secretions has been reported over time: enteric drainage, cutaneous graft duodenostomy, open intraperitoneal duct drainage, duct ligation, duct injection, gastric drainage, ureteral drainage, bladder drainage, and duodenal drainage (in chronological order). Of those, enteric and bladder drainage have been the most common techniques. Advantages and disadvantages of enteric vs. bladder drainage are depicted in Table 29.1.

After the introduction of tacrolimus and mycophenolate mofetil in the mid-1990s with a significant reduction in pancreas rejection rates, a major change in the management of pancreatic exocrine secretions took place: before then, enteric drainage was used in only about 10% of all transplants whereas now it is the predominantly used technique worldwide in about 95% of transplants. The reasons for this change are described below.

In their initial series of ten pancreas transplants, Lillehei et al. used enteric drainage (duodenojejunostomy via a Roux-en-Y loop) in six patients [3]. But, alternatives to enteric drainage were subsequently developed because of the high morbidity and mortality rates related to technical complications of the intestinal anastomosis. In 1973, Gliedman et al. described a technique of segmental pancreas transplantation in which the exocrine pancreatic secretions were Table 29.1 Comparison of bladder versus enteric drainage

	Enteric drainage (ED)	Bladder drainage (BD)
Advantages	Most physiologic techniques for drainage of exocrine pancreatic secretions No technique-related metabolic or urologic complications Duodenal and gastric drainage easily accessible for endoscopy	Monitoring of urinary amylase as a marker of rejection Less severe abdominal complications since leaks and abscesses are usually contained Access for cystoscopic biopsy
Disadvantages	No monitoring of exocrine pancreatic secretions Diffuse peritonitis is possible in case of a leak Jejunal drainage is slightly less accessible for percutaneous biopsy (because of midabdominal placement in case of portal drainage)	Nonphysiologic anastomosis, which causes a variety of metabolic and urologic complications, for example, metabolic acidosis and dehydration (because of loss of bicarbonate and fluids), high urinary tract infection rate, hematuria, genitourinary irritation; conversion to ED in 10–35% due to reflux pancreatitis and other reasons

drained via the native ureter into the recipient's bladder [4]. They also discussed the possible use of urinary amylase levels to monitor pancreas graft function. But, ureteral drainage of segmental pancreas grafts was hampered early on by three issues: (1) the technique was associated with a high anastomotic leak rate and, consequently, a high graft failure rate; (2) an ipsilateral nephrectomy was frequently required to use the native ureter; and (3) preferably segmental grafts were used. In 1983, Sollinger et al. reported a modified technique of direct drainage of the pancreatic duct into the bladder to divert exocrine secretions of segmental pancreas grafts, without an increased risk for anastomotic leaks or abscesses [5]. In 1985, Gil-Vernet et al. reported a whole-pancreas graft technique with successful anastomosis between the papilla of Vater (without duodenal conduit) and the ipsilateral recipient ureter [6]. Nghiem and Corry eventually described in 1987 the technique of bladder drainage via the graft duodenum for whole pancreaticoduodenal grafts [7]. Over the following 10 years, most centers adopted the technique of bladder-drained whole-organ pancreaticoduodenal transplants-considered safe, convenient, and usually sterile. According to the IPTR, through 1995 more than 90% of all pancreas transplants worldwide were bladder drained [8].

The advent of more potent immunosuppressive drugs (tacrolimus and mycophenolate mofetil) to prevent rejection and more efficient anti-microbial prophylaxis and treatment of infections along with improved surgical techniques in the second part of the 1990s led to the revival of the much more physiologic enteric drainage. The following comprehensive review of the physiology of bladder drainage is, therefore, more of historical interest. However, since many pancreas recipients still enjoy good graft function with bladder drainage, the full spectrum of complications is listed here as they need to be managed competently when they arise.

The two main reasons for the widespread use of bladderdrained whole-organ pancreaticoduodenal transplants until well into the 1990s were (1) the relatively low complication rate, with no contamination from an enterotomy [which usually causes peritonitis] [9, 10], and (2) the ability to monitor urinary amylase levels to detect graft rejection [11]. In contrast to enteric drainage, surgical complications with bladder drainage are usually contained in the right or left lower abdominal quadrant: Leaks usually do not result in diffuse peritonitis because no abdominal spillage of enteral contents occurs. Duodenal segment or bladder leaks can frequently be managed conservatively, without surgical repair, by the placement of a Foley catheter and percutaneous drain(s). Serial urinary amylase measurements had been particularly helpful in solitary pancreas transplants (PTA, PAK) with their higher rejection rates and in which a simultaneously transplanted kidney from the same donor is not available as a harbinger to monitor serum creatinine levels for rejection [12]. Before it was shown that percutaneous computed tomography (CT)-or ultrasound (US)-guided biopsies of the bladder- or enteric-drained pancreas grafts could be successful, with a low complication rate [13–15], bladder drainage allowed cystoscopic biopsies of both the graft duodenum and the pancreas graft itself [16-19]. With percutaneous biopsies now being widely used, a bladder-drained pancreas graft in the right or left lower abdominal quadrant usually is easily accessible to percutaneous biopsies, whereas an enteric- and portal-drained pancreas graft in the mid-abdomen is less accessible with the exception of grafts that utilize duodenal and gastric drainage [20, 21].

However, bladder drainage is associated with unique metabolic and urologic complications. The loss of 1-2 L/day of (alkaline)exocrine pancreatic and duodenal mucosal secretions in the urine results in bicarbonate deficiency and electrolyte derangements, causing chronic (hyperchloremic) metabolic acidosis and dehydration. Permanent bicarbonate supplementation and increased fluid intake are the results of the nonphysiologic connection between the pancreaticoduodenal graft and the urinary bladder. Although most recipients can adapt to the need for increased fluid intake and bicarbonate supplementation, the altered physiology can challenge their patience and compliance. In extreme cases, this metabolic derangement can lead to malnutrition, lack of energy with easy fatigability, nausea and vomiting, anorexia, orthostatic hypertension and headaches, chronic abdominal pain and constipation, renal dysfunction, and failure to thrive. These severe symptoms may require long-term vascular

access for intermittent bicarbonate and fluid supplementation, fludrocortisone for water and sodium retention, and acetazolamide or octreotide to reduce bicarbonate production of the pancreaticoduodenal graft [22].

Urologic complications are common because pancreatic enzymes are a permanent source of irritation to the transitional epithelium of the bladder and to the lower genitourinary tract. The consequences are altered integrity of the urothelium and an obligatory alkaline pH of the urine. Urologic complications include the following: chemical cystitis and urethritis (manifesting as dysuria), recurrent hematuria (in particular at the anastomotic site), bladder stones, and recurrent episodes of graft pancreatitis believed to be secondary to reflux. The high rate of urinary tract infections is a frequent cause of costly in- and out-patient treatment. But, most of these complications can be successfully managed nonoperatively (by Foley catheter placement, antibiotics, urine alkalization, and urinary tract analgesics) and usually resolve after the first 12 months posttransplant [22]. More serious, but less common, complications include severe perineal inflammation and excoriation and, more frequently in men, ureteral disruption, and strictures. Activation of the pancreatic proenzyme trypsinogen, by enterokinase present in the brush border of the duodenal mucosa, is considered the major cause [22, 23]. Autodigestion of the glans of the penis, the major labia, and the urethra as well as urethral strictures and preneoplastic bladder lesions have also been described [24–28].

The incidence of urologic complications because of activated proteolytic pancreatic enzymes is high. It may be further increased by an underlying neurogenic bladder (with incomplete emptying and causing urinary retention) and long blind duodenal segments (leading to urinary stasis and bacterial overgrowth) [29]. In a University of Wisconsin study, the incidence of recurrent urinary tract infections was as high as 35%; severe or chronic hematuria, 22%; anastomotic or duodenal segment leaks, 22%; reflux pancreatitis, 14%; and urethral lesions, 7% [30, 31]. Despite their high incidence, urologic complications rarely affect patient and graft survival rates.

The spectrum of complications caused by exposure of pancreatic enzymes to the urothelium has been extensively studied. But, the long-term consequences of exposure of urine to the duodenal graft mucosa have not been investigated in pancreas transplantation. In nontransplant patients, malignancies in intestinal conduits after a mean of 18 years were attributed to the carcinogenic effect of urine on the intestinal mucosa [32]. Duodenal biopsies obtained between 205 and 2264 days after pancreaticoduodenal transplants did not reveal any neoplastic lesions within 6 years posttransplant, but did reveal mild to moderate blunting of the villous epithelium; varying degrees of chronic lymphocytic, eosinophilic, and plasma cell infiltration of the lamina propria;

benign lymphoid aggregates; and intestinal metaplasia [33]. Nakhleh et al. noted crypt loss and villous atrophy of the graft duodenum but no neoplastic changes [34]. Yet, chronic bacteriuria, epithelial cell transformation caused by the jux-taposition of transitional and intestinal epithelium, and long-term use of immunosuppressive drugs are all considered potential carcinogenic factors, so long-term surveillance of the duodenal conduit is warranted [33]. Of note, at least one case of preneoplastic lesion in a bladder-drained pancreas allograft has been reported [28].

The therapy of choice for all persistent or refractory metabolic and urologic complications has been a conversion from bladder to enteric drainage (see section below: "Conversion from Bladder to Enteric Drainage"). According to US IPTR/ United Network for Organ Sharing (UNOS) data, the rate of conversion for bladder-drained SPK transplants performed between 2008 and 2019 was 7% at 1 year, 18% at 5 years, and 18% at 10 years [8]. The rate was higher for solitary transplants (18% at 1 year, 35% at 5 years, and 35% at 10 years). Bladder drainage was more often used in solitary transplants and faster converted after stable graft function. But, conversion from bladder to enteric drainage requires another surgical procedure. Unfortunately, a few perfectly well-functioning grafts have been lost because of technical complications related to the conversion procedure, but overall graft survival in large patient series has not been worse after enteric conversion [22, 35–39].

In light of the potential complications of bladder drainage and possibly their negative impact on quality of life, interest in enteric drainage resurged in the mid-1990s thanks to improvements in surgical technique, immunosuppressive therapy, radiologic imaging, and interventional procedures, antimicrobial prophylaxis, liberal use of graft biopsies, and excellent results with enteric conversion after bladder drainage. Since then, additional variants of the original enteric or jejunal drainage have been introduced such as duodenal and gastric drainage.

The shift from bladder to enteric drainage, according to US IPTR/UNOS data, took place between 1995 and 2004: in 1995, 16% of pancreas transplants used enteric and 84% bladder drainage; in 2004, 84% used enteric and 15% bladder drainage; and in 2019, 97% used enteric and 3% bladder drainage. This shift from bladder to enteric drainage happened faster in the simultaneous pancreas and kidney (SPK) category (enteric drainage in 1995, 16%; in 2004, 87%; and in 2019, 97%) and later in the solitary pancreas transplant categories-pancreas transplant alone [PTA] and pancreas after kidney [PAK] transplant-(enteric drainage in 1995, 11%; in 2004, 81%; and in 2019, 95%). During the same time period, the rate of technical failures with enteric drainage significantly decreased. However, the rates have remained somewhat higher than with bladder drainage: in 1995, the overall rate of technical failures was 12% with enteric vs. 8% with bladder drainage; in 2004, 8% with enteric vs. 3% with bladder drainage; in 2019, 3% with enteric drainage; there were only 23 (!) bladder drained pancreas transplants performed in 2019, all without any technical complications [8].

Improvements in surgical technique largely contributed to the enteric drainage shift. In the past, pancreatic-enteric anastomoses of segmental grafts were associated with a high incidence of infections (peritonitis, abscess, mycotic aneurysm, and wound infection), pancreatic fistulas, or leaks. In the late 1980s, the Stockholm group reported, for segmental grafts, the routine use of (1) a Roux-en-Y loop for constructing the pancreatic-enteric anastomosis and (2) an external pancreatic duct catheter to temporarily protect the pancreatic-enteric anastomosis [40, 41]. A Roux-en-Y loop was advocated because it reduced the incidence and severity of surgical complications at the anastomosis between the graft duodenum and the inadequately prepared recipient bowel in the setting of high-dose immunosuppression. Graft pancreatectomy also causes less morbidity with a Roux-en-Y loop in place. In contrast, if the graft duodenum is directly anastomosed to the recipient's small bowel, at least one (temporary) enterostomy may have to be constructed. Hence, the use of a Roux-en-Y loop facilitates graft salvage in the event of graft duodenal complications and prevents the construction of an enterostomy.

An externally drained pancreatic duct catheter was initially used to protect the pancreatic–enteric anastomosis of segmental grafts and to monitor, early, the exocrine function of the graft (i.e., amylase content and juice cytology). A 6-French or 4-French catheter was inserted into the pancreatic duct and brought out through the recipient jejunum and abdominal wall; the catheter was removed 3–4 weeks posttransplant. But, the pancreatic duct catheter has also caused morbidity of its own, in particular graft pancreatitis.

With the reintroduction of enteric-drained whole-organ pancreaticoduodenal transplants by Starzl et al., according to the technique originally described by Lillehei [42], and with further improvements in immunosuppressive therapy and antimicrobial prophylaxis, the Stockholm group subsequently simplified the technique of enteric drainage again. First, they omitted the Roux-en-Y loop in favor of a direct side-to-side anastomosis; later, they also omitted the pancreatic duct catheter [43]. These changes did not result in an increased technical penalty.

Enteric drainage, the most physiologic technique to divert exocrine pancreatic enzymes even without the creation of a Roux-en-Y limb, is now established as the standard procedure [44–54].

At least three studies have prospectively compared bladder vs. enteric drainage [46–48]. In all three studies, patient and graft survival were not different for enteric vs. bladder drainage. However, in all retrospective and prospective studies, the incidence of metabolic and urologic complications was significantly higher for bladder-drained grafts and was associated with a significantly higher number of hospital readmissions, thereby raising issues of cost and quality of life. Moreover, the conversion rate from bladder to enteric drainage is high; enteric drainage avoids reoperation [20, 29, 44–54].

One question remains: is there still an indication of bladder drainage? There is, but for different reasons. First, bladder drainage may still be indicated in patients with a high rejection risk: those with high PRA levels or undergoing retransplants, particularly in the solitary recipient categories (PAK and PTA). But, even these patients, once pancreas graft function is stable, tend to undergo conversion to the much more physiologic enteric drainage due to improved monitoring for rejection and more efficient immunosuppression [55]. Second, bladder drainage may be considered intraoperatively if after reperfusion the pancreaticoduodenal graft looks suboptimal and potential duodenal complications are of concern. In such cases, intended enteric drainage may be abandoned in favor of bladder drainage [56, 57]. It is quite evident that bladder drainage has turned into a niche technique for rare conditions and considerations.

A detailed analysis of outcome data for enteric vs. bladder drainage is provided in Chaps. 66 and 73.

#### Systemic Versus Portal Vein Drainage

Since the original descriptions (by Kelly et al. [1] and Lillehei et al. [3]) of the vascular technique, most pancreas grafts have been placed heterotopically in the pelvis, with vascular anastomoses to the recipient iliac artery and vein. It was recognized early that venous outflow of the pancreas graft into the systemic circulation, bypassing the liver, was less physiologic than venous outflow into the portal circulation. Yet, initially, portal vein drainage was not pursued because of the increased risk of technical complications. In theory, venous drainage of a low-flow organ (such as the pancreas graft) into the recipient's high-flow systemic circulation provides less risk for graft thrombosis, as compared with venous drainage of a low-flow organ into the recipient's lowflow portomesenteric circulation. Other reasons that prevented portal vein drainage from gaining more widespread application in the past included (1) the midabdominal position of the pancreas graft, (2) the need for an enteric anastomosis, with its historically higher incidence of leaks and of more severe intra-abdominal infections, and (3) the knowledge that portal drainage was not a fundamental requirement for euglycemia (in fact, euglycemia had been demonstrated in some of the first recipients with systemic drainage and long-term graft function). Over time, most of these early paradigms have changed.

In 1984, Calne et al. were the first to report venous outflow (of an intraperitoneally placed segmental graft) into the recipient splenic vein, draining the exocrine pancreatic secretions via a ductogastrostomy [58]. Gil-Vernet et al. drained a retroperitoneally placed segmental graft into the recipient splenic vein and performed a ductouterostomy for exocrine pancreatic drainage [59]. Subsequently, two other tributaries of the portal vein system were accessed for enteric-drained segmental grafts: the superior mesenteric vein [60] and the inferior mesenteric vein [61]. The latter

In 1989, Mühlbacher et al. were the first to use portal drainage in whole-organ pancreaticoduodenal transplants. They used a unique technique: The backside of the pancreas was flipped to the front, and the distal end of the donor splenic vein (extended by an 8-cm donor external iliac vein graft) was anastomosed to the recipient portal vein (end-toside anastomosis in the hepaticoduodenal ligament); the graft duodenum was anastomosed to the bladder [62, 63]. In contrast to segmental transplants, such whole-organ transplants with portal vein drainage reportedly resulted in normal insulin secretion, glucose tolerance, and hepatic insulin extraction [63]. In 1992, Rosenlof et al. described the use of portal drainage in three recipients of enteric-drained wholeorgan pancreaticoduodenal grafts [64]. After Gaber et al. presented a large series of pancreaticoduodenal transplants using portal vein and enteric exocrine drainage, an increasing number of transplant centers adopted that technique as their routine for venous drainage [20]. While Rosenlof et al. had used the recipient splenic vein, Gaber et al. used the superior mesenteric vein or one of its tributaries for venous drainage [20]. If the donor superior mesenteric vein-and not the distal splenicvein [62, 64]—is used for anastomosis, enteric drainage is used to divert exocrine pancreatic secretions.

study stated that if the  $\beta$ -cell mass is reduced below a critical

level (e.g., because of rejection), portal drainage might pro-

vide an advantage over systemic drainage [46].

According to US IPTR/UNOS data, the overall rate of portal vein drainage in enteric drained transplants decreased from 29% in 1995 to 10% in 2019 (see Chap. 66) [8].

A plethora of literature exists that demonstrates the metabolic advantage of portal vs. systemic drainage—more so in theory though due to the lack of serious clinical consequences with the use of systemic drainage. By bypassing the liver, systemic drainage causes peripheral hyperinsulinemia and portal hypoinsulinemia [65].

Peripheral hyperinsulinemia has been associated with the development of atherosclerosis, both directly (through stimulation of vascular smooth muscle growth [66–68]) and indirectly (through development and progression of dyslipidemia and hypertension [20, 69–73]). It has also been linked to increased concentrations of plasminogen activator inhibitor type 1 (PAI-1), which predisposes vessels to the formation of

lipid-laden rather than cell-rich plaques, rendering them particularly prone to rupture (and increasing the risk of the acute coronary syndrome) [72]. In addition, peripheral hyperinsulinemia has been associated with insulin resistance as a result of elevated basal hepatic glucose production, reduced postprandial peripheral glucose disposal, reduced insulinstimulated glucose storage, resistance to the antilipolytic action of insulin, and immunosuppressive therapy [74–76]. Hyperinsulinemia also downregulates insulin receptors and postreceptor pathways in the muscle and adipose tissues, thus causing insulin resistance [77]. Clinically, peripheral hyperinsulinemia has been associated with hypertension, cardiovascular disease, weight gain, and, in women, polycystic ovary syndrome [78–81].

The second effect of systemic drainage, portal hypoinsulinemia, may cause lipid abnormalities because of the liver's role in the metabolism of lipoproteins. Hughes et al. retrospectively compared the lipoprotein composition after systemic (n = 20) vs. portal (n = 11) vein drainage: The group with portal vein drainage had substantial reductions in the low-density lipoprotein (LDL) apoB and intermediatedensity lipoprotein (IDL) apoB subfractions [77]. In contrast, the group with systemic vein drainage had significant increases. Abnormalities of apoB-containing lipid proteins are believed to promote the development and progression of atherosclerosis. Further, in the group with portal vein drainage, the IDL triglyceride, cholesterol ester, phospholipid, and free cholesterol levels fell significantly at 1 year, as did the VLDL and LDL-free cholesterol to phospholipid ratios. In contrast, the group with systemic vein drainage had substantial increases in these parameters. Hughes et al. concluded that portal vein drainage leads to greater improvements in lipoprotein composition, lowering the risk of coronary vascular disease; in contrast, systemic vein drainage leads to a higher atherogenic potential [77]. Bagdade et al., in another retrospective study, noted that cholesteryl ester transfer (CET) levels were significantly higher for patients with systemic (vs. portal) vein drainage [82]. Increased CET levels (in the basal state) promote atherogenesis and have been associated with accelerated development of cardiovascular disease [82, 83].

In a retrospective study, Gaber et al. reported that hyperinsulinemia was evident in both fasting and stimulated tests for pancreas recipients with systemic vein drainage (n = 28), with values consistently two- to fivefold higher than with portal vein drainage (n = 19) [20]. In contrast, the Lyon group, in a randomized prospective study of systemic (n = 14) vs. portal (n = 16) vein drainage in recipients with enteric drainage, did not find significant differences in fasting insulin, C-peptide, cholesterol, or triglyceride levels [84]. Several centers have reported that glycosylated hemoglobin levels and fasting and stimulated glucose levels are not different between the two groups [20, 53, 84]. Havrdova et al. did not find any significant differences in fasting glycemia, HbA1c, homeostasis model assessment of insulin resistance (HOMA-I), standard IVGTT with coefficient of glucose assimilation (KG) calculation, parameters of C-peptide level, fasting insulin level, and response during IVGTT. Homeostasis model assessment of B-cell function (HOMA-B) and AUC of insulin level were higher in the group with systemic drainage [85]. These results were also echoed in a study by Alonso et al. [86]. Frystyk et al. showed that portal drainage raises insulin-like growth factor-I (IGF-I) and lowers glucose regulatory hormones (GH) secretion. They postulated that these changes might explain why glucose regulation is maintained despite lower peripheral insulin levels, compared with patients with systemic graft drainage and nondiabetic control subjects [87].

A study by Petruzzo et al. showed that systemic (n = 20) vs. portal (n = 24) drainage resulted in normal glucose tolerance. The area under the insulin curve was higher in the group with systemic drainage. Cholesterol, low-density lipoprotein-cholesterol, and triglycerides were higher in the group with portal drainage [88]. Another study by Petruzzo et al. showed that neither hepatic nor peripheral insulin resistance was detected in the systemic (n = 11) vs. portal drained (n = 12) groups. In the systemic drained group, only a lower insulin clearance was noted as well as slight decreased peripheral responsiveness to insulin without modifications of lipid status [89].

Bypassing the liver, where about 50% of the insulin is degraded during the first pass, does not significantly impair carbohydrate metabolism in patients with systemic vein drainage [20, 90]. In fact, carbohydrate metabolism in SPK recipients with bladder drainage is similar to that in nondiabetic solitary kidney recipients on the same immunosuppressive therapy [91]. Insulin may contribute to the development of hypertension by stimulating the sympathetic nervous system, promoting renal sodium retention, and stimulating the proliferation of arterial smooth muscle cells [20, 69]. Yet, the clinical consequences of peripheral hyperinsulinemia in pancreas recipients with systemic drainage have hardly been remarkable: Hricik et al. reported that hypertension at 1 year after systemic vein (and bladder) drainage was significantly less common and less severe in SPK recipients, as compared with solitary kidney recipients [92]. Fiorina et al. noted a significantly decreased intima-media thickness of the carotid artery posttransplant in SPK recipients, as compared with solitary kidney recipients [93].

Finally, in a systematic review and meta-analysis of the literature from 1989 through 2014 using PubMed, CINHAL, and Cochrane Library for portal versus systemic venous drainage, Oliver et al. noted significantly lower fasting insulin levels in the portal-drained group, but no differences in fasting blood glucose, hemoglobin A1C and cholesterol levels; other measures of lipids showed no difference as well.

They concluded that there is no significant difference in metabolic outcome in portal vs. systemic venous drainage [94].

In the late 1990s, discussion centered around the question whether portal vein drainage has beneficial effects on pancreas graft acceptance. Already 30 years earlier, it was postulated that antigen delivery via the portal vein favorably alters antigen presentation, with subsequent induction of immunologic hyporeactivity or even tolerance [95]. Subsequently, this finding was confirmed in several different transplant models-including intestinal transplants with concurrent donor cell augmentation via the portal vein [96-99]. Nymann et al., in a retrospective study, reported a higher incidence of rejection episodes for pancreas recipients with systemic vein (and bladder) drainage vs. portal vein (and enteric) drainage. The rate of pancreas graft loss from rejection was three times higher for recipients with systemic (20%) vs. portal (6%) vein drainage [100]. Similarly, Philosophe et al. in a retrospective study of 193 recipients with portal vein (and enteric) drainage vs. 133 recipients with systemic vein (and bladder) drainage, showed a significantly lower incidence of graft rejection episodes in those with portal vein (and enteric) drainage [101]. Both Nymann et al. and Philosophe et al. concluded that an immunologic advantage exists in favor of portal vein drainage. But, in two prospective studies of systemic vs. portal vein drainage in SPK recipients with enteric drainage, no differences in the incidence of rejection were found, thereby disputing an immunologic advantage in favor of portal vein drainage [102, 103]. Subsequent studies including IPTR analyses confirmed that there was no immunological advantage associated with portal vein drainage [86, 104–108].

Of note, Cattral et al. [109], disputing the perception that portal vein drainage might be more difficult to perform, did not notice any difference in mean surgical time and blood transfusion requirements for systemic vs. portal vein drainage. Furthermore, when portal vein and enteric exocrine drainage were combined, Bruce et al. [110] noted a short first-year hospitalization and a low relaparotomy rate.

In summary, portal vein drainage creates a more physiologic state of insulin metabolism. Peripheral hyperinsulinemia has been associated with atherosclerosis and portal hypoinsulinemia with lipoprotein abnormalities. Yet, no convincing evidence exists today that systemic vein drainage places pancreas recipients at a disadvantage by increasing their risk of vascular disease. Comparable metabolic control and graft outcome is achieved with portal vein and systemic vein drainage. As with enteric and bladder drainage, portal and systemic vein drainage should not be considered competing, but rather complementary, techniques. Obesity, thickened mesentery, and small mesenteric veins favor systemic vein drainage, whereas previous pelvic transplants or operations, severe iliac atherosclerosis, and short arterial grafts favor portal vein drainage [102]. Therefore, an individualized approach seems desirable.

#### Whole-Organ Versus Segmental Transplants

Whole-organ pancreaticoduodenal transplants in the late 1960s and early 1970s gave way to predominantly segmental transplants in the late 1970s and early 1980s. This change occurred because of greater technical ease in procuring, implanting, and managing complications of segmental grafts. With improvement in preservation solutions, surgical techniques, immunosuppression, and antimicrobial prophylaxis, the focus returned to whole-organ transplants in the late 1980s and 1990s. This change also occurred because of the greater islet mass: the greater functional reserve of whole-organ grafts makes rejection treatment more successful than for segmental grafts.

With a living donor, a segmental pancreas transplant remains the only option. The excellent long-term results (see Chaps. 38, 66, and 73) of technically successful segmental transplants from living (vs. deceased) donors are due to better HLA matching, a lower rejection rate, and shorter preservation time (resulting in little reduction in  $\beta$ -cell mass).

In a retrospective study by the Lyon group [111], segmental transplants (with duct injection) were compared with whole-organ transplants (with either bladder or enteric drainage). In terms of graft survival and metabolic control, better results were obtained with whole-organ transplants. With segmental grafts, glucose levels were significantly higher during the first year posttransplant. Because abnormalities in glucose metabolism further increased over time, the Lyon group postulated that the difference between segmental and whole-organ recipients was due to the smaller islet mass of segmental grafts. Thus, segmental transplants are technically simpler, but metabolic control is less satisfactory. Similarly, the Milan group reported that segmental recipients had a higher incidence of impaired glucose tolerance after oral glucose tolerance tests (OGTTs) and a less favorable lipoprotein profile [112, 113]. According to IPTR data, the use of segmental grafts has significantly declined over the last years, from 10% in 1966 to 1987, to 1% from 1988 to 1999, and to <1% between 2000 and 2015; segmental transplants were not performed in the United States after 2015 [8].

# Intraperitoneal Versus Extraperitoneal Placement

The vast majority of pancreas grafts are placed intraabdominally through a midline incision. This preserves all possible surgical options for transplantation and causes fewer wound infections; it also permits internal absorption of peripancreatic secretions and lymphatic leaks. Few centers have used lower flank incisions in which the pancreas and kidney are placed extraperitoneal (with a slight retroperitoneal component). With the introduction of portal-enteric and donor duodenum to recipient duodenum drainage, retrocolic and retroperitoneal graft positioning through a transperitoneal approach has been instituted (see Chap. 31).

Extraperitoneal placement was initially advocated for segmental pancreas transplants using a J-shaped iliac (hockey-stick) incision, similar to the standard incision for solitary kidney transplants [114]. Although good exposure to the external iliac vessels was obtained, perigraft and wound infections were frequent. To reduce the technical complication rate, combined intra- and extraperitoneal graft placement was tried. Using the same J-shaped iliac incision, a 4-cm peritoneal incision was made after graft revascularization. The omentum was pulled through the peritoneal window and wrapped around the pancreas to facilitate the absorption of a potential leak [115]. This technique was eventually abandoned in favor of intra-abdominal graft placement.

In the 1990s, several groups advocated extraperitoneal (with partially retroperitoneal) placement of whole pancreaticoduodenal grafts. Three types of incisions were used: bilateral flank, lower abdominal transverse, and midabdominal transverse incisions. Barone et al., in a retrospective study, found that the transverse lower abdominal incision was associated with less pain, shorter duration of posttransplant ileus, fewer pulmonary complications posttransplant, and a low incidence of wound infections (12%) and hernias (6%) [116]. In a retrospective study by Barrou et al. of 22 SPK recipients, the overall results for a bilateral extraperitoneal approach were not different than for the intraperitoneal approach [117]. But, others have reported a wound complication rate three to ten times higher with the bilateral flank incision, as compared with the standard midline incision [118, 119].

Boggi et al. introduced retrocolic or retroperitoneal pancreas transplant placement with portal-enteric drainage in the early 2000s [120–122]. Through a midline intraperitoneal approach the right colon is fully mobilized to allow retroperitoneal access to the superior mesenteric vein (SMV) and the right common iliac artery. The donor portal vein is anastomosed to the recipient SMV, and the donor Y-graft is to the recipient's common iliac artery. The graft duodenum was originally anastomosed side-to-side to a diverting Rouxen-Y loop. Subsequently, a direct side-to-side without a Roux limb to the recipient jejunum, duodenum, or stomach was described [21, 120–127]. In their first series, Boggi et al. reported low morbidity and mortality rates. After donor duodenum to recipient duodenum drainage was introduced, retrocolic/retroperitoneal placement became more popular [120–127]. Complication and outcome data of retrocolic placement is detailed in Chaps. 31 and 66 [120–127].

For SPK recipients, Kuo et al. proposed extraperitoneal placement of the kidney graft and intraperitoneal placement of the pancreas graft [128, 129]. Their main argument for retroperitoneal placement of the kidney graft was easier access for a future kidney biopsy. But, this technique has not gained popularity because the simultaneously transplanted kidney—when placed intraperitoneally—is usually also anastomosed to the recipient's external iliac artery and vein; thus, it is positioned in the (lower) pelvis, allowing easy access for biopsy. Even if the intraperitoneal kidney graft cannot be biopsied (e.g., because of overlying bowel), the pancreas graft frequently can be. Computed tomography-and ultrasound (US)-guided biopsies of the pancreas graft carry no greater risk than kidney biopsies [13, 15].

Another variant of extraperitoneal placement is the use of a mid-abdominal transverse incision. In a retrospective study, Douzdjian et al. reported no differences in the incidence of wound complications with midabdominal transverse vs. midline incisions, but the rate of deep abscess formation was higher in recipients with midline incisions [130]. They found that a midabdominal transverse incision offers better exposure of the external iliac vessels and the bladder, as compared with a midline incision. However, because most pancreas grafts are anastomosed to the common iliac vessels, a lower transverse abdominal incision has not become popular. In addition, a midabdominal transverse incision and its closure take longer to perform and require transection of both rectus muscles.

In summary, intra-abdominal placement of the pancreas graft is by far the most common. Retrocolic, and in effect, retroperitoneal placement is usually preferred when duodenal/gastric drainage is performed. Extraperitoneal placement is rarely indicated; despite a few positive reports, the extraperitoneal approach—either through a lower-flank incision or a transverse abdominal incision—has not gained popularity and has been abandoned even by those groups that initially favored it.

## Bilateral Versus Ipsilateral Placement of SPK Transplant

In the vast majority of SPK transplants, bilateral placement is preferred: the pancreas graft is placed on the right side and the kidney on the left side. Ipsilateral placement of SPK transplants is not commonly performed and was first performed in portal-enteric drained pancreas transplants, if the left side cannot be used for implantation due to vascular issues [131] or if one side should be "preserved for future retransplantation" [132]. A technique for ipsilateral and separate implantation of the two organs has been described by Fridell et al. [132]. The portal vein and the pancreatic Y-graft are anastomosed to the right common iliac vessels and the pancreatic tail is positioned towards the pelvis. The donor renal vessels are anastomosed to the recipient's external iliac vessels.

The creation of a common arterial conduit has been proposed if implantation of the kidney graft on the left side is "difficult or undesirable" [131]. Using this technique, both grafts are implanted on the right side in ipsilateral fashion. The renal artery is anastomosed end-to-end to the donor internal iliac artery of the Y-graft; the long external iliac artery of the Y-graft; the long external iliac artery and anastomosed to a Carrel patch of the donor SMA. The pancreas graft is anastomosed to the recipient portal vein and the donor renal vein to the recipient right iliac vein [131].

Nghiem described a technique of ipsilateral placement using the right iliac artery as a single inflow vessel to both organs [133].

It has been shown that for portal-enteric drained SPK transplants ipsilateral placement of the pancreas and kidney grafts on the right side is safe and does not compromise recipient or graft survival. Ipsilateral placement is yet another technical variation that can successfully be used in pancreas transplantation.

Ipsilateral dual graft placement has also been used for systemic venous and enteric drained pancreas transplants (see Chap. 88). The Tianjin pancreas transplant group has described a technique in which a long donor iliac Y-graft (internal iliac artery-to-renal artery and external iliac arteryto-Carrel patch [encompassing the celiac and superior mesenteric arteries] anastomoses), systemic venous drainage (to the recipient vena cava), and enteric drainage of exocrine secretions were used (Chap. 88, Fig. 88.1).

## Standard Procedures: Systemic Versus Portal Venous Drainage and Enteric Versus Bladder Drainage

## Systemic Vein and Enteric Exocrine Drainage

## Whole-Organ Pancreaticoduodenal Transplants with Systemic Vein and Enteric Exocrine Drainage on the Right Side in Caudad Position

The pancreas is placed intra-abdominally, preferably on the right side of the pelvis, for two reasons: (1) the iliac vessels are more superficial than on the left side and, therefore, dissection is easier on the right side and (2) the natural position of the right iliac vessels (vein lateral to artery) does not require vascular realignment or possible ligation and divi-

sion of the internal iliac artery, although on the left side it might [134].

After induction of general and tracheal anesthesia, the patient is placed in a supine position on the operating table. A central vein line, an arterial line for constant blood pressure monitoring, and a nasogastric suction tube are all placed by the anesthesia team. A Foley catheter for bladder drainage, a sequential compression device, and prophylactic antibiotics are routinely used. Antibiotic coverage is repeated every 4 h intraoperatively. To facilitate bowel exposure and not to fight distended and gas-filled bowel loops, preoperative enemas are given, but usually, no formal bowel preparation is performed. The patient is placed in a slight Trendelenburg position.

The abdomen is entered through a midline incision, extending from a point midway between the xiphoid process and umbilicus down to the pubic bone. The abdomen is explored for any pathologic findings. If the abdominal contents appear normal, the dissection is started by mobilizing the cecum and distal portion of the ascending colon. The dissection is carried out in the avascular plane between the right colon and retroperitoneum, and all attachments are taken down using electrocautery. Doing so creates a comfortable retroperitoneal bed for the body and tail of the pancreaticoduodenal graft. During the dissection of the right colon, the right ureter is identified, isolated, and fully mobilized to a point midway between the iliac vessels and bladder.

The right common, external, and internal iliac arteries are dissected free all the way from the aortic bifurcation to a



**Fig. 29.1** Dissection of the recipient's right iliac vessels. The internal iliac veins are ligated and divided. The iliac artery is medial to the vein. The arteriotomy is proximal to the venotomy. The ureter is looped medial to the artery

level just proximal to the inguinal ligament (Fig. 29.1). Care is taken not to injure any nerve structures at the aortic bifurcation. Most diabetic patients have some degree of iliac atherosclerosis: the circular form is most worrisome, but posterior (and less commonly anterior) plaques >  $180^{\circ}$  can also cause clamp damage and may even result in distal embolization and limb ischemia. Usually, a 3–5 cm long segment of an iliac artery with no or only little (and preferably posterior) atherosclerosis must be identified for safe clamping.

The right common, external, and iliac veins are mobilized next. Major lymphatic vessels and lymph nodes overlying the iliac vessels are ligated; frequently, the gonadal or ovarian vein is also ligated to prevent possible impingement on the venous graft anastomosis. If the pancreas is placed in the caudad position, my recommendation is to ligate, stick tie, and divide all internal iliac (hypogastric) vein branches, on occasion including the first lumbar vein branch for complete mobilization of the vein from the inferior vena cava to just proximal to the inguinal ligament. Although not all pancreas transplant surgeons take the hypogastric veins routinely, I have found that this extensive dissection not only facilitates the venous graft anastomosis technically but also prevents tension on the anastomosis, possible tears in the donor portal vein, and anastomotic disruption. It also decreases the risk of venous thrombosis [135]. Manipulation of the iliac vein system can cause persistent vasospasm and application of topical papaverine may assist to resolve it.

Circumferential dissection of the iliac arteries must be performed with utmost care to not injure the iliac vein system or the inferior vena cava.

Once the dissection in the recipient is complete and the benchwork preparation of the pancreas is finished, intravenous heparin is given. I use 40-60 U/kg for nonuremic and 20-40 U/kg for posturemic recipients of solitary pancreas grafts and for SPK recipients who are not yet dialysis dependent. In uremic, dialysis-dependent SPK recipients, heparin is usually not given or only at a small dose of 20 U/kg. The proximal common iliac artery and vein and the distal external iliac artery and vein are usually clamped with atraumatic vascular clamps (e.g., Fogarty clamps with one soft and one hard insert). The internal iliac artery is separately clamped with a short atraumatic vessel clamp (e.g., Bulldog clamp) (Fig. 29.1). In patients with severe atherosclerotic disease, which is usually more pronounced in the common than in the external iliac artery, a suitable location for clamp placement can sometimes not be identified. Under those circumstances, the following options exist:

- 1. Only the external iliac artery is clamped proximally and distally; the arterial anastomosis is made as high on the external iliac artery as possible.
- 2. The internal (hypogastric) iliac artery is isolated and, after proximal branches are ligated and divided, mobi-

lized all the way into the small pelvis. The internal iliac artery is clamped proximally; it is ligated, stick-tied, and divided distally. Dissection of the internal iliac artery usually provides 4–7 cm in vessel length. If the internal iliac artery also shows severe atherosclerotic disease, an (eversion) endarterectomy can provide adequate arterial inflow to the graft. Use of the hypogastric artery, with subsequent endarterectomy, avoids clamping of severely diseased common or external iliac arteries and thereby eliminates the risk of plaques breaking loose, causing distal occlusion or thrombosis.

3. A small arteriotomy is made at the site of the future arterial anastomosis. Balloon catheters are inserted, blocking both proximal and distal inflow. However, this technique makes the construction of the arterial anastomosis more difficult and usually results in a greater blood loss than with conventional techniques.

Clamping the iliac vessels does not change their natural position: The vein remains lateral and the artery medial. The position of the ureter after clamping is proximal and medial to the arterial anastomosis to avoid any impingement on the venous graft anastomosis. The venotomy is usually made first: four double-armed 6-0 nonabsorbable sutures are placed at the corners and sides of the venotomy. The arteriotomy is usually made in the common iliac artery proximal to the venotomy. Again, four double-armed 6-0 nonabsorbable sutures are placed at the corners and sides of the arteriotomy. Any plaques or intimal flaps are tacked at this time, usually with interrupted double-armed 6-0 or 7-0 nonabsorbable sutures. In case of arterial stenosis, proximal dilatations can be performed at this time. All manipulations on the arteries are made while the pancreas graft is not yet in the operative field, to avoid prolonged ischemia time. The iliac vein and iliac artery are both flushed with heparin until the effluent is clear.

In preparation for engraftment, the donor pancreas is wrapped in a wet, cold laparotomy sponge and brought into the operative field. This is the time to trim the portal vein. The portal vein is usually kept short to avoid kinking. The Y-graft is trimmed to an appropriate length. The end of the Y-graft may be cut in an oblique or "fish-mouth" fashion to enlarge the size of the anastomosis [21].

The venous anastomosis is completed first. The 6-0 nonabsorbable venotomy stitches are taken to their respective points on the donor portal vein; they are tied as the pancreas is lowered into the operative field. The end-to-side venous anastomosis is completed by running the 6-0 nonabsorbable corner sutures continuously from one end to the other and tying them at the corners. In identical fashion, the end-toside arterial anastomosis is completed by running the 6-0 nonabsorbable corner sutures continuously from one end to the other and tying them at the corners. At the beginning of the arterial anastomosis, mannitol (at 0.5 g/kg body weight), a colloid osmotic agent and free radical scavenger, is given to the recipient to minimize reperfusion edema. The amount of crystalloid fluid during the operation should be limited to diminish the risk of pancreatitis. In addition, octreotide (300  $\mu$ g) is given intravenously at this time to also ameliorate the effects of reperfusion graft pancreatitis.

Crossmatched blood should be available before unclamping. Once the vascular anastomoses are complete, all clamps are removed (Fig. 29.2). Alternatively, and to test the integrity of the anastomoses first, spring clamps can be applied to the donor portal vein and donor Y-graft and released once both anastomoses have been proven to be "watertight." This "pre-testing" is helpful since it can be quite difficult to expose and repair anastomotic bleeding from the donor portal vein; once reperfusion occurs, attention can then be solely focused on achieving graft hemostasis [21]. Any bleeding sites are identified and carefully controlled with fine suture ligation techniques. Most bleeding arises from the mesenteric root, splenic hilum, or superior portion of the head of the pancreas. Gradual rewarming may identify additional bleeding sites.

After the graft is revascularized without any tension, torsion, or twist of the inflow and outflow vessels and hemostasis is achieved, a duodenojejunostomy is constructed either by direct anastomosis or by Roux-en-Y loop [136]. Historically, a Roux-en-Y limb was most commonly used to avoid contamination of the abdominal cavity with stool and causing generalized peritonitis in case of an anastomotic leak. The construction of a Roux-en-Y loop was also initially favored because it was believed that it could facilitate graft salvage in the event of graft duodenal complications. With improvements in surgical techniques and superior immunosuppressive protocols, anastomotic leaks are now rare and better controllable. Thus, the vast majority of pancreas transplants with enteric drainage are performed without the creation of a Roux-en-Y loop. However, if the graft duodenum does not appear to be well perfused, construction of a Roux limb is still recommended.

If the duodenum is directly anastomosed, a loop of jejunum is brought down to the level of the graft duodenum to ensure that the mesentery of the jejunum is long enough to reach the graft. In theory, the duodenojejunostomy should be made as proximally as possible (40–80 cm distal to the ligament of Treitz) to establish near-normal physiology and prevent discharge of pancreatic graft exocrine secretions into the distal ileum, which can result in diarrhea. If the jejunal loop reaches down to the graft easily, a side-to-side twolayer duodenojejunostomy is done (Fig. 29.2). Clamps are applied proximally and distally to the anastomotic site on the recipient's small bowel.

The outer posterior layer is constructed first, with interrupted 4-0 non-absorbable sutures. A donor duodenostomy

HILENIC WAR

**Fig. 29.2** Whole-organ transplant with systemic vein and enteric exocrine drainage: side-to-side two-layer duodenojejunostomy. The pancreas with its vascular anastomoses (donor Y-graft to recipient common iliac artery, donor portal vein to recipient common iliac vein) is implanted in the standard fashion on the right side of the pelvis

just opposite from Vater's ampulla and a recipient jejunostomy (or ileostomy) of appropriate length are made. Closed suction drains are selectively used to remove exocrine secretions or bowel mucus from the field. The graft duodenum is cultured for aerobic, anaerobic, and fungal organisms. The inner layer is then constructed in a running fashion with a single 4-0 absorbable suture to achieve thorough hemostasis. Care is taken not to include the papilla of Vater in the suture line. The bowel clamps are removed after the inner layer is completed. The anastomosis is completed with an anterior outer layer with interrupted 4-0 nonabsorbable sutures.

The side-to-side duodenojejunostomy can also be constructed by using a gastrointestinal anastomosis (GIA) stapler or an EEA stapler. If an EEA stapler is used, it is inserted through the open distal stump of the graft duodenum. The rod is punched through the antimesenteric wall, an enterotomy in the recipient bowel is made and pursestringed around the anvil, and the stapler is fired in standard fashion. An EEA stapler anastomosis is reinforced externally with interrupted 4-0 nonabsorbable sutures. The distal stump of the graft duodenum is closed by stapler or handsewn technique. If a GIA stapler is used, the anastomosis is



**Fig. 29.3** Whole-organ transplant with systemicvein and enteric exocrine drainage: end-to-side two-layer duodenojejunostomy using the distal end of the graft duodenum. The anastomosis is located 40–80 cm distal to the ligament of Treitz (inset). The pancreas is implanted in the standard fashion on the right side of the pelvis

reinforced internally with continuous 4-0 absorbable sutures to achieve thorough hemostasis and decrease the risk of anastomotic leaks. Alternatively, an end-to-side anastomosis can be constructed between the distal end of the graft duodenum and the recipient jejunum (Fig. 29.3); this endto-side two-layer anastomosis can be hand-sewn or stapled with a GIA stapler.

If a Roux-en-Y loop is used, the proximal small bowel (40-80 cm distal to the ligament of Treitz) is brought down to the level of the graft duodenum to ensure that the mesentery of the jejunum is long enough to reach the graft. The jejunum is divided at a level that allows construction of a tension-free duodenojejunostomy. The jejunum is divided with a GIA stapler (Fig. 29.4). The stapled distal end of the jejunum is oversewn with 4-0 non-absorbable sutures. A bowel clamp is applied on the Roux limb distal to the anastomotic site. The two-layer side-to-side duodenojejunostomy is constructed in the same fashion as described above: either hand-sewn or stapled (with either a GIA or an EEA stapler) (Fig. 29.5). The bowel clamp is removed after the inner layer is completed. Alternatively, the distal stump of the graft duodenum can be anastomosed end-to-end to the distal end of the Roux-en-Y loop (hand-sewn two-layer anastomosis). The divided proximal end of the recipient jejunum is then anastomosed to a point on the distal bowel about 40 cm distal to the duodenojejunostomy. Doing so ensures an adequate defunctionalized limb for drainage of the exocrine pancre-



**Fig. 29.4** Preparation of the Roux-en-Y loop for enteric exocrine drainage. The recipient jejunum is divided, using a GIA stapler, approximately 40–80 cm distal to the ligament of Treitz at a level that allows the construction of a tension-free duodenojejunostomy

atic secretions. This jejunojejunostomy is a two-layer endto-side or side-to-side anastomosis, either hand-sewn or stapled (with a GIA stapler).

The pancreas graft and all areas of dissection and mobilization are reexamined for bleeding. After complete hemostasis is accomplished, the abdomen is irrigated with 2–4 L of antibiotic solution (e.g., cephalothin sodium, 1 g/L of saline) and 2–4 L of antifungal solution (e.g., amphotericin B, 10 mg/L in sterile water). After all retractors are removed, the body and tail of the pancreas are covered by the cecum and ascending colon. The duodenojejunostomy and the head of the pancreas are covered by the small bowel and omentum. Usually, no drains are left in place.

However, if the pancreas graft reveals signs of hemorrhagic pancreatitis after unclamping, four drains (one for irrigation and three for drainage) are placed: one on top of the graft for irrigation, one lateral and parallel to the iliac vessels, one in the cul-de-sac, and one in the retrocecal position if the pancreas as implanted on the right side [137]. Postoperatively, the pancreas is irrigated for several days until the effluent is as clear as the influx.

The fascia of the midline abdominal incision is closed with #1 interrupted (or running) non-absorbable sutures. The



**Fig. 29.5** Whole-organ transplant with systemic vein and enteric exocrine drainage: Roux-en-Y two-layer side-to-side duodenojejunostomy. The end-to-side jejunojejunostomy is made about 40 cm distal to the duodenojejunostomy. The pancreas is implanted in the standard fashion on the right side of the pelvis

subcutaneous tissue is irrigated with antibiotic and antifungal solutions. The skin is approximated with interrupted sutures or stapled. The Foley catheter remains for 10–20 days after the operation.

Although incidental appendectomies, cholecystectomies, and Meckel diverticulectomies at the time of pancreas transplantation have been performed and even recommended, there is no absolute need to perform any of these procedures unless there is evidence of acute or chronic disease [21, 138, 139].

## Whole-Organ Pancreaticoduodenal Transplants with Systemic Vein and Enteric Exocrine Drainage on the Right Side in Cephalad Position

If the head of the pancreas is placed in a cephalad position, several options for vascular anastomoses exist. The following recipient vessels can be used:

- 1. Both common iliac vessels,
- 2. Vena cava and right common iliac artery, and
- 3. Vena cava and infrarenal aorta.

Most commonly, the first two options are been used; the third option may be an alternative for retransplants or if the common (and external) iliac arteries cannot be used.



**Fig. 29.6** Whole-organ transplant with systemic vein and enteric exocrine drainage (cephalad position). The donor portal vein (with an extension graft) is anastomosed end to side to the recipient's common iliac vein or infrarenal cava. The donor Y-graft is anastomosed to the recipient's common iliac artery. The arterial anastomosis is medial and distal to the venous anastomosis. A two-layer side-to-side duodenojejunostomy is constructed about 40–80 cm distal to the ligament of Treitz (inset)

If the proximal common iliac vessels are used for revascularization, the hypogastric veins are usually not ligated and divided [140]. The graft portal vein is anastomosed end-toside to the common iliac vein or distal infrarenal vena cava. If the graft portal vein is short, an extension graft may be required to create a tension-free anastomosis. The arterial anastomosis to the proximal right common iliac artery is constructed in standard fashion (end-to-side) with 6-0 nonabsorbable sutures in running fashion; the infrarenal aorta (with a very short Y-graft anastomosis) may be used for retransplants or in case of severe atherosclerotic disease of the common iliac arteries on both sides (the right external iliac artery is rarely used in this circumstance as it requires a long arterial conduit for anastomosis). As with the caudad position, the arterial anastomosis is medial (to the venous anastomosis). But, unlike the caudad position, the venous anastomosis is proximal to the arterial anastomosis (Fig. 29.6).

With the cephalad position, the graft duodenum is easily anastomosed to the proximal jejunum (duodenojejunostomy) about 40–80 cm distal to the ligament of Treitz (Fig. 29.6), either side to side or with a Roux-en-Y loop. The intestinal anastomotic technique is the same as described above for the caudad position.

## Whole-Organ Pancreaticoduodenal Transplants with Systemic Vein and Enteric Exocrine Drainage on the Left Side

If a previous kidney transplant was done on the right side (retroperitoneal placement via a hockey-stick incision), the panFig. 29.7 Whole-organ transplant with systemic vein and enteric exocrine drainage: Roux-en-Y two-layer side-to-side duodenojejunostomy. The end-to-side jejunojejunostomy is made about 40 cm distal to the duodenojejunostomy. Implantation variant: the pancreas is engrafted on the left side with donor Carrel patch-to-left common iliac artery and donor portal vein (extension graft)-to-infrarenal vena cava anastomoses



creas is usually engrafted to the left iliac vessels (intraperitoneal placement via a midline incision) in either caudad or cephalad position. For caudad placement, the dissection and mobilization of the common, external, and internal iliac vessels may be done either lateral or medial to the sigmoid colon [134]. The medial position keeps the pancreas totally intraperitoneal. In the lateral position, the sigmoid colon and its mesocolon may impede peritoneal clearance of secretions from cut peripancreatic lymphatic tissues and increase the propensity for pseudocyst formation. An advantage of the lateral position is that only the retroperitoneal attachments of the sigmoid colon need to be taken down, whereas the mesocolon remains intact. If the pancreas graft is placed in the medial position, the dissection has to be carried out through an avascular window between the vascular arcades of the mesocolon. This approach usually provides good exposure to the common iliac vessels.

In contrast to the right side, the common left iliac vein is medial to the artery, and the internal iliac (hypogastric) artery may tether it down. To create a tension-free venous anastomosis and reduce the risk of thrombosis, the surgeon may elect to ligate and divide the internal iliac artery; doing so usually results in good mobilization of the common iliac vein. If the internal iliac artery on the right side, however, was used for the previous kidney transplant, the left internal iliac artery should be preserved. Under these circumstances, and if the donor portal vein is short, a portal vein extension graft of donor common iliac vein may be needed to create a tension-free venous anastomosis. If the left common iliac artery shows severe athero-



**Fig. 29.8** Whole-organ transplant with systemic venous and enteric exocrine drainage (side-to-side duodenojejunostomy without Roux limb). Implantation variant: the pancreas is engrafted on the left side with donor Carrel patch-to-left common iliac artery and donor portal vein (extension graft)-to-infrarenal vena cava anastomoses

sclerotic disease except for a short proximal segment, the infrarenal vena cava can be used for portal vein anastomosis (Figs. 29.7 and 29.8). The technique for vascular engraftment

of the pancreas on the left side does not differ from the technique on the right side. Likewise, the technique of the duodenojejunostomy with or without the construction of a Roux limb is identical to the technique on the right side.

For the rare cephalad placement on the left side, the proximal common iliac vessels can be used or the infrarenal cava and the left common iliac artery. Usually, graft position medial to the sigmoid colon is preferred. The enteric anastomosis is the same as described on the right side.

## SPK Transplants with Systemic Vein and Enteric Exocrine Drainage

If a kidney is transplanted simultaneously with the pancreas, the kidney is usually placed intra-abdominally on the left side of the pelvis.

For the kidney transplant, the recipient left external iliac vessels are preferred for vascular anastomoses; mobilization of the common iliac vessels is not required. Only on the rare occasion that the external iliac artery is completely calcified should the common or internal iliac artery be considered for an arterial anastomosis. The dissection of the left external iliac vessels is carried out lateral to the sigmoid colon, which is retracted medially during kidney engraftment. The left donor kidney is preferred because of its longer renal vein (vs. the right kidney), thus facilitating tension-free venous anastomosis. However, if the left kidney has multiple arteries (vs. a single artery on the right kidney), the surgeon may elect to use the right kidney and accept a shorter renal vein, which can usually be lengthened by using the attached donor vena cava as a conduit.

If the renal pedicle is long, I recommend prophylactic nephropexy to the anterolateral abdominal wall. Renal pedicle torsion after SPK transplants has been reported if the renal pedicle is  $\geq 5$  cm long and if there is a  $\geq 2$  cm discrepancy between the length of the renal artery and renal vein [141]. The paucity of adhesions secondary to steroid administration may further contribute to the development of renal pedicle torsion [142]. Nephropexy involves placing two to four non-absorbable sutures between the attached perirenal fatty tissue (or the renal capsule) and the anterolateral abdominal wall.

An alternative is to "retroperitonealize" the intraabdominally placed kidney by anchoring the sigmoid colon mesentery to the lateral peritoneal reflection, using interrupted sutures [128, 129]. It has also been recommended to place the kidney completely extraperitoneally [128, 129]. The disadvantage is that a second incision is required. A modification of retroperitoneal placement of the kidney without a second incision was described by the University of Maryland group: After the midline incision is made, a retroperitoneal plane is developed to the (left) iliac vessels; the kidney is anastomosed in standard fashion and then remains in situ within this retroperitoneal pocket.

The optimal order of revascularization for pancreas and kidney grafts in SPK transplants has not been established but preservation time should be the determining factor:

- If the preservation time is short (<12 h) the kidney can be implanted first to (1) diminish the risk of delayed kidney graft function, with the potential need for posttransplant dialysis, and (2) limit the amount of manipulation of the pancreas by placing retractors to obtain exposure for subsequent kidney graft implantation. The renal artery and renal vein are anastomosed end-to-side to the external iliac artery and external iliac vein, using the same technique as described for the pancreas graft anastomoses. If the preservation time is <12 h, the ureterocystostomy can be done before the pancreaticoduodenal graft is implanted.
- 2. If the preservation time is between 12 and 18 h, the kidney can still be implanted first. However, after completion of the renal vascular anastomoses, I recommend implanting the pancreas (vascular anastomoses and duodenojejunostomy) to diminish ischemia and reperfusion injury. The ureteroneocystostomy is performed after the pancreas is implanted first in light of a >12-h preservation time.
- 3. If the preservation time is long (>18 h) the pancreas should definitively be implanted first to decrease the risk of ischemia and reperfusion injury to the pancreas graft as well as to diminish the risks of graft pancreatitis and graft thrombosis.
- 4. If the pancreas graft is implanted first, it is important to avoid excessive traction on the pancreas graft when the kidney is implanted. Exposing the tail of the pancreas graft during this time to check perfusion can be very helpful [21].

An SRTR analysis of 12,700 SPKs investigated the influence of graft implantation order on graft survival [143]. The proportion of lost pancreas grafts at 3 months was significantly lower when the pancreas was implanted before the kidney (9.4% vs. 10.8%, P = 0.011). Increasing time lag (>2 h) between kidney and pancreas graft implantation when the kidney was implanted first—accentuated the detrimental impact on pancreas graft survival (12.5% graft loss at 3 months, P = 0.001). Technical failure rates were reduced when the pancreas was implanted first (5.6% vs. 6.9%, P = 0.005). In contrast, graft implantation order had no impact on kidney graft survival.

To put this study in context with the preservation time as discussed above, it appears that—although observed differences are small—pancreas graft implantation first increases short-term pancreas graft survival and reduces rates of technical failure [143].

R. W.G. Gruessner





**Fig. 29.9** Standard extravesical ureteroneocystostomy according to Lich. The seromuscular layer of the anterolateral surface of the bladder is incised for a length of 3-4 cm. The bulging urothelial layer is opened for only 0.5–1 cm at the distal end of the incision; the spatulated ureter is anastomosed using 5-0 or 6-0 absorbable sutures in running fashion. The muscle layer is closed over the ureter, thereby creating a submucosal tunnel

**Fig. 29.10** Modified single-stitch extravesical ureteroneocystostomy. The seromuscular layer of the anterolateral surface of the bladder is incised for a length of 3–4 cm. The urothelial layer is separated from overlying muscle for 3–4 mm on each side of the incision. The bulging urothelial layer is opened for 0.5–1 cm at the distal end of the incision. A double-armed 3-0 nonabsorbable suture is passed from the outside (opposite the apex of the spatulation) into the ureter and brought through the ureteral tip. Both needles are then passed through the bladder, emerging 2–3 cm distal from the incision. The suture is tied, pulling the ureter into the bladder lumen, occluding the urothelial layer defect, and everting the tip. The seromuscular layer of the bladder is then closed over the ureter using 5-0 absorbable sutures, thereby creating a submucosal ureteral tunnel

The ureteroneocystostomy may be done by using an extravesical or anterolateral approach (standard Lich or modified one-stitch Lich technique) (Figs. 29.9 and 29.10)— or a transvesical or posterolateral approach (Politano–Leadbetter technique) (Fig. 29.11) [144–147]. The common

goal of all techniques is the construction of a 2- to 3-cm submucosal tunnel to prevent reflux of urine up the ureter.

Ipsilateral placement of the SPK graft has been reported by Fridell et al. "to preserve the left iliac system side for future retransplantation" (Fig. 29.12). The donor

**Fig. 29.11** Transvesical ureteroneocystostomy according to Politano–Lead better. The posterolateral bladder wall is transversely incised, a submucosal tunnel is created for about 2 cm, and, after a right-angle clamp is punched through the bladder, the ureter is drawn through the tunnel. The cut end of the ureter is incised (0.5 cm) and approximated with 5-0 absorbable sutures to the urothelial layer



**Fig. 29.12** Ipsilateral SPK placement. Donor Y-graft and portal vein are anastomosed to the recipient's right common iliac artery and vein. The head of the pancreas graft is directed cephalad. The donor renal artery and vein are anastomosed to the recipient's right external iliac artery and vein (reprinted with permission from Fridell et al. [132])

Y-graft and portal vein are anastomosed to the recipient's common iliac artery and vein. The head of the pancreas graft is directed cephalad. The donor renal artery and vein are anastomosed to the recipient external iliac artery and vein.

## Segmental Pancreas Transplants with Systemic Vein and Enteric Exocrine Drainage

Segmental grafts are obtained from living donors, from splitpancreas deceased donors, or from deceased donors whenever the whole organ cannot be removed [134, 136].

The anatomy of the splenic artery itself and its blood supply to the tail of the pancreas is quite complex (see Chap. 16). It can be subdivided into three pancreatic segments: suprapancreatic (above the superior margin of the pancreas), retropancreatic (posterior to the superior margin of the pancreatic tail), and prepancreatic (anterior to the tail). The splenic artery gives rise to several intrapancreatic (parenchymal) branches: (1) The dorsal pancreatic artery (DPA)



**Fig. 29.13** Segmental transplant with systemic vein and enteric exocrine drainage in caudad position. The donor splenic artery and vein are anastomosed end to side to the recipient's external iliac artery and vein. The splenic artery anastomosis is lateral and proximal to the splenic vein anastomosis. The two-layer ductojejunostomy to a Roux-en-Y loop consists of an outer interrupted layer and an inner duct-to-mucosa anastomosis over a stent. The end-to-side jejunojejunostomy is made about 40 cm distal to the ductojejunostomy. The ureter of the simultaneously transplanted kidney is implanted into the bladder using the extravesical ureteroneocystostomy (Lich) technique

derives close (1-2 cm) to the origin of the splenic artery from the celiac trunk; the DPA passes downwards, dorsal to the neck/body and divides into right and left branches (the right branch supplies part of the head of the pancreas and connects with the pancreaticoduodenal arcades; the left branch becomes the transverse [or inferior] pancreatic artery, runs along the inferior pancreatic border and connects with other intrapancreatic vessels off the splenic artery); (2) the great pancreatic artery ("pancreatic magna"), the largest of two to ten pancreatic branches all of which originate distally of the DPA origin from the splenic artery; it also supplies the pancreatic duct in the tail; (3) the caudal pancreatic artery which usually originates from the inferior branch of the splenic artery in the hilum of the spleen; it runs inferiorly and back into the pancreas and connects with the transverse pancreatic artery; in contrast to deceased donor recoveries, it is rarely preserved in pancreas procurements from living donors.

Most segmental grafts comprise the body and tail of the pancreas, but on rare occasions, only the head of the pancreas (with the duodenum from a deceased donor) has also been engrafted. As with whole organ transplants, the right side is the preferred location.



**Fig. 29.15** Segmental transplant with systemic venous and enteric drainage. Implantation variant: the donor splenic artery is anastomosed end-to-end to the recipient's right internal iliac artery and the donor splenic vein end-to-side to the recipient's right external iliac artery

If the distal pancreas is transplanted, the splenic artery and splenic vein are anastomosed to the recipient's external iliac vessels (Figs. 29.13, 29.14, 29.15, and 29.16). The dissection of the recipient iliac vessels is as extensive as with a whole-organ transplant because of the importance of a tension-free venous anastomosis. In contrast to a whole-organ transplant, the external iliac vein is positioned medial to the external iliac artery; doing so reflects the natural position of the splenic

**Fig. 29.16** Segmental transplant with systemic venous and enteric drainage in cephalad position. Implantation variant on the left side: the donor Carrel patch with the splenic artery is anastomosed end-to-side to the recipient's common iliac artery and the donor splenic vein with a donor portal vein cuff is anastomosed end-to-side to the recipient's left common iliac artery

artery and vein. If the iliac vein is completely mobilized and freed, a venous extension graft is usually unnecessary. The splenic vein is anastomosed end to side to the external iliac vein with running 6-0 or 7-0 nonabsorbable sutures. The splenic artery is then anastomosed lateral and slightly cephalad to the vein, either end to side to the external iliac artery or (less frequently) end to end to the internal iliac artery.

As with whole-organ pancreaticoduodenal grafts, two different placements of the segmental graft have been described when enteric drainage is used:

- 1. If the segmental graft is placed in a caudad position, the vascular anastomoses are constructed in the same fashion as described (Fig. 29.13).
- 2. If the segmental graft is placed in a cephalad position, the donor splenic artery and vein are anastomosed end-toside to the recipient's common iliac artery and vein. The splenic vein anastomosis is medial and slightly cephalad to the splenic artery anastomosis (Fig. 29.15).

For enteric drainage of segmental grafts, a Roux-en-Y loop is routine [136, 148]. The proximal small bowel is drawn caudad to the level of the cut surface of the pancreas to ensure that the mesentery of the jejunum is long enough to reach the graft. The jejunum is then divided with a GIA stapler. The stapled distal end of the divided jejunum is oversewn with 4-0 non-absorbable sutures. In preparation for the pancreaticojejunostomy, interrupted sutures of 4-0 Prolene are placed on the posterior surface of the pancreas and jejunum to create the posterior outer layer of the anastomosis. A stab wound (0.5-1 cm) is made through all layers of the antimesenteric wall of the jejunum, several centimeters distal to the closed Roux-en-Y loop. The pancreatic duct is then anastomosed to the full thickness of the jejunal wall by invaginating the redundant end of the duct into the jejunal lumen (ductojejunostomy). Interrupted 7-0 or 6-0 absorbable sutures are used. Before the anterior row of the inner layer is completed, a stent is passed through the duct-to-mucosa anastomosis. Once the inner layer is completed, the anterior outer layer between the anterior surface of the pancreas and jejunum is constructed with 4-0 nonabsorbable sutures (Fig. 29.13). The stent is tagged to the anastomosis with one absorbable suture, which passes within several weeks through the distal bowel.

Alternatively, the Roux-en-Y limb is anastomosed to the whole cut surface of the pancreas (*pancreaticojejunostomy*), rather than to the duct itself, with the invagination technique (Fig. 29.14). This two-layer anastomosis is begun with an outer posterior layer with interrupted 4-0 non-absorbable sutures. The jejunum is incised transversely over a length of 3–4 cm. An inner layer between the cut surface of the pancreas and jejunal wall (full thickness) is constructed circumferentially with running absorbable 4-0 sutures. Doing so invaginates the whole cut surface of the distal pancreas into

the Roux limb. An outer posterior layer of interrupted 4-0 non-absorbable sutures completes the anastomosis. A stent temporarily remains in the pancreatic duct, tagged to the anastomosis with an absorbable suture and extending into the jejunal lumen (Fig. 29.14). The stent usually passes with the enteric contents within a few weeks.

Finally, the divided and stapled proximal end of the recipient jejunum is anastomosed to a point on the distal bowel about 40 cm distal to the ducto- or pancreaticojejunostomy. Doing so provides an adequate defunctionalized limb for exocrine drainage of the distal pancreas. This jejunojejunostomy is a hand-sewn or stapled two-layer end-to-side or sideto-side anastomosis.

A number of variants for implantation of a segmental pancreas graft have been described including engraftment on the left side and the use of donor Carrel patches and/or portal vein cuffs (Figs. 29.15 and 29.16).

## Systemic Vein and Bladder Exocrine Drainage

## Whole-Organ Pancreaticoduodenal Transplants with Systemic Vein and Bladder Exocrine Drainage on the Right Side

As mentioned earlier in this chapter, bladder drainage is rarely performed nowadays. Since this niche or fall-back technique is technically unique and challenging, it still warrants a detailed description.

Before graft implantation and after complete dissection of the iliac vessels, the lower abdominal dissection is completed by mobilizing the bladder: the lateral attachments of the bladder are divided, including the round ligament in women. In men, care is taken to preserve the spermatic cord. Dissection of the bladder is limited to its upper third to prevent injury to its neural innervation. Even limited mobilization of the anterior and lateral portions of the bladder usually allows the creation of a tension-free duodenocystostomy.

Pancreas graft implantation on the right side (in the caudad position) is identical to the vascular anastomotic techniques used for enteric drainage on the right side.

After pancreas revascularization, if the distal stump of the graft duodenum is open, a clamp is placed for hemostasis and prevention of any spillage of duodenal contents. If the distal duodenal stump was stapled, the staple line is removed after revascularization and the edges are grasped with Babcock or Allis clamps. The duodenum is irrigated with amphotericin and antibiotic irrigation solutions; a pool-suction tip is used to prevent any spillage. The graft duodenum is cultured for aerobic, anaerobic, and fungal organisms to allow adequate antimicrobial prophylaxis posttransplant.

The duodenocystostomy can be done with either a stapler or a hand-sewn technique [149]; the complication rate is not different [150]. exocrine drainage: the arterial anastomosis (Y-graft) is medial and proximal to the portal vein (without an extension graft) anastomosis. The bladder is opened via an anterior cystotomy and the EEA stapler is inserted through the opened distal end of the graft duodenum. The rod of the stapler is punched through the antimesenteric wall of the duodenum and posterior wall of the bladder; the anvil of the EEA stapler is placed on the stapler rod. The stapler is ready to be fired, creating a circular staple line (duodenocystostomy)

Fig. 29.17 Whole-organ transplant with systemic vein and bladder

In patients without previous pancreas transplants or bladder surgery, the author prefers a side-to-end anastomosis (EEA) with a stapler (Fig. 29.17). Different sizes (21-31 mm) for the curved EEA stapler are used to dilate the duodenum and determine the size of the anastomosis. Usually, a 21- or 25-mm EEA stapler is used. After the anvil is removed, the curved EEA stapler is inserted into the open distal end of the graft duodenum and passed gently toward the proximal duodenum. The rod projecting from within the ring of staples, to which the anvil will later be attached, is punched through the antimesenteric wall of the duodenum with the aid of a cautery at a level just opposite the papilla. If a lateral duodenotomy to flush the duodenum was made at the time of the procurement, then a single 2-0 or 3-0 nonabsorbable purse-string suture is necessary to tighten the duodenal opening around the rod of the EEA stapler. The bladder is opened anteriorly, over a length of 3-5 cm, to create the anastomosis under direct vision. The rod of the EEA stapler is then pushed through the posterior wall of the bladder, several centimeters away from the cystostomy. This distance between the anterior and posterior cystostomy is necessary to avoid inadvertent narrowing of the duodenocystostomy when the anterior cystostomy is closed. The EEA anvil is placed on the stapler rod from within the bladder. The stapler is then tightened by stretching both walls of the duodenum and bladder over the ends of the stapler. The stapler is fired, creating a circular staple line.

On completion of the stapled anastomosis, the stapler is examined for the intactness of both rings. If either of the

abdominally; the pancreas is on the right side of the pelvis. The donor Y-graft is anastomosed to the recipient's common iliac artery and the donor portal vein to the recipient's common iliac vein. Both duodenal stumps are oversewn, as is the anterior cystotomy. The donor renal artery and vein are anastomosed to the recipient's external iliac artery and vein; the ureter is implanted into the bladder using the Politano-Leadbetter technique

rings is not intact, the anastomosis needs to be redone (either with the hand-sewn technique or with a larger stapler). If the defect is small, the disrupted area can be reinforced only.

In general, the stapled duodenocystostomy is reinforced internally with continuous 4-0 absorbable sutures to facilitate hemostasis and decrease the risk of anastomotic leaks. The opened distal duodenal end is shorted to an appropriate length using a single throw of the TA-55 or TA-90 stapler. The staple line is oversewn with continuous 4-0 nonabsorbable sutures and then inverted with interrupted 4-0 nonabsorbable sutures in Lembert fashion (Fig. 29.18). Sometimes, the staple line is not oversewn and only Lembert sutures are placed; the distal duodenal segment is then closed in two or three layers. I have not found a difference in the rate of duodenal stump leaks according to the number of layers.

With the hand-sewn anastomosis, a horizontal posterior cystostomy 2-4 cm long is made. A two-layer anastomosis is created between the bladder and duodenum. The outer posterior layer is constructed first, with interrupted 4-0 nonabsorbable sutures. A horizontal graft duodenotomy of appropriate length is made antimesenterically at the level of the papilla. The inner layer is then constructed in a running fashion (to achieve hemostasis) with 4-0 or 3-0 absorbable sutures. The anastomosis is completed with the anterior outer layer with interrupted 4-0 nonabsorbable sutures. The opened

Fig. 29.18 Whole-organ transplant with systemic vein and bladder exocrine drainage: both the pancreas and kidney are placed intra-

372



distal end of the duodenum is closed, as described above, with the stapler technique.

If only the pancreas is transplanted, the anterior cystostomy is closed in three layers (Fig. 29.18). The Foley catheter is clamped and the bladder is first irrigated and then filled with about 250 cc of antifungal and antibiotic solutions. Distention of the bladder reduces the risk of incorporating the back wall into the suture line. The bladder is closed in three layers: for the innermost layer, a running 4-0 absorbable suture is used to approximate the urothelium, submucosa, and muscularis; for the second, full-thickness layer, a running 3-0 absorbable suture is used; for the outer third, seromuscular layer, a running 3-0 absorbable suture is used and the suture lines are inverted.

The remainder of the operation is identical to the technique for enteric drained transplants as described above.

## Whole-Organ Pancreaticoduodenal Transplants with Systemic Vein and Bladder Exocrine Drainage on the Left Side

Engraftment is similar to the technique for enteric drained transplants with dissection and mobilization of the common, external, and internal iliac vessels either lateral or medial to the sigmoid colon [134]. The medial position keeps the pancreas totally intraperitoneal and avoids interposition of the sigmoid colon between the pancreas graft and bladder. As mentioned above, an advantage of the lateral position is that only the retroperitoneal attachments of the sigmoid colon need to be taken down, whereas the mesocolon remains intact. If the pancreas graft is placed in the medial position, the dissection has to be carried out through an avascular window between the vascular arcades of the mesocolon.

The technique for vascular engraftment of the pancreas on the left side does not differ from the technique on the right side. Likewise, the technique of the duodenocystostomy is identical to the technique on the right side. Care must be taken not to accidentally transect the previously transplanted ureter while mobilizing the bladder. For that reason, the dissection of the lateral attachments of the bladder on the right side should be kept to a minimum. If the ureter of the transplanted kidney is inadvertently transected, a tension-free end-to-end anastomosis over a double-J stent (ends positioned in the renal pelvis and bladder) should be performed. The stent can be removed cystoscopically 3–4 weeks later.

## SPK Transplants with Systemic Vein and Bladder Exocrine Drainage

As already mentioned, the kidney graft is usually placed intra-abdominally on the left side of the pelvis (Fig. 29.18). The technical details are identical to the techniques described above.

If bladder drainage is used and the duodenocystostomy is stapled (creating an anterior cystostomy), any ureteral implantation techniques may be used. If the duodenocystostomy is hand-sewn (without creating an anterior cystostomy), only the standard Lich technique or its one-stitch modification may be used.

## Segmental Pancreas Transplants with Systemic Vein and Bladder Exocrine Drainage

If a segmental graft comprising the body and tail of the pancreas is engrafted, the right side is the preferred location (as with whole organ transplants).

If the distal pancreas is transplanted, the splenic artery and splenic vein are anastomosed to the recipient's external iliac vessels (Fig. 29.19). As described above, the dissection of the recipient iliac vessels is as extensive as with a wholeorgan transplant because of the importance of a tension-free venous anastomosis. In contrast to a whole-organ transplant, the external iliac vein is positioned medial to the external iliac artery; doing so reflects the natural position of the splenic artery and vein. If the iliac vein is completely mobilized and freed, a venous extension graft is usually unnecessary. Upon completion of the vascular anastomoses, the bladder anastomosis is constructed. Given the proximity of the external iliac vessels to the bladder, a tension-free bladder anastomosis can easily be constructed. Two techniques for bladder drainage are used [134, 136]. Ductocystostomy and pancreaticocystostomy.

#### Ductocystostomy

A direct anastomosis is constructed between the pancreatic duct and bladder urothelium. The seromuscular layer of the bladder is transversely incised down to the urothelium (2-3 cm). Interrupted 4-0 non-absorbable sutures are placed seromuscularly through the bladder and on the posterior surface of the pancreas to create the posterior outer layer of the anastomosis, with the knots buried underneath. A small incision is made in the bladder urothelium (0.5-1 cm), and the bladder is opened (Fig. 29.19). The posterior row of the inner anastomosis is done between the pancreatic duct and bladder urothelium with interrupted 7-0 absorbable sutures. Before the anterior layer is completed, a stent is passed through the duct-to-urothelium anastomosis. The anterior layer of the anastomosis is completed with interrupted 7-0 absorbable sutures over the stent. The stent itself is tagged to the anastomosis with one of the interrupted sutures. An anterior outer layer between the seromuscular bladder wall and the anterior surface of the pancreas, with 4-0 non-absorbable sutures, completes the anastomosis (Fig. 29.19). The stent is either spontaneously excreted through the urethra or cystoscopically removed about 4 weeks posttransplant.

A variation of the outer layer has been described in which both an anterior and posterior muscular flap (each 2 cm wide) are created after the bladder is incised but while the urothelium is still intact [151]. This dissection results in a collar of bladder muscular tissue surrounding a broader area of the proximal and middle portion of the segmental graft.



**Fig. 29.19** Segmental transplant with systemic vein and bladder exocrine drainage. The donor splenic artery and splenic vein are anastomosed end-to-side to the recipient's external iliac artery and vein. The splenic artery anastomosis is lateral and proximal to the splenic vein anastomosis. A two-layer ductocystostomy is constructed: the pancreatic duct is approximated to the urothelial layer (inner layer) using interrupted 7-0 absorbable sutures over a stent (inset). The ureter of the simultaneously transplanted kidney is implanted into the bladder using the extravesical ureteroneocystostomy (Lich) technique

#### Pancreaticocystostomy

A two-layer anastomosis using the invagination technique is constructed. A first outer layer is begun with interrupted nonabsorbable 4-0 sutures between the posterior surface of the pancreas and bladder wall. The bladder is then transversely incised, over a length of 3–4 cm, and opened. A second inner layer of running 4-0 absorbable sutures is run around the entire circumference of the pancreas and cystotomy, thus invaginating the cut surface of the pancreas into the bladder. The anterior outer layer is finished with interrupted 4-0 non-absorbable sutures. Stent management is identical to that of duct-to-mucosa anastomosis.

Variants for implantation of a segmental pancreas graft using bladder drainage have been described including endto-end anastomosis between the donor splenic artery to the recipient's internal iliac artery (Fig. 29.20).

## Portal Vein and Enteric Exocrine Drainage [152]

In contrast to systemic venous and enteric or bladder drainage techniques, the portal-enteric drainage procedure is a mid-abdominal rather than a pelvic procedure. There are several (relative) contraindications to portal-enteric drainage: BMI >35 kg/m<sup>2</sup>, sclerosing encapsulating peritonitis, severe adhesions from previous laparotomies, a small recipient



**Fig. 29.20** Segmental transplant with systemic vein and bladder exocrine drainage. Implantation variant on the right side: the donor splenic artery is anastomosed end-to-end to the recipient's internal iliac artery and the donor splenic vein end-to-side to the recipient's external iliac artery and vein. A two-layer ductocystostomy is constructed: the pancreatic duct is approximated to the urothelial layer (inner layer) using interrupted 7-0 absorbable sutures over a stent (inset)

SMV ( $\leq$ 5 mm in diameter), a partially thrombosed or sclerotic SMV, a "deep" SMV embedded in extensive mesenteric fat, and portal hypertension [21].

Systemic vein drainage provides a choice between bladder or enteric diversion of exocrine pancreatic secretions. In contrast, portal vein drainage basically allows enteric diversion only. Except for the rare occasion in which the donor distal splenic vein is anastomosed (via an extension graft) to the recipient portal vein (see above [47, 48]), which places the head of the pancreas in a caudad position in proximity to the bladder, bladder drainage is technically not feasible with portal drainage. When the donor portal vein system is used for anastomosis, the head of the pancreas is in a cephalad position in the mid-abdomen.

For portal-enteric drainage, the donor duodenum and jejunum do not have to be shortened on the back table in order to preserve all options for the enteric anastomosis: small bowel, duodenal or gastric drainage [21].



**Fig. 29.21** Whole-organ transplant with portal vein and enteric exocrine drainage using the intraperitoneal approach. The pancreas graft overlies the root of the small bowel mesentery, with the duodenal segment below the transverse colon. The donor portal vein is anastomosed end-to-side to the recipient's superior mesenteric vein. The donor Y-graft (with an extension graft) is anastomosed to the recipient's common iliac artery through a mesenteric tunnel. A two-layer side-to-side

duodenojejunostomy is constructed about 40–80 cm distal to the ligament of Treitz. In the final position, the jejunal limb usually lies anterior to the donor duodenum. The simultaneously transplanted kidney is anastomosed to the recipient's external iliac artery and vein. The ureter is implanted into the bladder using the extravesical ureteroneocystostomy (Lich) technique

## Whole-Organ Pancreaticoduodenal Transplants with Portal Vein and Enteric Exocrine Drainage

Portal-enteric drainage can be accomplished with an intraperitoneal or retrocolic/retroperitoneal approach. Both techniques are described below. The intraperitoneal approach was described first.

Techniques of portal venous drainage have utilized the recipient portal vein directly [62], the splenic vein [58, 59, 62, 64] and the inferior mesenteric vein [61]. However, the vast majority of pancreas grafts with portal vein drainage are placed so that the donor portal vein connects to the recipient's proximal superior mesenteric vein (SMV) or to the SMV's main feeding vessel (Fig. 29.21). The head of the pancreas graft is directed cephalad and the tail and body caudad.

A small window in an avascular area of the small bowel mesentery is made so that the arterial Y-graft traverses the shortest distance to the arterial inflow (most commonly, the right common iliac artery). However, this distance may be as long as 6 cm; a short Y-graft could make this approach impossible and a "long" Y-graft is required [21].

If a large window is made in the ileal mesentery (preferably in a thin patient), both the venous and arterial anastomoses can be completed on the same side of the mesentery. Of note, the large window must be closed at the end of the procedure to avoid the development of an internal hernia [21].

As with back-table arterial reconstruction of pancreas grafts for systemic vein drainage, the donor internal iliac artery is anastomosed to the splenic artery, and the external iliac is anastomosed to the superior mesenteric artery (SMA). The "V" component of the Y-graft is kept short in case the portal position is not tenable and systemic drainage is necessary. A long "V" component in the iliac reconstruction leads to unnecessary buckling or kinking of the arterial conduit. By trimming the external iliac artery of an appropriately procured Y-graft, a significant remnant of external iliac is left over. During the bench preparation of the pancreas, this remnant of external iliac can be used as a Y-graft extension: It is sutured to the end of the common iliac artery with 6-0 non-absorbable sutures (Fig. 29.21). Alternatively, as discussed later, this remnant of external iliac may be anastomosed end-to-side to the recipient's right common iliac artery before the pancreas is brought to the recipient field, marked anteriorly and brought retrograde through the mesenteric window for an end-to-end anastomosis with the donor Y-graft [21].

Another technique to maximize the Y-graft length is to construct anastomoses between the longer limb of the external iliac artery to the shorter splenic artery and the shorter limb of the internal iliac artery to the longer SMA [21].

Enteric drainage of the graft may be accomplished in several different ways. Gaber et al. popularized portal vein drainage with enteric exocrine drainage by using a defunctionalized Roux-en-Y limb connected in an end-to-end fashion to the distal portion of the donor duodenum [20]. Other techniques of enteric exocrine drainage of portally drained pancreas grafts have also been used. A simplified form of enteric exocrine drainage is the side-to-side anastomosis between the donor duodenum and a proximal loop of the recipient jejunum (Fig. 29.21).

After a midline laparotomy incision is made, the abdomen is explored for any unsuspected pathologic findings. The right common iliac artery is exposed overlying the inferior vena cava, taking care to avoid injuring the right ureter. The vessel is carefully palpated and enough is exposed to make the endto-side anastomosis straightforward. Atherosclerosis is common in diabetic patients, so those with diminished femoral pulses at their transplant evaluation should undergo a preoperative arteriogram or magnetic resonance angiogram (MRA) preoperatively. Significant atherosclerosis may make the right common iliac unusable; if portal vein drainage is still desired, the left common iliac artery or aorta may be more suitable. If proximal arterial disease is severe and if the more distal external iliac arteries are relatively normal, systemic vein drainage should be considered. The external iliac arteries are in general not reachable even with very long Y-grafts when the pancreas is drained portally; however, they are easily accessible if iliac vein drainage is used.

Locating and mobilizing the proximal SMV or its main feeder vein for anastomosis is relatively straightforward. The transverse colon and its mesentery are elevated to expose the anterior root of the small bowel mesentery. Laparotomy pads and a self-retaining retractor system are used to place the transverse colon superiorly. The mesentery of the small bowel is laid flat using a wide malleable retractor from a selfretaining retractor system. With this positioning, the SMV lies in a superficial position. In some slender type 1 diabetics, this vessel can be seen through the serosa of the mesentery. It almost always lies to the right of the palpable SMA. The middle colic vein in the transverse mesocolon or distal branches in the small bowel can be traced to the SMV's origin, but doing so is rarely necessary. Manipulation of the SMV can cause vasospasm and an accurate assessment of its diameter should be made before starting the dissection; application of topical papaverine may assist in cases of persistent vasospasm [21]. The lymphatics overlying the SMV are usually ligated with fine ties. Dissecting the SMV requires a gentle technique: Its branches are small and, if torn, can cause troublesome bleeding. Small branches of the SMV are usually ligated, and larger branches are preserved.

The portal vein is kept short to avoid kinking. The venous anastomosis is completed first. The pancreas is wrapped in a wet, cold laparotomy sponge. Before clamping the SMV, a bolus of 50-70 U/kg of unfractionated heparin is administered in nonuremic patients and allowed to circulate for 3 min. In uremic patients, anticoagulation is individualized but usually does not exceed 30-40 U/kg. Fine vessel loops or a small vascular (spring) clamp is applied to the SMV; it is opened with an 11 blade and Potts scissors. The venotomy, sized to match the donor portal vein, commonly traverses branch points. The pancreas graft is brought to the field wrapped in an iced lap sponge, with the portal vein exposed. The graft is oriented with the donor duodenum facing superiorly toward the mesentery of the transverse colon. The end of the donor portal vein is anastomosed to the side of the SMV with 7-0 non-absorbable sutures. This delicate anastomosis is vulnerable to tearing and so should not be performed under tension. A vein extension graft can be used to decrease tension but is rarely necessary if the donor portal vein length is adequate and if the retractor is properly placed. After this anastomosis is completed, the SMV flow is restored and the graft's portal vein is occluded by using a Gregory or large (spring) Bulldog clamp. Release of the clamp from the SMV restores venous outflow in the native mesenteric circulation, diminishes the risk of bowel edema, and tests the integrity of the anastomosis [21].

Arterial reconstruction requires the creation of a plane for the Y-graft to traverse the mesentery to the right common iliac artery. Typically, a dime-sized defect is made in the mesentery, to the right and slightly inferior to the SMV. The Y-graft is pulled down through the mesenteric defect, taking care to avoid twisting. The end of the Y-graft (or of the arterial extension/jump graft) may be cut in an oblique or "fishmouth" fashion to enlarge the size of the anastomosis [21]. A Gregory clamp is applied to the Y-graft and to a portion of the posterior mesentery to prevent twisting and retraction. The side of the right common iliac artery is then anastomosed to the end of the Y-graft with 6-0 non-absorbable sutures. One variation of this technique is to make a larger mesenteric defect over the right common iliac artery and position retractors so that both the arterial vasculature and SMV are exposed in the same field. Alternatively, the remnant of the donor external iliac artery can be anastomosed to the right common iliac before bringing the pancreas to the field. The external iliac remnant may then be drawn up through the mesenteric defect, allowing both venous and arterial anastomoses to be done in the same field on the top of the small bowel mesentery.

Mannitol (0.5 g/kg body weight) is administered intravenously before the arterial anastomosis is completed. A colloid osmotic agent and free radical scavenger, mannitol is given to the recipient to minimize reperfusion edema. Crossmatched blood should be available before unclamping. The lap sponge is removed from the gland, and the vein is unclamped first. Any gross bleeding is addressed. The arterial inflow is then unclamped. Exposure of bleeding is relatively straightforward for pancreas grafts with SMV drainage that are superficially located, as compared with pancreas grafts with systemic vein drainage that lie deep in the pelvis.

An alternate technique for unclamping that tests the integrity of the anastomoses first involves application of spring clamps to the donor portal vein and donor Y-graft. Hence, both anastomoses are proven to be "watertight" prior to clamp release. This "pre-testing" is helpful since it can be quite difficult to expose and repair anastomotic bleeding from the donor portal vein; once reperfusion occurs, attention can then be solely focused on achieving graft hemostasis [21]. Any bleeding sites are identified and carefully controlled with fine suture ligation techniques. Most bleeding arises from the mesenteric root, splenic hilum, or superior portion of the head of the pancreas. Once hemostasis is achieved, the correct orientation of the vessels is confirmed.

The enteric anastomosis can be constructed into a bowel loop, a Roux-en-Y loop, an omega loop, and the recipient duodenum or stomach [53, 101–103, 120–122, 153–158]. If the graft duodenum is not well perfused, diversion into a Roux-en-Y loop is safest. Most commonly, a suitable portion of jejunum (about 30–50 cm) distal to the ligament of Treitz is used for side-to-side anastomosis (Fig. 29.21). The main advantage of duodenal or gastric drainage is easy to access for endoscopic surveillance and graft biopsy. Although the rate of technical complications and graft loss has significantly decreased over time, many transplant surgeons still appear to be reluctant about these forms of pancreatic exocrine drainage [21].

If a side-to-side anastomosis is performed, the recipient jejunum is brought adjacent to the donor duodenum. In its final position, the donor duodenum sits under the transverse colon and is the most superior portion of the graft. The third or fourth portion of the graft duodenum should be used as anastomotic site in order to take advantage of dependent drainage of the denervated, atonic graft duodenum when the patient is in erect or supine position [21]. The jejunal loop is placed slightly inferior and anterior to the donor duodenum. A two-layer side-to-side duodeno-jejunostomy performed. First, a back row of 3-0 non-absorbable Lembert sutures is placed. Then, the donor duodenum and recipient jejunum are opened for 3–5 cm. A running circumferential 4-0 absorbable transmural suture is used for the inner layer of the bowel

anastomosis; 3-0 non-absorbable Lembert sutures are used for the anterior wall to complete the anastomosis.

Opening of the (contaminated) small bowel requires maneuvers to minimize spillage. Linen-shod clamps are applied to the afferent and efferent jejunal limbs. Lap sponges are placed protectively around the anastomotic area to catch any spillage. The contents of the duodenum are evacuated and decompressed with suction after cultures have been obtained. After the bowel anastomosis is completed, the team's gloves are changed and the contaminated instruments are removed. The graft and anastomotic sites are inspected again for bleeding. The mesenteric defect (which was made to allow passage of the Y-graft) might require partial closure. After the graft is implanted, the abdomen is irrigated with bacitracin, kanamycin, and amphotericin B solutions. Drains are rarely, if ever, used; any "oozing" that suggests the need for a drain prompts a thorough search for surgical bleeding. Once the pancreas is well perfused and the abdomen dry, the abdomen can be closed (or a simultaneous kidney can be placed).

Postoperative care is similar after pancreas transplants with portal vein vs. systemic vein drainage (see Chap. 40).

There are several "disadvantages" associated with portal-enteric drainage using the intraperitoneal approach: the pancreas graft is surrounded by small and large bowel loops which may make it poorly accessible to ultrasoundor CT-guided biopsies. Complications may affect the entire mid-abdomen rather than the pelvis. A long interposition Y-graft may be necessary and there is the potential risk for venous graft torsion (which can be prevented by anchoring the tail of the pancreas to the anterior abdominal wall).

Some of these concerns can be addressed by using the retroperitoneal approach through a midline incision as described by Boggi et al. [120] (Fig. 29.22). This hybrid technique involves a midline intraperitoneal approach followed by access to the SMV through the right retrocolic region [120-122]. This not only allows the SMV to be approached from the lateral retroperitoneal (rather than the anterior) route but also assures good graft fixation in the right paracolic space with positioning of the graft posterior to the right colon. This technique, in contrast to the anterior intraperitoneal approach, improves accessibility for ultrasound/CT imaging and percutaneous biopsy. Because of the graft's retroperitoneal position, the Y-graft does not have to be long. One peritoneal window needs to be created in the right colon mesentery for the duodeno-jejunostomy and to facilitate absorption of potential leaks and perigraft fluid collections. Alternatively, a duodeno-duodenostomy can be constructed [21].

At the time of this writing, portal-enteric pancreas transplants using the retrocolic/retroperitoneal technique are performed by center-specific preference.



**Fig. 29.22** Whole-organ transplant with portal vein and enteric exocrine drainage using the retroperitoneal approach. The pancreas graft is placed retroperitoneally and in right paracolic and cephalad position. The donor Y-graft is anastomosed to the recipients' right common iliac artery and the donor portal vein to the recipient's SMV. A long Roux limb is used to avoid compression of the SMV distally to the venous anastomosis (reprinted with permission from Boggi et al. [120])

## Segmental Pancreas Transplants with Portal Vein and Enteric Exocrine Drainage

The combination of portal vein and enteric exocrine drainage has rarely been used for segmental pancreas transplants. In five patients, Sutherland et al. used the recipient's inferior mesenteric artery and vein for EEAs to the donor splenic artery and vein [61]. In each of these five patients, the inferior mesenteric artery was divided-at a point to preserve the collateral circulation of the colon-from the marginal artery of Drummond. In four patients, the exocrine secretions were managed by anastomosis of the neck of the pancreas to a Roux-en-Y limb to the recipient jejunum; in one patient, the pancreatic duct was injected with neoprene. Tyden et al. reported a technique in which the recipient's superior mesenteric artery and vein were anastomosed end to end to the donor splenic artery and vein. The neck of the pancreas was brought through a window in the transverse colon and anastomosed to the stomach (pancreaticogastrostomy) [60]. The recipient splenic artery and vein have also been used for a paratopically placed segmental graft, and the exocrine pancreatic secretions in this case were also diverted with gastric drainage [58]. Because of the high technical complication

rate, none of these techniques gained widespread application. They are usually recommended only if the iliac arteries are severely atherosclerotic, which makes the anastomosis difficult, in particular when only the short splenic vessels of the segmental graft are available [61].

The only case of a segmental pancreas transplant with portal vein and bladder exocrine drainage was reported by Gil-Vernet et al. in 1985: they drained a retroperitoneally placed segmental graft into the recipient splenic vein and performed a ductouterostomy for exocrine pancreatic drainage [59].

## Other Techniques to Divert Exocrine Pancreatic Secretions

Duodenal and, to a lesser degree, gastric drainage are newer techniques that are currently been used by some programs to divert exocrine pancreatic secretions. Both techniques provide easy access for endoscopic surveillance and biopsy. According to the IPTR, only <3% of all pancreas transplants utilize duodenal or gastric drainage (Chap. 66) [8].

Duct injection which became popular in the 1980s is rarely been used these days and if so, primarily as a rescue option for complicated enteric or bladder-drained pancreas transplants. Ureteral drainage as well as open duct drainage and duct ligation are basically of historical interest only.

#### **Duodenal Drainage**

Duodenal drainage (Fig. 29.23) with its modifications is described in detail in Chaps. 31 and 32 [120, 127, 156, 157, 159, 160]. In brief, duodenal drainage affords direct access to the allograft duodenum and pancreas for biopsy and for surveillance endoscopies including graft ERCP. It also expands the options for exocrine drainage sites, particularly in case of pancreas retransplantation after previous graft placement in the recipient's pelvis or lower abdomen. A disadvantage of duodenal drainage is the management of eventual leaks or graft pancreatectomies: closure of the native duodenum can be very challenging and is associated with morbidity and mortality (see Chap. 90). Duodenal drainage has been performed successfully with both systemic and portal venous drainage. It has reasonably grown in popularity over the past 10 years.

#### **Gastric Drainage**

In the first published case of portal vein drainage, Calne used the stomach for exocrine pancreatic drainage of a paratopically placed segmental graft (*pancreaticogastrostomy*) [58]. Using a transmesocolic approach, Tyden et al. described het-



**Fig. 29.23** Whole-organ transplant with portal venous and duodenal drainage (duodeno-duodenostomy) (reprinted with permission from Perosa et al. [160])

erotopic placement of a segmental graft, with either systemic vein drainage (infrarenal vena cava and right common iliac artery) or portal vein drainage (superior mesenteric vein and artery) [161]. Gastric drainage was initially not widely applied because of the posterior position of the pancreas graft in the mid-abdomen and the potential for severe abdominal complications (e.g., diffuse peritonitis, leakage of gastric secretions).

However, gastric drainage using a novel technique has seen some revival since its re-introduction by Shokouh-Amiri et al. in 2011 (Chap. 30, Fig. 30.1) [158, 162, 163]. Gastric drainage with its modifications is described in detail in Chap. 30. In brief, gastric-exocrine drainage (most commonly combined with portal venous drainage) was developed to facilitate access to the graft duodenum and the pancreas (including the papilla) through the recipient's stomach by upper endoscopy for surveillance and biopsies (Fig. 29.24).

A similar technique of gastric drainage was described by Linhares et al. by "surgical necessity" [164]: the recipient infrarenal aorta had to be used for inflow due to intense perivascular fibroses of both iliac arteries and portal vein drainage was accomplished via the recipient SMV. Exocrine drainage was into the gastric antrum (Fig. 29.25). It appears that this technique can be considered a "salvage option" in case of re-transplant when massive adhesions and vascular scarring prohibit standard transplant techniques.



**Fig. 29.24** Whole-organ transplant with portal venous and gastric drainage of the exocrine pancreatic secretions. Standard donor portal vein to recipient SMV anastomosis and long Y-graft conduit (using donor iliac or carotid Y-graft or combination thereof) anastomosis to the recipient's right common iliac artery. The end of the proximal "donor jejunum is anastomosed to the anterior aspect of the stomach close to the greater curvature in an antecolic fashion" (reprinted with permission from Shokouh-Amiriet al. [158])



**Fig. 29.25** Whole-organ transplant with portal venous and gastric drainage of the exocrine pancreatic secretions. Standard donor portal vein to recipient SMV anastomosis and donor Y-graft anastomosis to the recipient's infrarenal aorta. The duodenal portion of the graft to the anterior wall of the gastric antrum (reprinted with permission from Linhares et al. [164])

In general, advocates of gastric and duodenal drainage point out that these drainage techniques have the advantages of endoscopic monitoring, pancreas graft placement in a fixed position, and endoscopic access to both graft duodenum and pancreas. The main disadvantages of gastric and duodenal drainage are the challenges associated with leaks and/or graft pancreatectomies (Chap. 31).

## **Duct Injection**

Synonyms used for duct injection include duct obstruction and duct occlusion. This technique was first reported by Dubernard et al. in 1978 for segmental grafts [165]. It entails the injection of the main pancreatic duct with up to 10 mL of neoprene, a liquid synthetic rubber that flocculates with changes in pH (Fig. 29.26). This technique was based on large animal studies in dogs in which progressive fibrosis of the pancreatic tissue was demonstrated after injection of neoprene in the main pancreatic duct, leaving the islets vascularized and functioning for prolonged periods. Although duct injection was initially used in many pancreas transplant centers around the world, it eventually became less popular than bladder or enteric drainage because it has a higher incidence of complications (e.g., obligatory graft pancreatitis after



**Fig. 29.26** Segmental transplant with duct injection. The donor splenic artery and vein are anastomosed to the recipient's external iliac artery and vein. The arterial anastomosis is lateral and proximal to the venous anastomosis. The duct is injected with a synthetic polymer. For ureteral implantation into the bladder, an extravesical ureteroneocystostomy (Lich) technique is used

injection, and pancreatic fistulas). Concerns were also raised that exocrine fibrosis may impair long-term function of the vascularized islets [166]. According to US IPTR/UNOS data, duct injection was frequently used until 1983 (>50% of all cases). Since then, it has become a rarely performed technique and has been used in less than 1 % of all pancreas transplants.

As with other drainage procedures, duct injection has undergone a number of modifications over the years. A variety of synthetic polymers have been used besides neoprene, including prolamine, polyisoprene, and silicon [167-169]. Neoprene is easy to inject, adheres well to duct walls (in contrast to silicon), and solidifies when injected into the pancreatic duct [165]. Initially a dose of 10 mL was used, but 3–5 mL is usually sufficient with segmental grafts (Fig. 29.26). Duct injection can be performed on the bench or after revascularization. Under both circumstances, Wirsung's duct is cannulated with a small blunt-tipped catheter. Neoprene spillage should be avoided. After injection, the pancreatic duct is oversewn with a single 5-0 nonabsorbable suture. The cut surface is also oversewn with a single 4-0 absorbable suture, but total ligation of the pancreatic neck with a single purse-string suture has also been recommended.

Delayed injection until several weeks posttransplant has also been reported [170, 171]. A temporary catheter is placed in the duct and externalized, which allows monitoring of exocrine graft function early posttransplant. But, delayed (vs. immediate) duct injection has not resulted in better outcomes.

Duct injection has also been used with whole-organ transplants (Fig. 29.27). The injection technique itself is not different, as compared with segmental grafts, but the accessory Santorini's duct needs to be cannulated and injected separately if interductal connections are absent and if the accessory duct is not confluent with the main duct; a papilla minor with drainage of the accessory duct occurs in about 30% of cases [172]. Of note, duct injection can be successfully used with both systemic and portal vein drainage.

Over the years, most pancreas transplant centers that initially favored duct injection as their method of choice to divert exocrine pancreatic secretions have switched to either enteric or bladder drainage. In a retrospective study of 95 pancreas transplants with graft function >3 years, the Lyon group demonstrated inferior long-term outcomes with duct injection (using neoprene). At 3 years, overall pancreas graft survival was 65% with whole-organ enteric drainage, 60% with whole-organ bladder drainage, and only 47% with segmental graft duct injection [111].

Currently, duct injection is used as a (rescue) conversion technique for patients with surgical complications after enteric- or bladder-drained pancreas transplants. Conversion of bladder drainage (in the absence of systemic infection) to duct injection appears to be safe and effective [173].



**Fig. 29.27** Whole-organ transplant with duct injection: because of the previous kidney transplantation on the right side, the whole-organ pancreas graft (without the duodenum) is implanted into the left side; the Y-graft anastomosis is lateral and distal to the portal vein anastomosis. The pancreatic duct is injected with about 10 mL of a synthetic polymer

## **Ureteral Drainage**

In the original description by Gliedman et al., the pancreatic duct of a systemic-drained segmental graft was directly anastomosed to the ipsilateral distal ureter of the recipient [4]. Gil-Vernet et al. described a modification with paratopic placement of the segmental graft and portal vein drainage via the recipient splenic artery and vein; after native nephrectomy, the renal pelvis was anastomosed to the tail of the graft [6]. Thus, ureteral drainage has been used with both systemic and portal vein drainage. It has also been used with wholeorgan transplants, with the construction of an anastomosis between the pancreatic papilla (using only a small 0.5-cm rim of duodenum) and the native ureter [59]. Ureteral drainage has not become a widely used technique because of its high anastomotic complication rate and the frequent need for native nephrectomy. Of note, ureteral drainage was also used with living donor segmental grafts if the pancreatic duct and ipsilateral native ureter were a good size match and if neither enteric nor bladder drainage could be used (e.g., because of a short pancreatic neck and fear of possible injury to the donor splenic vessels) [148].

## **Open-Duct Drainage and Duct Ligation**

Although completely different conceptually, open-duct drainage and duct ligation are discussed together, because

neither technique gained widespread application. Technically, open-duct drainage involves only revascularization of the (segmental) graft with the duct left open, resulting in the preservation of functioning exocrine pancreatic tissue. The peritoneum can absorb pancreatic secretions and openly drain pancreatic juice, but there must be no microbial or enteric contamination at the time of operation [174]. In contrast, duct ligation after revascularization involves ligation or oversewing of the pancreatic duct, resulting in atrophy of the exocrine tissue. Consequences are (severe) graft pancreatitis and, on occasion, necrosis with infection [172]. Duct ligation did not prove to be superior to duct injection.

#### Less Common Types of Pancreas Transplants

## Segmental Transplants

Segmental transplants from deceased donors are basically no longer performed due to reduced islet mass compared to whole organ grafts. They were most popular after duct injection was introduced in the late 1970s which eliminated the need for a tedious duct or pancreatic cut-surface anastomosis with its associated complications. At the time, segmental grafts were frequently procured with a Carrel patch encompassing the splenic artery and a donor portal vein patch to facilitate the constructions of the vascular anastomoses (Fig. 29.28).

If a rare deceased donor segmental transplant is performed, it is usually placed intra-abdominally on the right side (like a whole organ); if a kidney is simultaneously transplanted, it is placed on the left side.

The cuffs or patches of the splenic artery and splenic vein are usually anastomosed to the external iliac artery and vein as described above; on occasion, the hypogastric artery is used for arterial inflow. Alternatively, portal venous drainage



**Fig. 29.28** Segmental graft from a deceased donor: the splenic vein is depicted with a cuff of donor portal vein and the splenic artery is attached to a Carrel patch

For diversion of exocrine pancreatic secretions, enteric or bladder drainage may be used—applying the same techniques as described above—as well as duct injection. For both enteric or bladder drainage, a two-layer anastomosis is created either by directly anastomosing the pancreatic duct to the jejunal mucosa (ductojejunostomy)or to the bladder urothelium (ductocystostomy) or by telescoping the whole cut surface of the pancreatic neck into the jejunum (pancreaticojejunostomy) or into the bladder (pancreaticocystostomy) (Figs. 29.13, 29.14, 29.15, 29.16, 29.19, and 29.20). The pancreatic duct is always stented with a small catheter and tagged with a single 6-0 or 7-0 absorbable suture to the anastomosis. The stent is either spontaneously excreted through the urethra or cystoscopically removed 3–4 weeks posttransplant.

Duct injection (Fig. 29.26) or ureteral drainage (e.g., sizematched pancreatic duct and ipsilateral ureter, short pancreatic neck) are no longer performed primarily but may be considered as rescue options.

Segmental transplants from living donors are now rarely performed due to substantial improvements in immunosuppressive therapy and advances in the diagnosis and treatment of rejection for whole-organ transplants from deceased donors. In contrast to segmental transplants from deceased donors, no donor cuffs are attached to the splenic artery and vein (Fig. 29.29) which increases the risk of thrombosis and technical failure of living donor segmental grafts. The surgical technique for segmental pancreas transplants from living donors is described in detail in Chap. 35.

### **Split-Pancreas Transplants**

As with the liver, the vascular blood supply of the pancreas allows the splitting of one pancreas into two segmental grafts (see Chap. 14). A pancreas split procedure has been described from a donor whose liver was not simultaneously procured with the pancreas [175]. Arterial blood supply to the pancreas was provided via a Carrel patch encompassing the celiac artery (with the common hepatic, gastroduodenal, and superior pancreaticoduodenal arteries) and the superior mesenteric artery (with its inferior pancreaticoduodenal artery) (Fig. 29.30). Surgically, the split benchwork procedure was done by ex vivo division of the pancreatic neck between 4 and 0 absorbable sutures at 4 °C in University of Wisconsin (UW) solution. The arterial blood supply was divided by leaving the pancreatic tail and part of the body (distal segment) vascularized via the splenic artery and vein, and the pancreatic head, part of the body, and duodenum (proximal segment) vascularized via the superior and inferior pancreaticoduodenal arteries originating from the gastroduodenal and superior



**Fig. 29.29** In contrast, the segmental graft from a living donor: the cut surfaces (without cuffs) of the donor splenic vein and splenic artery are depicted



**Fig. 29.30** Split-pancreas transplant with systemic vein and bladder exocrine drainage. The neck of the pancreas is divided above the portal vein using ligatures. The proximal segment (pancreatic head with duodenum) receives its blood supply via a Carrel patch encompassing the celiac artery and superior mesenteric artery; venous drainage is via the portal vein. (The orifice of the splenic is oversewn.) The distal segment (body and tail of the pancreas) receives its blood supply from the splenic artery and vein. The proximal segment was implanted on the right side of the pelvis in the standard fashion and a duodenocystostomy was created. The distal segment was also implanted on the right side and a ductocystostomy was created

mesenteric arteries. Thus, the Carrel patch along with the portal vein remained with the proximal segment. The orifice of the splenic vein in the portal vein was oversewn with a single 7-0 nonabsorbable suture in running fashion. For the proximal segment, the recipient common iliac artery and vein were used; for the distal segment, the recipient external iliac artery and vein were used. Exocrine drainage for both segments was into the bladder, via a duodenocystostomy for the proximal segment and via a ductocystostomy for the distal segment (Fig. 29.30). Bladder drainage was chosen because both recipients had high panel-reactive antibody (PRA) levels (76% and 100%, respectively); monitoring of exocrine secretions for early detection of rejection was crucial. If bladder drainage is not chosen or if a kidney is simultaneously transplanted, enteric drainage can be used with equal success. Thus, a split-pancreas transplant is an option, used rarely, for crossmatch-negative patients with high PRA levels.

## Pancreas Transplants After Native Pancreatectomy

Pancreas transplants can successfully be done in patients who previously underwent total pancreatectomy for reasons other than pancreatic malignancies (see Chaps. 18, 80, and 81). The most common cause is chronic pancreatitis and the presence of diabetes mellitus. Total pancreatectomy results not only in endocrine but also in exocrine deficiency [176]. Although the latter can successfully be managed with oral enzyme supplementation, such patients frequently develop a very labile form of diabetes mellitus due to the complete absence of all glucose-regulatory hormones released by pancreatic islets (insulin, glucagon, somatostatin, and pancreatic polypeptide). Thus, the goal of a pancreas transplant for patients after total pancreatectomy is to re-establish full endocrine and exocrine function. Several single-center studies have shown that a pancreas transplant in patients with native pancreatectomy is a safe procedure resulting in longterm insulin independence with patient and graft survival rates similar to those of recipients of a primary transplant without native pancreatectomy [176–179].

According to US IPTR/UNOS data, <0.1% of all pancreas transplants have been performed in pancreatectomized patients (see Chap. 66) [8].

Given extensive previous surgery, in particular, in the mid-abdomen, placement of the pancreas graft in the pelvis with systemic vein drainage to the iliac vessels and enteric drainage via a side-to-side anastomosis or Roux-en-Y loop is usually preferred [176–179]. But at least one case of successful inferior vena cava, portal vein, and duodenal drainage has been reported [180]. This technique involves right-sided medial visceral rotation (i.e., an extended Kocher maneuver) with donor portal vein-to-recipient vena cava and

donor Y-graft-to-recipient right common iliac artery anastomoses as well as a side-to-side anastomosis between the donor and the recipient duodenums.

If close monitoring for rejection early posttransplant is warranted (e.g., in patients with high PRA levels due to previous blood transfusions), the surgeon may elect to initially use bladder drainage and later convert to enteric drainage. But, for as long as the pancreas is bladder drained, oral supplementation of pancreatic enzymes is required. If portal vein (and enteric) drainage is used, the patient will also benefit from restoration of both endocrine and exocrine function, but the dissection might be more difficult because of adhesions from previous surgery. The surgical techniques for graft implantation in patients with native pancreatectomy are the same as described above.

## En Bloc Transplants and Transplants from Pediatric Donors

## En Bloc or Single-Unit Pancreas-Kidney Transplants

Combined pancreas-kidney transplants as en bloc or single units are relatively rare procedures. In those cases, the vascular sites in the recipient show advanced calcified peripheral vascular disease, are heavily scarred (due to previous use) or organs from a small pediatric donor are been used. The en bloc technique was initially described and successfully tested in a large animal (porcine) model (Fig. 29.31) [181, 182].

In general, single-unit pancreas-kidney transplants are technically feasible and can be successful.

It is important to point out that the arterial and venous sites should be chosen first to gauge the distance and configuration required for the donor's vessels and thus avoid twisting or kinking [184]. The disadvantage of this technique is that when a complication (e.g., thrombosis, abscess, and leakage) occurs in one graft, the other graft is automatically imperiled. Thus, en bloc pancreas–kidney transplants have basically been limited to highly selected transplant recipients.

Several techniques have been described:

In one case report, the benchwork consisted of a standard Y-graft reconstruction with anastomoses of the external iliac artery to the superior mesenteric artery and of the internal iliac artery to the splenic artery. The renal artery then joined the Y-graft in an end-to-side fashion to provide a single arterial inflow vessel. A donor iliac vein was used to extend the portal vein. The renal vein was joined side-to-side to the extension graft to provide a single venous outflow vessel. In the recipient, the single-unit pancreas-kidney graft was implanted by suturing the conjoined venous graft to the left common iliac vein in an



**Fig. 29.31** En bloc transplantation of pancreas and kidney in a pig model. The donor aorta with the origins of celiac artery, SMA and left renal artery is anastomosed end-to-side to the recipient infrarenal aorta. The donor portal and renal veins are anastomosed separately from the recipient's common iliac veins (reprinted with permission from the author [182])

end-to-side fashion. The arterial graft was sutured to the only arterial site suitable for anastomosis on the left common iliac artery (end-to-side anastomosis). Exocrine pancreatic secretions were diverted to the jejunum in an end-to-side fashion [183].

 In another case report, the arterial reconstruction of both grafts was identical to the one described above. The donor portal vein, however, was directly anastomosed end-toside to a long renal vein. The renal vein was then anastomosed to the distal inferior vena cava and the long Y-graft to the distal right common iliac artery. Exocrine pancreatic secretions were drained side-to-side to the recipient's jejunum [184].

As mentioned above, the construction of a common arterial conduit—rather than a true en bloc transplant—has been proposed if implantation of the kidney graft on the left side is "difficult or undesirable" [131]. Both grafts are implanted on the right side in ipsilateral fashion: the renal artery is anastomosed end-to-end to the donor internal iliac artery of the Y-graft and the long external iliac artery to the donor SMA. The pancreas graft is anastomosed to the recipient portal vein and the donor renal vein to the recipient right iliac vein (Fig. 29.32) [131].

Pediatric donors have been used in a few case reports using the en bloc technique. In one case, pancreas and both kidneys were procured en bloc with the abdominal aorta and cava; the donor (proximal) portal vein was anastomosed to the proximal end of the donor inferior vena cava. In the recipient, end-to-side anastomoses between the distal ends of the donor aorta and cava and the recipient iliac vessels were performed [185]. In another case of dual kidneypancreas transplantation, the proximal donor aorta, and cava were first anastomosed end-to-side to the recipient's infrarenal aorta and cava. The donor portal vein and the donor SMA Carrel patch of the pancreas graft were then anastomosed end-to-end to the distal donor aorta and cava [186]. In a case of retroperitoneal en bloc implantation, only one kidney was used; the arterial anastomosis was between the donor distal aorta (encompassing the origins of SMA, celiac artery, and right renal artery) and the recipient's right internal iliac artery (due to severe calcifications of the common and external iliac arteries). The donor portal and renal veins were anastomosed separately end-to-side to the recipient's inferior vena cava [187]. In a modification of this technique the donor aorta was anastomosed to the recipient's right common iliac artery and the donor portal and renal veins were anastomosed separately to the recipient's right common iliac vein [188].

### **Transplants from Pediatric Donors**

Another major change that has taken place in clinical pancreas transplantation since the first edition of this textbook is the now more widely-applied and successful use of pediatric donors for pancreas (and kidney) transplantation. In the first edition and around the time of the turn of the millennium, it was recommended that "deceased pancreas donors weighing  $\leq$ 30 kg should only be used in selected situations, e.g., if the liver is not procured and the Carrel patch remains with the pancreas. Any arterial reconstruction of pediatric donor grafts, including the Y-graft technique, significantly increases the risk of pancreas graft thrombosis." [189]

However, after the turn of the millennium, several singlecenter studies showed in small patient series that pancreas transplants from pediatric donors  $\leq 30$  kg can be performed with excellent short- and long-term outcomes [190–199]. Most combined pancreas and kidney grafts from pediatric donors have been implanted separately with the exception of very small donors ( $\leq 10$  kg) in which either (1) en bloc pancreas–dual kidney (see above) or (2) pancreas and separate en bloc kidney implantation techniques were used [190– 199]. If two small kidneys are transplanted en bloc, both ureters can be anastomosed to the recipient's bladder using a small donor bladder patch comprising and preserving the

Fig. 29.32 SPK transplant using a common arterial conduit has been proposed if implantation of the kidney graft on the left side is "difficult or undesirable." Both grafts are implanted on the right side in ipsilateral fashion. The renal artery is anastomosed end-to-end to the donor internal iliac artery of the Y-graft; the long external iliac artery of the Y-graft is brought through a window of the small bowel mesentery and anastomosed to a Carrel patch of the donor SMA. The pancreas graft is anastomosed to the recipient portal vein and the donor renal vein to the recipient right iliac vein (reprinted with permission from Tso et al. [131])



bilateral donor orifices in the trigone: the anastomosis can be accomplished in one layer using 4-0 PDS sutures without ureteral stents [193]. According to one report, pancreatic grafts from pediatric donors may not grow in size posttransplant in adult recipients [200]. This interesting topic warrants further investigation since the smallest donor in that study was already 25 kg in weight. Subsequently, a large single-center study of 33 pancreas transplants from donors'  $\leq$ 30 kg (3%) showed no effect of donor weight on patient and graft outcomes when compared to donors >30 kg; pancreas graft survival was also not different for donors  $\leq$ 20 kg vs. >20–30 kg [199]. Another study of 19 pediatric donors  $\leq$ 30 kg also demonstrated excellent short-term outcomes with no surgical complications and

long-term patient and allograft survival that was comparable to that of adult donor pancreas transplants [197]. Of note, the vast majority of these grafts were implanted separately and with the construction of a Y-graft as done in pancreas transplants from adult donors.

These large single-center study results were echoed in a UNOS database analysis: short-term graft and patient survival rates were comparable between pediatric and adult donors. Ten-year patient and graft survivals were higher in the pediatric donor group: (70% and 54% vs. 68% and 51%, p = 0.001); only low-weight pediatric donors ( $\leq$ 30 kg) resulted in worse graft survival in the long term. Usage of small pediatric donors  $\leq$ 30 kg was not associated with a higher incidence of technical complications or early graft loss [198].

In essence, pancreas grafts from pediatric donors should not be marginalized and can offset worsening organ shortage [197].

According to US IPTR/UNOS data, since 1995 pediatric donors  $\leq$ 13 years of age were only used in 6% of all pancreas transplants, with 1-year graft survival rates of 88% for SPK, 80% for PAK, and 79% for PTA recipients [8].

## Combined Pancreas and Extra-renal Solid Organ Transplants

According to US IPTR/UNOS data, the following combinations of pancreas and other solid organ transplants (except SPK) were performed in 1382 patients between October 1, 1988, and December 31, 2019: pancreas–liver– intestine (n = 994), pancreas–intestine (n = 163), pancreas– kidney–liver–intestine (n = 101), pancreas–liver (n = 87), pancreas–kidney–liver (n = 11), pancreas–kidney–heart (n = 9), pancreas–kidney–intestine (n = 7), pancreas–heart (n = 5), pancreas–lung (n = 3), and pancreas–liver–lung (n = 2). Only nine centers had performed >20 of those transplants [8].

#### Simultaneous Pancreas–Liver Transplants

#### Pancreas-Liver "Cluster" Transplants

In 1989, Starzl et al. reported on abdominal organ cluster transplants for the treatment of unresectable upper abdominal malignancies [201]. Those patients underwent resection of most or all of the stomach, liver, pancreas, spleen, duodenum, proximal jejunum, terminal ileum, and ascending and transverse colon. The void in the upper abdomen was filled with an organ cluster graft consisting of the liver, pancreas, duodenum, and variable segments of proximal jejunum. In the recipient, the supra- and infrahepatic vena cava anastomoses were performed first, followed by the placement of the donor Carrel patch at the site of the recipient's celiac artery. After revascularization of the graft, an end-to-end anastomosis was constructed between the donor and recipient's superior mesenteric veins. Although it was shown that abdominal organ cluster transplants were technically feasible and could be successful, long-term results were disappointing because of disease recurrence [202]. Pancreas graft complications were not uncommon and included severe pancreatitis and necrosis.

#### **Combined Pancreas and Liver Transplants**

According to US IPTR/UNOS data, 87 combined pancreasliver were performed between October 1, 1988, and December 31, 2019, for various indications [8].

Combined pancreas–liver transplants have been performed both orthotopically ("en bloc") and heterotopically (Figs. 29.33, 29.34, 29.35, 29.36, 29.37, and 29.38) [203– 226]. En bloc implantation offers certain advantages over separate implantation: it requires fewer vascular anastomoses, obviates the need for a separate biliary anastomosis and permits portal vein drainage of the pancreas graft. It is also associated with shorter operative time. Of note, a unique surgical complication of the en bloc technique has been reported: gastric outlet obstruction by a large donor aortic conduit [204]. This complication points to a key factor for the successful technical outcome of en bloc transplantation: the use of a donor that is smaller in size than the recipient [204, 208, 209].

Combined pancreas-liver transplants have been performed for a variety of pancreatic and hepatic disorders.



**Fig. 29.33** En bloc pancreas/liver transplant with infrahepatic (IHCA) and suprahepatic vena cava (SHCA) anastomoses, interposition aortic conduit (AA) with Carrel patch of the celiac artery and SMA, and recipient-to-donor end-to-side portal vein anastomosis (reprinted with permission from Pirenne et al. [209])



**Fig. 29.34** En bloc pancreas/liver transplant with piggy-back caval anastomosis, interposition aortic tube (DAT) with Carrel patch of the celiac artery and SMA, and end-to-end anastomosis between donor SMV and recipient portal vein; Roux-en-Y anastomosis of the distal duodenal graft to the recipient proximal jejunum (reprinted with permission from Chen et al. [211])

#### **Diabetes Mellitus**

Twenty-three combined pancreas-liver transplants have been performed for the treatment of type 1 diabetes and endstage liver disease [208, 209]. In addition, a series of 14 patients with insulin-dependent type 2 (rather than type 1) and end-stage liver disease has been reported [210]. The en bloc technique appears to be favored over separate implantation of pancreas and liver. Pirenne et al. (see Chap. 36) described a technique in which the supra- and infrahepatic caval anastomoses are performed first followed by a piggyback anastomosis of the native portal vein onto the donor portal vein (Fig. 29.33) [208, 209]. A circular donor aortic patch comprising celiac artery and SMA is anastomosed end-to-end to a donor aortic tube that has been anastomosed to the recipient infrarenal aorta. An enterocolic side-to-side duodeno-jejunostomy is performed for exocrine pancreatic and biliary drainage.

Variations of the en bloc technique have been described primarily for arterial reconstruction and enteric drainage. A donor aortic patch encompassing the celiac artery and SMA can be anastomosed end-to-end to the recipient's common hepatic artery, celiac artery, or suprarenal aorta (Fig. 29.34) [211]. A donor iliac Y-graft connecting the celiac artery and the SMA can be anastomosed to the infrarenal aorta [212]. Duodeno-duodenostomy has been described for exocrine pancreatic and biliary drainage and offers the advantage of easy endoscopic access to the graft duodenum [210].

Eight combined pancreas-kidney-liver transplants have been reported in the literature [210]. These include patients



**Fig. 29.35** Separate implantation of pancreas, liver, and kidney grafts: orthotopic liver transplant, standard heterotopic transplants of the enteric-drained pancreas and kidney grafts (reprinted with permission from Zhang et al. [214])

with insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus and end-stage renal and liver disease. En bloc implantation of the pancreas, kidney, and liver grafts has been described [213] as well as en bloc implantation of the pancreas–liver grafts with separate (heterotopic) implantation of the kidney graft [212] as well as separate implantation of all three organs (Fig. 29.35) [214].

### **Cystic Fibrosis**

Cystic fibrosis (CF), an autosomal recessive multisystem disorder that increases the viscosity of exocrine secretions due to defective epithelial chloride transport—has been associated with pancreatic exocrine dysfunction in 85% and hepatobiliary complications in 30% of CF patients. Moreover, CF-related diabetes mellitus is a principal non-pulmonary



**Fig. 29.36** First en bloc pancreas–liver and (dual) kidney transplant for Wolcott–Rallison syndrome. Arterial inflow through the donor infrarenal aorta (with an interposition graft of descending donor aorta) via the recipient infrarenal aorta. Venous outflow via piggyback technique (anastomosis of the donor suprahepatic inferior vena cava to the joint ostia of the recipients's suprahepatic veins). Portal vein continuity



**Fig. 29.37** En bloc pancreas–liver and (single) kidney transplant for Wolcott–Rallison syndrome. Arterial inflow through the donor infrarenal aorta (with an interposition graft of descending donor aorta) via the recipient infrarenal aorta. Venous outflow via piggyback technique (anastomosis of the donor suprahepatic inferior vena cava to the joint ostia of the recipients's suprahepatic veins). Portal vein continuity viaend-to-side anastomosis between the donor and recipient portal veins; enteric drainage and standard ureteroneocystostomy (reprinted with permission from Rivera et al. [225])

via venous interposition graft between the donor mesenteric vein and native portal vein. The donor duodenum was anastomosed antecolic to the recipient jejunum (enteric drainage) and bilateral extravesical ureteroneocystostomies were created (ureteral drainage) (reprinted with permission from Tzakis et al. [224])

CF complication, with up to 50% of CF patients developing insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus before the age of 30 years (see Chaps. 72 and 80) [215–217].

The first combined pancreas–liver along with a kidney transplant for CF was performed in 1994; the patient underwent a heterotopic pancreas and kidney transplant and an orthotopic liver transplant [215]. Subsequent reports of combined transplants for CF describe separate and en bloc techniques, both of which are almost equally used [216–222].

Similar to combined pancreas-liver transplants for the treatment of diabetes and end-stage liver disease, a variety of surgical techniques for en bloc implantation in CF patients have been described. For caval venous reconstruction, end-to-end supra- and infrahepatic caval anastomoses as well as the piggyback technique have been used; for portal vein reconstruction, end-to-side or end-to-end anastomosis of the recipient portal vein to the donor portal vein (between the superior border of the pancreas and liver grafts) as well as recipient portal vein to donor SMV anastomosis (below the neck of the pancreas) [218-220]. Variations in arterial reconstruction include the use of a donor iliac artery Y-graft with anastomosis to the recipient infrarenal aorta (with or without a jump graft) or a donor innominate artery Y-graft directly anastomosed the recipient infrarenal aorta [218, 220]. Biliary continuity and

Fig. 29.38 Separate implantation of pancreas and liver grafts: orthotopic liver transplant with right accessory hepatic artery (from the SMA) anastomosed end-to-end to the gastroduodenal artery; heterotopic enteric-drained pancreas transplant with anastomosis of donor Carrel patch encompassing the celiac artery and SMA to the recipient infrarenal aorta and donor portal vein (with donor iliac vein extension graft) to recipient infrarenal vena cava (reprinted with permission from Nordström et al. [223])



drainage of pancreas exocrine secretions is usually reestablished with a Roux-en-Y donor duodenum to recipient jejunum anastomosis or an anastomosis of the donor duodenum to a proximal loop of jejunum (with or without a Braun entero-enterostomy) [218, 220].

According to US IPTR/UNOS data, 26 CF-patients underwent pancreas with or without other solid organ transplants between January 1, 1988, and December 31, 2020 (see Chap. 72, Table 72.2). There were three SPK, 2 PAK, 1 PTA, 14 pancreas–liver, and 6 pancreas–multiorgan transplants (liver, lung, and/or intestine) [8].

#### Wolcott-Rallison Syndrome (WRS)

WRS is a rare, autosomal recessive disorder caused by a mutation of the EIF2AK3 gene on chromosome 2 that encodes the protein kinase R-like endoplasmatic reticulum kinase (PERK) [223]. This results in infantile-onset, insulindependent diabetes mellitus, recurrent liver dysfunction and liver failure, renal failure, and other symptoms all of which contribute to an overall poor prognosis. Few children survive beyond 10 years of age.

An en bloc technique for combined pancreas-liver and (dual) kidney transplantation has been reported in two cases.

In the first transplant performed for WRS, Tzakis et al. achieved arterial inflow to the composite graft through the donor infrarenal aorta which was connected to the recipient infrarenal aorta-below the origins of the donor renal arteries-via an interposition graft (donor descending aorta) that was pulled through the transverse mesocolon [224]. Venous outflow was accomplished using the piggyback technique (anastomosis of the donor suprahepatic inferior vena cava to the joint ostia of the recipient's suprahepatic veins). Portal vein continuity was established with the use of a venous interposition graft between the donor mesenteric vein and native portal vein. The donor duodenum was anastomosed antecolic to the recipient jejunum (enteric drainage) and bilateral extravesical ureteroneocystostomies were created (ureteral drainage) (Fig. 29.36) [224]. A similar technique with only one kidney allograft was used by Rivera et al.; the only modification was an end-to-side anastomosis of the native portal vein to the donor portal vein (Fig. 29.37) [225]. At least two other combined pancreas and liver transplants, but without concurrent kidney transplants, have been performed. In one case the en bloc technique as described above was used [226]. In the other case, the pancreas and liver grafts were implanted separately and the donor Carrel patch of the pancreas graft was anastomosed to the recipient infrarenal aorta and the donor portal vein to the recipient infrarenal cava (Fig. 29.38) [223].

## Pancreas Transplants as Part of Multivisceral Transplants

Pancreas transplants as part of multivisceral transplants are described in detail in Chap. 36. According to US IPTR/UNOS data, combined pancreas-intestine transplants (with or without other solid organ transplants) were performed in 1265 patients between October 1, 1988, and December 31, 2019: pancreas-intestine-liver (n = 994), pancreas-intestine (n = 163), pancreas-intestine-liver-kidney (n = 101), and pancreas-intestine-kidney transplants (n = 7) [8]. From a historical perspective it is noted here only that after the introduction and subsequent abandonment of the pancreas-liver cluster transplants for the treatment of unresectable malignancies, the goal of multiorgan transplants shifted to the treatment of short bowel syndrome (secondary mainly to benign diseases) and associated total parenteral nutrition (TPN)-related liver failure [227, 228]. Since the vast majority of patients with short bowel syndrome and end-stage liver disease do not suffer from insulin-dependent diabetes, the pancreas is included in these en bloc transplants almost exclusively for technical reasons. To overcome separate liver and intestine implantation in the recipient with the need for bile duct reconstruction, the University of Nebraska group devised an elegant surgical technique. Initially used in pediatric combined liver-intestine transplants, this technique entails en bloc transplantation of the liver and small bowel along with a small portion of the head of the pancreas and duodenum: This allows implantation without additional construction of a Roux-en-Y loop for biliary anastomosis [229]. The University of Miami group modified this technique by including the whole pancreaticoduodenal complex with the liver–intestine transplants, again obviating the need for biliary reconstruction [230]. In addition, inclusion of the entire pancreas reduces operative time and pancreatic remnant-related complications by eliminating transection of the donor pancreas. As mentioned, the technical aspects of these en bloc multivisceral transplants including the pancreas are delineated in Chap. 36.

#### Simultaneous Pancreas-Lung Transplants

In patients with cystic fibrosis (see above), pulmonary failure and complete pancreatic (exocrine and endocrine) insufficiency can develop over time. Cystic fibrosis is an autosomal recessive genetic disorder caused by mutations in the cystic fibrosis transmembrane conductance regulator (CFTR) gene (see Chap. 72). The CFTR protein is found in organs that produce mucus (lungs, pancreas, liver, pancreas, intestines, and sweat glands). Lung transplantation alone is the most common type of transplant performed in patients with cystic fibrosis, followed by liver alone and combined lung-liver transplants. In 2008, Fridell et al. reported the first three simultaneous pancreas and lung transplants [231]. All patients required insulin and because they were severely malnourished, enzyme supplementation pretransplant. The organs were procured from the same deceased donor. Bilateral lung transplants were performed first (using two separate thoracotomies). The pancreas transplant was engrafted intra-abdominally with portal venous and enteric exocrine drainage. None of the patients required insulin or supplemental pancreatic enzyme posttranplant [231]. Subsequently, the same group reported a successful simultaneous pancreas and kidney transplant after bilateral lung transplant for a recipient with cystic fibrosis. In 2018, the first successful combined lung-liver-pancreas transplant was reported in a 19-year-old male. The lung transplants were performed first using a bilateral clamshell incision. The pancreas and liver graft was implanted en bloc. An aortic conduit was fashioned by anastomosing the donor's thoracic aorta to the recipient's infrarenal aorta [232]. After completing the upper and lower caval anastomoses, the recipient portal vein was anastomosed to the left side of the donor portal vein, and the distal end of the abdominal aorta segment was anastomosed end-to-end to the thoracic aortic conduit. The donor duodenum was anastomosed side-to-side to the proximal jejunum. The patient had excellent exocrine and endocrine (as well as pulmonary) function 1-year posttranplant [232]. The indication for pancreas transplantation in this setting is also justified by the fact that diabetes mellitus is an independent risk factor for mortality in patients with cystic fibrosis [233].

According to US IPTR/UNOS data, three pancreas–lung and two pancreas–lung–liver transplants were performed between January 1, 1988, and December 31, 2020 [8].

#### Simultaneous Pancreas–Heart Transplants

The prevalence of cardiac disease in diabetic patients is extremely high (see Chaps. 26 and 27). It is a frequent cause of peritransplant morbidity and mortality. During the pretransplant evaluation, many pancreas transplant candidates undergo coronary artery angioplasty or a bypass procedure before being placed on the waiting list. But, a small percentage of patients have such advanced coronary disease that a heart transplant is the only therapeutic option. The number of patients who undergo a heart transplant because of surgically non-correctable, end-stage coronary artery disease secondary to diabetes mellitus (types 1 and 2) accounts for approximately 15% of all heart transplants. However, many transplant centers do not consider combined pancreas-heart transplants an option because of the advanced secondary complications of diabetes. According to US IPTR/UNOS data, nine pancreas-kidney-heart and five pancreas-heart transplants were performed between October 1, 1988, and December 31, 2019 [8]. Technically, the pancreas (with or without a kidney) is transplanted intra-abdominally in standard fashion after the heart transplant is completed.

Good long-term outcome after combined pancreas-kidney-heart transplantation can be achieved: one case with 11 vears of follow-up and excellent graft function has been reported in the literature [234]. A successful pancreas after a combined heart-kidney transplant has been reported in a 32-year-old patient with brittle diabetes mellitus and end-stage cardiac (ischemic cardiomyopathy) and renal failure. The subsequent pancreas transplant was performed because of poor quality of life from diabetes and its risk to endanger the stable heart-kidney allografts. The pancreas was transplanted intraabdominally with portal venous and enteric exocrine drainage 6 months after the combined heart-kidney transplant [235].

#### **Other Technical Variations**

#### **Duodenal Button Versus Duodenal Segment**

With the increasing popularity of bladder drainage in the late 1980s, the duodenal button technique was proposed as an alternative to the use of a whole duodenal segment [236, 237]. The duodenal button technique entails transplanting only a small rim (0.5-1 cm) of donor duodenum, surrounding the papilla of Vater (Figs. 29.39 and 29.40). The papilla is identified and a small catheter is introduced about 2 cm into the pancreatic duct. If Wirsung's duct cannot be easily identified, the ligated end of the common bile duct is opened, and the catheter is passed through the common bile duct to the papilla to reveal its location. The catheter is secured with two 5-0 or 6-0 absorbable sutures, either to the duodenal patch or to the anastomosis with the recipient jejunum or bladder.

As with the duodenal segment, the duodenal button technique allows either enteric or bladder enteric drainage 391

(Figs. 29.39 and 29.40). If enteric drainage is used, the pancreatic duct catheter can be also externalized by tagging it at the anastomosis and bringing it out through the jejunal wall over a Witzel tunnel and the abdominal wall. The pancreatic duct catheter is then secured to the skin with a single suture. This approach allows temporary monitoring of exocrine pancreatic secretions in the early posttransplant period. The externalized catheter is left in place for about 3 weeks. If bladder drainage is used, the small catheter is either spontaneously excreted through the urethra or cystoscopically removed about 2-3 weeks posttransplant. One of the disadvantages of the duodenal button technique is that the extensive duodenal dissection and mobilization next to the head of the pancreatic graft increase the risk of devascularization, bleeding, and fistula formation. Since D'Alessandro et al., in a retrospective study, showed that graft survival was higher and the complication rate lower with the duodenal segment technique, the duodenal button technique has been, by and large, abandoned [237]. However, it remains an option if the duodenal conduit is damaged or devascularized.

The button technique was also used in a case of duodenal drainage: the donor Y-graft was anastomosed to the recipient's right common iliac artery and the donor portal vein to the recipient's vena cava. The head of the pancreas was oriented cranially and a donor duodenal button to the recipient duodenum (third portion) anastomosed was constructed (Fig. 29.41) [127].

## **Temporary Externalization of Pancreatic Secretions and Cutaneous Graft** Duodenostomy

Temporary externalization of enteric-drained pancreas graft secretions was initially advocated by the Stockholm group (Fig. 29.42) [238]. Placing a small catheter in the pancreatic duct and bringing it out through the jejunum and skin allows monitoring of exocrine pancreatic secretions in the early posttransplant period. The catheter is usually pulled within 3-4 weeks posttransplant with little consequence. Because the placement of a catheter in the pancreatic duct creates morbidity of its own, in particular, graft pancreatitis, this technique has been abandoned by the same group that initially proposed it [239].

Of only historical interest is the construction of a cutaneous graft duodenostomy, a technique used by Lillehei et al. for their first four pancreas transplants and again used by Starzl et al. for the first enteric-drained whole-organ pancreas transplant [3, 42]. With the evolution of enteric and bladder drainage as safe and efficient techniques, and the development of simple percutaneous biopsy procedures, cutaneous duodenostomies have become obsolete. They are only considered an option in cases with intestinal leakages and diffuse peritonitis after direct side-to-side duodenojejunostomy.

R. W.G. Gruessner



**Other Rare Technical Variants** 

#### **Prior Aorto-Iliac or Ilio-Femoral Bypass Grafts**

In my experience, pancreas transplants can be successfully performed in the presence of aorto-iliac or ilio-femoral bypass grafts. But, any duodenal graft spillage should be avoided. Patients should be placed on (broad-spectrum) antibiotic coverage for 7 days; antifungal coverage (fluconazole) should be provided for at least 14 days because Candida is a common microbe in the duodenum and has been associated with serious vascular complications [137]. Bladder (vs. enteric) drainage should be considered to avoid any additional risk of contaminating prosthetic material.



Fig. 29.41 Pancreas transplant with duodenal drainage using the "button" technique. A retroperitoneal approach is utilized (reprinted with permission from Pinchuk et al. [127])

Intraoperative dissection or injury of the recipient iliac artery can be successfully repaired by using a donor iliac



**Fig. 29.42** Pancreas transplant with temporary externalization of gastric-drained exocrine graft secretions as initially advocated by the Stockholm group [238]. Placing a small catheter in the pancreatic duct and bringing it out through the gastric wall over a Witzel tunnel and the skin allows monitoring of exocrine pancreatic secretions in the early posttransplant period. The catheter is pulled within 3 weeks. Temporary externalization is basically only of historical interest and has been abandoned because of its complications

artery allograft as a conduit in the presence of posttransplant immunosuppression [240]. Prosthetic material for replacement should be used only in selected cases or if no donor or recipient's arterial graft is available.

## Annular Pancreas Graft and Kidney Horseshoe Graft

Successful pancreas transplants have been reported with an annular donor pancreas; the first (rather than the second) portion of the duodenum was used for anastomosis [241]. Successful pancreas–kidney transplants have also been reported in the presence of a donor horseshoe kidney; the kidney was divided and showed good graft function 2 years posttransplant [242].

## Double Arterial and Venous Bridge Anastomoses and Simultaneous Pancreas–Spleen Transplants

For segmental transplants, a technique using four vascular anastomoses (proximal splenic artery to aorta or common iliac artery, distal splenic artery to distal internal iliac artery, proximal splenic vein to inferior vena cava, distal splenic vein to distal internal iliac vein) has been developed in an attempt to reduce the high rate of posttransplant thrombosis. With this technique, blood flows from the aorta or common iliac artery through the splenic artery to the peripheral part of the hypogastric artery, and then returns from the pelvic organs through the hypogastric vein via the splenic vein of the graft to the inferior vena cava. This model assumes that the pelvic organs play the same role as the spleen under normal conditions; removal of the spleen decreases the blood flow in the splenic vessels to below one-third [243, 244]. Other surgical techniques aimed at improving splenic artery and vein flow rates have included the creation of a distal splenic arteriovenous fistula and interposition of the splenic artery [245, 246].

Another way to improve blood flow in the pancreas graft is to transplant both the pancreas and spleen. However, in particular, if the donor and recipient are not ABO identical, the spleen can cause a series of hematologic complications, such as hemolytic anemia and thrombocytopenia, as initially reported by Starzl et al. [42]. Another major concern is the potential development of graft-vs-host disease (GvHD) [247, 248]; in an attempt to avoid GvHD, some groups have irradiated the spleen in vitro before implanting it (see Chap. 54) [249, 250].

All of these surgical attempts to improve blood flow through the pancreas graft have been abandoned over time because of prolonged ischemia time, technical difficulties, or immunologic complications. Consequently, they have been replaced because of superior anticoagulation regimens and overall improvement in standard surgical techniques.

#### **Splenomesenteric Arterial Anastomosis**

Instead of the typical Y-graft anastomosis for arterial graft reconstitution, the arterial supply of the pancreas has also been reconstructed with a splenomesenteric anastomosis. This entails an end-to-end anastomosis between the proximal splenic artery and the distal end of the superior mesenteric artery (SMA) [251]. Although successful outcome has been reported, this technique has not found widespread application.

## Conversion from Systemic to Portal Venous Drainage

Rarely has systemic vein drainage been converted to portal vein drainage. In the University of Minnesota series, one patient with a segmental transplant and slowly deteriorating glucose metabolism underwent anastomosis of the graft distal splenic vein to a recipient mesenteric vein; the previous spleno-iliac anastomosis was ligated. But, no significant improvement in glucose metabolism could be demonstrated after conversion [61].

## Use of the Recipient Gallbladder and the Donor Superior Mesenteric Vein for Anastomosis

The use of the recipient gallbladder as the site for drainage of exocrine pancreatic secretions has been reported [252], but for obvious reasons not pursued in a large series.

For venous anastomosis, the donor superior mesenteric vein has been used after sewing the portal vein closed. This technique has not gained widespread application, and no advantage over the standard technique's use of the donor portal vein has been reported [253].

## **Conversion from Bladder to Enteric Drainage**

Conversion from bladder to enteric drainage is a safe and therapeutic procedure in patients with metabolic, urologic, and technical complications after bladder-drained pancreas transplants. Since the vast majority of pancreas transplants are nowadays enteric drained, conversion from bladder to enteric drainage will become more of an uncommon procedure. Yet about 40–50% of all bladder-drained pancreas transplant recipients may ultimately require a conversion procedure and about 15–20% within the first year posttransplant [35, 36, 38, 257].

A detailed review of the advantages and disadvantages of bladder drainage was provided earlier in this chapter. In several single-center studies, the most common indications for enteric conversion were metabolic acidosis (33%), recurrent urinary tract infections (20%), reflux pancreatitis (19%), persistent hematuria (15%), urethritis (6%), anastomotic leaks and fistulas (4%), and duodenal perforation (4%) [35, 38, 254]. Other indications have included urethral disruption and recurrent urine leaks [18, 153, 154]. The timing for enteric conversion shows center-specific variation, between 1 and 72 months posttransplant [22, 35, 255-259]. One large study of 162 conversions reported that the median time to conversion varied by indication: 0.68 years for surgical, 3.1 years for urologic, and 2.7 years for metabolic disorders [38]. Several centers recommend delaying conversion beyond at least 6 months posttransplant to allow monitoring of urinary amylase levels for rejection as long as possible [22, 35]. In the rejection-prone PTA category, the incidence of rejection episodes and the rate of graft loss from rejection was significantly higher if conversion took place <6 (vs.  $\geq$ 6) months posttransplant [35]. Thus, enteric drainage effectively treats complications related to bladder drainage, with an immediate resolution of symptoms, but increases the risk of undetected rejection after conversion.

The operative procedure comprises three steps: (1) division of the duodenocystostomy, (2) closure of the bladder, and (3) construction of a duodenojejunostomy. The following is a description of the technical aspects.

After induction of general endotracheal anesthesia, the patient is placed in a supine position on the operating table. A Foley catheter is placed, but the bladder is not filled with saline. Nasogastric suction, sequential compression devices, and prophylactic antibiotics are used. The abdomen is entered through the previous midline incision, and adhesions between the omentum, small bowel, and abdominal wall are carefully taken down. The patient is placed in the Trendelenburg position, and the duodenocystostomy is identified. Frequently, adhesions between the lateral portion of the duodenocystostomy and retroperitoneum have to be taken down; injury to the external iliac vessels must be carefully avoided. If the patient undergoes conversion because of a urine leak (either arising at the anastomosis itself or originating from the duodenal segment), cultures for aerobic, anaerobic, and fungal analysis are routinely obtained. In the absence of frank peritonitis or massive intra-abdominal abscess(es), the operative procedure continues with circumferential dissection of the duodenocystostomy.

Using electrocautery, the anterior portion of the duodenocystostomy on the bladder side is incised first. The duodenum with the anastomosis (including a small rim of bladder wall) is circumferentially disconnected from the bladder. The posterior cystotomy is closed transversely in three layers with 3-0 absorbable sutures in a running technique. The two innermost layers approximate the mucosa, submucosa, and muscularis. The outer third layer approximates the seromuscular tissue and inverts the two inner suture lines. Before the cystotomy is closed, the bladder is filled with about 200 mL of saline and the Foley catheter is clamped. If the patient previously underwent a kidney transplant, filling of the bladder prevents inadvertent inclusion of the neo-ureteral orifice in the suture line.

The graft duodenum can be anastomosed directly (side-toside anastomosis) or to a Roux-en-Y limb of the recipient's small bowel. A Roux-en-Y loop is preferred if the patient requires high steroid doses or has a history of wound healing complications, a previous duodenal leak, or a thin and friable duodenum. For anastomosis, the recipient jejunum 40–100 cm behind the ligament of Treitz is preferred, but sometimes only an ileal loop reaches down to the graft easily.

If a side-to-side duodenojejunostomy without the formation of a Roux-en-Y loop is constructed, a two-layer anastomosis is made (Fig. 29.2). The outer posterior layer is constructed first with interrupted 4-0 nonabsorbable sutures. Bowel clamps are used on the recipient jejunum about 10-15 cm proximal and distal to the anastomosis. A jejunotomy (or ileotomy) of appropriate length is made antimesenterically, opposite from the graft duodenotomy. The inner layer is then constructed between the graft duodenum and recipient jejunum with 4-0 absorbable sutures in a running fashion to achieve thorough hemostasis. Care is taken not to include the papilla of Vater in the suture line. If a rim of bladder wall stays with the graft duodenum, no attempts are made to remove the small cuff or the staples; the rim is incorporated into the inner layer of the anastomosis. Closedsuction drains are selectively used. The bowel clamps are removed after the inner layer is completed. The anastomosis is completed with an outer anterior layer with interrupted 4-0 absorbable sutures. If the distal duodenal stump is long, an end-to-side duodenojejunostomy can be created; the previous duodenotomy should be closed in two layers (Fig. 29.3).

If a Roux-en-Y loop is used, the recipient jejunum is brought down to the level of the graft duodenum to ensure that the mesentery of the jejunum is long enough to reach the graft without tension. The jejunum is divided with a GIA stapler, and the mesentery is divided between clamps (Fig. 29.4). The stapled distal end of the jejunum is oversewn with running or interrupted 4-0 nonabsorbable sutures. The technical aspects of constructing the duodenojejunostomy are described above. The proximal end of the Roux limb is then anastomosed to a point on the distal bowel 40 cm distal to the duodenojejunostomy (Fig. 29.5). Doing so ensures an adequate defunctionalized limb for drainage of the pancreas graft. If a segmental graft is converted from bladder to enteric drainage, a Roux-en-Y loop should be used to reduce the complications resulting from a leak at the pancreaticojejunostomy.

Foley catheter bladder drainage is usually maintained for up to 2 weeks. The nasogastric tube drain is maintained for a couple of days or until the return of bowel function.

Enteric conversion in large patient series has shown to be a safe procedure and to not increase the risk of pancreas (or kidney) graft loss [35, 36, 38, 257]. However, smaller patient series have reported postoperative morbidity including reoperation and graft loss [39, 254].

Technical complications are reported in 10–25% of patients after conversion, including anastomotic leaks, duodenal perforations, and graft pancreatitis [22, 36, 38, 39, 254]. Unusual complications such as enterovesical fistula and bladder rupture have also been noted after conversion [37, 260].

Perioperative treatment with octreotide has been reported to minimize technical complications after enteric drainage (150 mg three times/day for a total of 3 days) [261]. Postoperative monitoring of serum amylase levels appears to be helpful: Levels of  $\geq 200$  U/L for more than 4 days after conversion frequently indicate a technical complication, specifically in retransplants [262]. Under those circumstances, early reexploration is crucial because most recipients with complications after conversion can be successfully treated with primary repair and drain placement [263–266]. If primary repair is not technically feasible, exclusion of the graft duodenum to the abdominal wall is a viable alternative. In a retrospective study, West et al. reported no increased risk of graft loss with exclusion of the graft duodenum [35, 36].

### **Graft Pancreatectomy**

Only about 20–50% of all pancreas graft failures require graft pancreatectomy [267]. The vast majority of these procedures are total graft pancreatectomies but segmental pancreatectomies have also been described, in particular, distal resections in case of partial allograft thrombosis.

Graft pancreatectomy can be a very challenging procedure given the proximity of the iliac vessels and/or the presence of extensive adhesions irrespective of whether the graft is swollen or shrunken in size. Several blood units should always be typed and crossed before the patient is taken to the operating room and intraoperative bowel and vascular injuries must be avoided.

Graft pancreatectomy can be categorized into three types according to the timing, technical difficulty, and cause of graft loss:

 Early pancreatectomy (≤3 weeks posttransplant): Usually, adhesions are few and the pancreas can easily be mobilized from surrounding tissues. Most patients with early graft loss require graft pancreatectomy [268].

Early graft pancreatectomy is usually required for graft thrombosis and much less frequently for severe graft pancreatitis. Graft thrombosis has traditionally been associated with "technical" complications, but acute pancreas rejection has also been implicated as a potential cause of early graft thrombosis. In fact, one study noted unsuspected acute pancreas rejection to be quite common in explanted grafts, but the case numbers were relatively small [269]. Of graft thromboses, about 60% are venous and 40% arterial. They differ in timing and symptoms. Most venous thromboses occur within the first week, and patients have severe and unrelenting abdominal pain. Clinical symptoms are consistent with an acute abdomen and include abdominal distention, tenderness to percussion and palpation (in particular over the graft), peritoneal guarding, and, after bladder-drained transplants, discharge of bloody urine that frequently contains duodenal debris. Arterial thrombosis occurs slightly later, with peaks in the first and second weeks posttransplant. Initially, patients are relatively asymptomatic, but symptoms develop once the necrotic graft becomes infected.

A sharp increase in serum glucose levels over a short period of time is observed for both venous and arterial thrombosis. Although graft salvage has been reported, graft thrombosis usually mandates graft pancreatectomy. However, if graft thrombosis is limited to the splenic vein or to only one graft artery (superior mesenteric or splenic artery), only a partial pancreatectomy can be performed.

In selected patients with early graft pancreatectomy (secondary to graft thrombosis), a concurrent or simultaneous pancreas re-transplant (synonyms: pancreas exchange, pancreas switch) can be considered [270] if (1) the recipient is clinically stable, with no evidence of intra-abdominal infection and (2) another donor organ is immediately available (see above).

2. Intermediate pancreatectomy >3 weeks and ≤3 months: adhesions between the graft and surrounding abdominal structures (bowel, omentum, ovaries, and colon) are common and frequently require sharp dissection.

The most common causes are infection and graft pancreatitis. In contrast to graft thrombosis, infection and pancreatitis require graft pancreatectomy less commonly, thanks to improvements in antimicrobial prophylaxis and therapy, placement of percutaneous drains, and surgical placement of irrigation and drainage systems. In this category, simultaneously retransplanting another pancreas graft is frequently not possible, because of the high rate of intra-abdominal infection (abscess, peritonitis), with or without peripancreatitis (tissue debris and necrosis). The rupture of a mycotic aneurysm with or without intragraft bleeding or necrosis, usually between >3 weeks and  $\leq$ 3 months posttransplant, is an absolute emergency that requires both graft pancreatectomy and (frequently complex) vascular reconstruction of the recipient's blood vessels. If complete graft pancreatectomy is not safely possible, as much graft tissue as possible (including the graft duodenum) must be removed. Mycotic aneurysms with subsequent ruptures are frequently the result of infections and inadequate antimicrobial treatment. In such cases, an immediate retransplant is not an option for obvious reasons.

3. Late pancreatectomy (>3 months): The graft is frequently shrunken and is in close proximity to the recipient's vessels. Completely removing it without injury to the recipient's native vessels is challenging and sometimes not possible. The most common indication for late pancreatectomy is rejection, followed by infection and late (arterial) thrombosis. Other causes such as arterio-enteric (or vesical) fistula or pseudoaneurysm (with or without rupture) are rare and usually require intermediate or late pancreatectomy [268]. Graft pancreatectomy in the presence of an arterio-enteric (or arterio-vesical) fistula or a pseudoaneurysm (with or without rupture) can be technically a very challenging procedure and control of the recipient inflow and outflow vessels is crucial. Patients with chronic or irreversible acute rejection usually require graft pancreatectomy only when abdominal symptoms such as abdominal discomfort, pain, and/or nausea develop [268]. In the absence of intra-abdominal infection, these patients can undergo a simultaneous retransplant without an increased risk of surgical complications.

If graft pancreatectomy is performed due to thrombosis and if thrombotic material has been detected by imaging studies in the vena cava even before surgery, placement of a filter should be considered before taking the patient to the operating room in order to decrease the risk of pulmonary embolism.

Irrespective of the timing of graft pancreatectomy, preoperative preparation for patients undergoing graft pancreatectomy is no different than for any other major abdominal procedure. After induction of anesthesia, a central line catheter, a Foley catheter, and a nasogastric tube are placed; prophylactic antibiotics and sequential compression devices are routinely used. The abdomen is entered via the previous (midline) incision. All adhesions between the omentum, small bowel, abdominal wall, and pancreas graft are taken down by blunt and sharp dissection. The following is a description of pancreatectomy for grafts with systemic vein and enteric drainage.

Before the pancreas is fully mobilized, it is crucial to obtain both proximal and distal control of the iliac arteries and veins, in particular, if the graft is swollen and necrotic because of venous thrombosis. The common, external, and internal iliac vessels are identified, and vessel loops are passed around them in case they need to be clamped (e.g., bleeding). Propagation of the graft thrombus into the iliac vein results in leg swelling that can be profound and painful. If the patient has symptoms of deep venous thrombosis or even phlegmasia cerulea dolens, the leg should also be prepped and draped in standard fashion for venous thrombectomy, either from the site of the venous anastomosis or through a separate groin incision.

After control of the iliac vessels is obtained, the enteric anastomosis is taken down with electrocautery or stapled off if a Roux limb had been used for anastomosis. Doing so allows mobilization of the graft duodenum and head of the pancreas.

In case of venous graft thrombosis with a massively enlarged and immobile pancreas, control is best achieved by clamping the recipient's iliac arteries (common, external, and internal) and iliac veins (common and external) proximally and distally. If the graft thrombus has propagated into the iliac vein, the common iliac vein must be dissected with utmost care to avoid embolization of any thrombi. Therefore, placing the proximal venous clamp above the tip of any thrombotic material is crucial to prevent pulmonary embolism. Rarely, a thrombus extends all the way into the inferior vena cava; in most cases, clamping of the proximal common iliac vein suffices. But, sometimes it is necessary to use a curved Cooley clamp to gain additional control of the distal vena cava. Once all clamps are placed, the graft vessels are divided 1 cm distal to their respective anastomoses; all thrombotic material is removed, and the iliac vein and artery are flushed with heparin-containing solution. If the common iliac vein or distal vena cava cannot be identified and dissected free, a caval filter may be placed under fluoroscopy guidance via the internal jugular vein. Thrombotic material can then be removed via a separate groin incision, or thrombolytic therapy can be initiated.

If the patient has symptoms consistent with deep vein thrombosis, the thrombotic material can be removed either from the site of the venous anastomosis or through a separate groin incision. After proximal control of the iliac vein has been achieved, Esmarch rubber stockings are applied tightly from the ankle all the way up to the groin to squeeze out all thrombotic material. Once venous backflow is brisk, heparinized saline is injected distally and the vein is reclamped. Likewise, all thrombotic material that has extended proximally beyond the anastomosis is removed. The proximal vein is irrigated with the heparin-containing solution. The vein (or graft portal vein stump) is closed with a single running 4-0 or 5-0 nonabsorbable suture, avoiding any narrowing of the iliac vein. First the distal, and then the proximal, clamp on the iliac vein is removed.

Rarely, a thrombus in the graft artery extends into the common or external iliac artery. If so, a standard arterial thrombectomy is performed through the graft arterial stump or a separate groin incision. Once all thrombotic material is removed, the artery is flushed with heparin. The graft arterial stump is ligated with a silk tie and then suture ligated.

If the pancreas graft is not removed because of venous thrombosis and the operative field is dry, clamping of the iliac vessels may not be necessary. Under those circumstances, arterial anastomosis should be identified first. The inflow vessel should be ligated approximately 1 cm distal to the anastomosis on the side of the graft. The donor portal vein can then be clamped and divided. The pancreas graft is removed. The arterial and venous stumps are ligated and oversewn with running 4-0 or 5-0 nonabsorbable sutures.

With systemic vein and enteric drainage, the following options exist for taking down the enteric anastomosis:

- 1. If a Roux-en-Y limb was used, it should be shortened close to the duodenojejunostomy with a GIA stapler. The staple line is oversewn with interrupted 4-0 nonabsorbable sutures.
- 2. If a side-to-side anastomosis was constructed, a cuff of donor duodenum (if viable) with the stapled anastomosis should remain with the native jejunum. Usually, the jejunostomy can then be horizontally closed in two layers. If the jejunostomy is too big, this segment of bowel should be resected and a two-layer (end-to-end) anastomosis is constructed. In the presence of diffuse peritonitis, the jejunostomy can be externalized (loop jejunostomy); only if the jejunostomy is too big does this segment of bowel have to be resected, and two ostomies may have to be brought out. Depending on the patient's clinical condition, the ostomies are usually taken down 2–6 months after their construction.

With portal vein and enteric drainage, the technical concept of graft pancreatectomy is similar: After mobilization of the pancreas, the duodenojejunostomy is taken down. The recipient jejunum is closed horizontally (side-to-side anastomosis) or stapled across close to the jejunojejunostomy (Roux-en-Y loop). Ostomies are constructed in case of massive intra-abdominal infection. The long arterial Y-graft usually does not require proximal and distal control of the common iliac artery. The Y-graft is oversewn with a single running 5-0 nonabsorbable suture close to the recipient's common iliac artery. The venous anastomosis is taken down by placing a clamp on the graft portal vein (in the absence of venous thrombosis) or placing clamps proximally and distally on the recipient's superior mesenteric vein (in the presence of venous thrombosis). After the graft portal vein is divided about 1 cm distal to the anastomosis, the recipient's superior mesenteric vein is flushed with heparin and all thrombotic material is removed. The superior mesenteric vein (or the graft portal vein stump) is oversewn with a single running 5-0 nonabsorbable suture. Mesenteric thrombosis with bowel necrosis or liver failure is rare, given the location of the graft portal vein anastomosis (distal to the confluence of the superior mesenteric and splenic vein) and the presence of venous collaterals. In a retrospective study by Stratta et al., portal vein and enteric drainage did not place patients at an increased risk for pancreatectomy, but the incidence of pancreatectomy was higher than with systemic vein and bladder drainage [160].

With systemic vein and bladder drainage, the following approach to graft pancreatectomy should be chosen: after control of the iliac vessels is obtained, the bladder anastomosis is taken down with electrocautery. Doing so allows mobilization of the graft duodenum and head of the pancreas.

The bladder is closed in standard fashion using a threelayer closure (absorbable 3-0 or 4-0 sutures). The whole duodenum and the stapled anastomosis remain with the graft. In patients with a kidney graft, care is taken to not include the ureteral orifice in the bladder closure line. To avoid this complication, the bladder is filled with about 200–300 mL of saline for bladder expansion, and the Foley catheter is clamped. The pancreatic bed is then inspected, and the abdomen is irrigated with copious amounts of antifungal and antibiotic solutions. If the graft pancreatectomy is performed for infection or graft pancreatitis, cultures are taken and sent for aerobic, anaerobic, and fungal analysis.

If graft pancreatectomy becomes necessary >3 months or even years posttransplant (e.g., because of chronic abdominal pain from a rejected pancreas graft) and if the fibrotic graft is markedly shrunken and the graft vessels cannot be isolated, most of the pancreatic remnant should be removed. The cut surface is oversewn with a single running 3-0 or 4-0 absorbable suture. The graft duodenum should always be disconnected from the bladder and removed; it is frequently an ongoing source of infection (e.g., recurrent urinary tract infections) because of impaired blood supply. If the whole pancreaticoduodenal graft cannot be removed, the duodenum should be amputated at the head of the pancreas. The resection line is oversewn with 3-0 or 4-0 nonabsorbable sutures in running fashion. If the pancreas can be resected, proximal and distal control of the iliac vessels is as important for late as for early pancreatectomy.

In case of inadvertent damage to the iliac artery and vein during pancreatectomy, repair is crucial to prevent subsequent thrombosis. If a segment of the iliac artery or vein has to be resected, an interposition graft (internal iliac artery and saphenous vein) can be used. In the presence of infection, prosthetic material should be avoided because of the risk of anastomotic leaks and pseudoaneurysms.

Placement of drains after graft pancreatectomy is usually not necessary. Only in the presence of massive infection should an irrigation and drainage system be placed (see above). Once hemostasis is achieved, the abdomen is closed in standard fashion.

Since graft pancreatectomy can be a very challenging procedure, morbidity and mortality are not insignificant. Complications have included postoperative pulmonary embolism (resulting in death), pseudoaneurysm formation, bleeding, injury to the patient's vascular structures with the need for bypass procedures and more [268]. Of note, one large study of 50 late graft pancreatectomies showed that the procedure was not associated with a decrease in kidney graft survival in SPK recipients [267].

In the rare event of early distal graft pancreatectomy for the treatment of partial graft thrombosis, the distal segment is resected with or without the use of a stapler. The stump is closed in two layers in a typical fashion.

Rarely, graft pancreatectomy is performed simultaneously with an immediate islet retransplant (islets prepared from the same allograft). The resected allograft is digested in a collagenase preparation and the islets are harvested according to standard islet protocols (see Chap. 84). The main indication for this procedure is recurrent graft pancreatitis (especially if the patient already underwent conversion from the bladder to enteric drainage). However, islets from the same allograft should only be used in the absence of concurrent intra-abdominal infection. It has been hypothesized that successful engraftment and maintenance of islet function with standard immunosuppression are possible, given adequate islet mass and previous exposure of the peripancreatic lymphoid tissue to the recipient's immune system [271].

## **Pancreas Retransplants**

The topic of pancreas retransplantation is covered in detail in Chap. 70.

This subchapter just provides a brief general overview with a focus on technical considerations for pancreas retransplantation.

According to US IPTR/UNOS data, the number of retransplants per year reached a peak of 9% in 2004 but declined constantly thereafter. In 2019, only 2% of all pancreas transplants were retransplanted. The decline is due to the decreasing number of PAKs which represents the most frequent retransplant category (see Chaps. 66 and 70). Most primary transplants are SPKs where the pancreas failed but

the transplanted kidney continues to function [8, 272–285]. The most common indications for pancreas retransplants are technical failures (52%) (i.e., thrombosis [42%], infection/ graft pancreatitis [7%], other [3%]) and rejection (35%). Retransplant outcome, as shown in Chaps. 66 and 70, is similar to that of primary transplants including technical and immunological graft loss rates despite the fact that retransplant candidates are usually more sensitized than primary transplant candidates [267, 276-278]. Similar outcome has been shown both for immediate retransplants (pancreas exchange or pancreas switch [270, 274, 279] and late retransplants [277, 278, 280]. Only one study using UNOS data showed worse outcomes with retransplants, but that study did not provide a comparison between primary and retransplants by recipient category. Hence, this analysis is flawed since most primary transplants are SPKs whereas most retransplants are in the solitary categories (mostly [re-] PAKs) [281]. As shown for primary transplants, re-SPKs provide better outcomes than solitary (PAK, PTA)retransplants [267, 281-283]. Several single-center studies have also shown good outcomes with third and fourth pancreas transplants [284, 285]. Detailed outcome analyses are provided in Chaps. 66 and 70.

In general, pancreas retransplants can present challenges to the surgeon because of their technical complexity; previous (and sometimes multiple) transplants, laparotomies, and pancreatectomies make vascular dissection even more difficult. The need for additional procedures such as extensive adhesiolysis, removal of previously implanted grafts, and small bowel resection(s) can make retransplants technically very demanding [286]. In preparation for a retransplant it has been recommended to procure a greater number of vascular grafts from the donor since unusual and complex vascular reconstructions are more common [278, 280]. Nonetheless, the results of retransplants have significantly improved over time. A retransplant should now routinely be offered to recipients with a failed pancreas graft just as it is, for example, to recipients with a failed kidney graft. Yet pancreas retransplants are less practiced than for other solid organs. In fact, the quest for a pancreas retransplant is very frequently patient-driven: recipients who have experienced an insulin-free interval after their previous transplant are eager to pursue another one [280, 287].

From the surgical perspective, pancreas retransplants require versatility and technical competence to manange unexpected findings and apply unusual solutions [278, 280, 282]. Technically successful pancreas retransplants can be done with systemic or portal vein drainage and with enteric (including duodenal and gastric) or bladder exocrine drainage. For retransplants, the two different venous drainage techniques are even more complementary than for primary transplants, because access to previously undissected vascular structures decreases the risk of technical complications and reduces operative time. Thus, a patient with a failed graft with systemic vein drainage may undergo a retransplant with portal vein drainage (and vice versa); portal vein drainage can be combined with enteric or duodenal drainage for the management of exocrine secretions. A patient with a failed graft with bladder drainage may undergo a retransplant with enteric drainage (and vice versa). The key word is technical flexibility because it may not be feasible to use the standard vascular sites in the recipient to connect the graft. Hence, the new pancreas graft may not be positioned where initially intended but where possible [280].

The two most common scenarios under which pancreas retransplants are performed are (1) graft loss for technical reasons which usually results in graft removal and (2) graft loss for immunological reasons which usually does not result in graft removal. The former permits the retransplant to be performed with greater technical ease and shorter operative time, the latter does not. These two scenarios can also determine whether the same or different drainage techniques are utilized [280]. If the reason for immunological graft loss was not rejection but recurrence of disease (diabetes), the prior graft can act as an antigenic stimulus and trigger an autoimmune response that can jeopardize the new graft; in this case, a different immunological protocol should be implemented [280, 288].

Preoperative preparation of patients undergoing a pancreas retransplant is basically no different than with a primary pancreas transplant or any other major abdominal surgery. Central vein and arterial lines, nasogastric suction, Foley catheter bladder drainage, prophylactic antimicrobial prophylaxis, and sequential compression devices are all routinely used. Immunosuppressive medication is per protocol; the first dose of anti-T-cell therapy is usually given after induction of anesthesia.

The previous (midline) incision is opened and all adhesions between the omentum, small and large intestine, and abdominal wall are carefully taken down to avoid any accidental enterotomies. Self-retaining retractors are placed and the abdomen is explored. If evidence of infection is noted, the procedure should be aborted at this time; cultures should be sent for analysis to allow specific and efficient treatment with antibiotics. Once the infection has cleared, the patient can be placed on the waiting list again.

If the previous graft used systemic vein drainage, is still in place, and is of (near) normal size, and if the new graft is to be implanted at the same site, the previous graft must be removed. The anastomosis of the graft duodenum to the recipient's small bowel or bladder is identified first.

If the previous graft used enteric drainage, the native bowel is clamped proximally and distally to the side-toside anastomosis (or distally to the anastomosis if a Rouxen-Y loop was used), and the duodenojejunostomy is taken down. A small rim of graft duodenum with the previous side-to-side anastomosis remains with the native small bowel to facilitate horizontal closure of the jejunum. If a Roux-en-Y loop was used, the native bowel is stapled across, just distal to the duodenojejunostomy, and the stapler line is oversewn; the Roux limb can then be reused for the new duodenojejunostomy.

If the previous graft used bladder drainage, the duodenocystostomy is taken down by leaving a small rim of bladder wall with the previous anastomosis on the side of the graft duodenum. If enteric drainage is chosen for the retransplant, the bladder is closed in three layers as described above. If bladder drainage is chosen again, the bladder is left open for the construction of a new hand-sewn or stapled duodenocystostomy at the same site.

Once the anastomosis to the graft duodenum is taken down, the previous pancreas graft is fully mobilized by taking down all adhesions to the small and large bowel, omentum, and possibly the bladder. In female recipients, adhesions to the ovaries and the uterus may also have to be taken down.

In preparation for graft pancreatectomy, the proximal and distal iliac vessels are clamped. The arterial anastomosis is identified and divided about 1 cm distal to the anastomosis. The iliac artery is flushed with heparinized solution. Likewise, the donor portal vein is cut about 1 cm distal to the anastomosis. The portal vein stump and the recipient iliac vein are flushed with heparinized solution. The graft portal vein and artery stumps are only oversewn if different sites are chosen for the construction of the new anastomoses. Depending on the size of the new graft vessels, the previous anastomotic site can frequently be reused. The new anastomoses can be done either directly to the recipient iliac vessels at the previous anastomotic sites or to the stumps of the previous arterial and venous grafts. However, the infrarenal vena cava and the proximal iliac artery are frequently chosen for vascular implantation for sites [277, 280, 282, 289]. The technical aspects for construction of the vascular anastomoses are no different for retransplants (vs. primary transplants).

If the new graft also uses enteric drainage, the previous side-to-side anastomosis can be re-used or, in case of possible stenosis, a new two-layer side-to-side anastomosis needs to be constructed. If a Roux-en-Y loop was previously used, that limb can be used again. The technical considerations are the same if duodenal (rather than enteric/jejunal) drainage is used.

If the new graft uses bladder drainage again, it is usually safest to construct a hand-sewn two-layer duodenocystostomy. Only if the cystotomy after the takedown of the anastomosis is small can an EEA-stapler anastomosis be constructed. In preparation for a stapled anastomosis, the previous anterior cystotomy is reopened and the previous posterior cystotomy is purse-stringed around the rod of the stapler. The stapler is fired in standard fashion. The staple line is reinforced internally or externally using 4-0 nonabsorbable sutures.

If the retransplant is performed months or even years after the previous transplant, the previous graft is often fibrotic and completely shriveled down to the size of a large walnut or plum. Graft pancreatectomy can then be extremely difficult. Under those circumstances, it might be prudent to leave the previous graft in place (in particular in asymptomatic recipients). The new graft can be implanted further proximally, either to the common iliac vessels or to the distal aorta and infrarenal vena cava. Only rarely it is technically feasible to implant the new graft distal to the previous graft. Irrespective of whether or not the previous graft duodenum is shriveled, the duodenocystostomy should be taken down in cases with previous bladder drainage. The graft duodenum must be amputated off the head of the pancreas, with the resection line on the pancreas side oversewn. Removal of the graft duodenum is important as it may harbor microbes that continue to cause recurrent urinary tract infections. In cases of previous enteric drainage, the duodenojejunostomy must only be taken down if the anastomosis is not widely patent, the graft duodenum is thin and friable (actually, most of the time, it is scarred and fibrotic from rejection and atrophy), or if there is a concern for the development of an enteric or arterio-enteric fistula [278].

If the previous graft had been removed earlier, in a separate procedure, a pancreas retransplant is obviously less time-consuming and requires only identification and dissection of appropriate sites for vascular implantation. The duodenojejunostomy, duodenoduodenostomy, or duodenocystostomy can be constructed in the same fashion as for primary transplants.

If a functioning kidney graft is still in place and had been anastomosed to the left external iliac artery and vein, every attempt should be made to use the proximal common iliac artery and vein on the right side for a pancreas retransplant. If doing so is technically not feasible, the aorta and vena cava and sometimes even the left common iliac vessels can be used for graft anastomoses. In preparation for kidney graft clamping (in case a side-binding clamp cannot be used on the aorta), the recipient should be fluid-flushed and given furosemide and mannitol as well as systemic heparin (30 U/ kg). I have not lost a kidney graft to prolonged warm ischemia time, but adequate preparation and quick completion of the anastomoses are crucial. Under such circumstances, portal vein drainage of the pancreas graft may be considered a viable alternative since only the arterial anastomosis requires iliac or infrarenal aortic inflow whereas the donor portal vein can be anastomosed in undisturbed ("virgin") territory to the recipient portal/SMV complex.

Thus, unless an early pancreatectomy (usually secondary to thrombosis; see above) can be done with an immediate retransplant using the same recipient vascular sites for inand outflow (pancreas exchange or pancreas switch) [270, 274, 279], the choice for appropriate vascular sites frequently requires some creativity. Not only can the iliac vessels proximally or distally to the previous sites be used, but also the contralateral iliac vessels (or a combination of ipsi- and contralateral vessels, e.g., long Y-graft to the left common iliac artery, graft portal vein to the right common iliac vein), the vessel stumps of previous grafts (both pancreas and kidney), or the infrarenal aortic and cava. In fact, if systemic vein drainage is again chosen for the retransplant, the right common iliac artery and the infrarenal vena cava are most commonly selected as vascular sites [280]. Alternatively, especially in patients with more than one retransplant, portal vein drainage should be considered in a previously undissected area of the abdomen, making optimal use of the different options for pancreas re-engraftment.

If the failed pancreas transplant used portal vein drainage, so can the next retransplanted graft. In most cases, the new site of the venous anastomosis (if the previous graft was removed in a separate procedure) should be proximal or distal to the previous anastomotic site on the superior mesenteric vein [275]. Alternatively, a large tributary to the SMV, a large IMV, or possibly the proximal splenic vein (via an extension or jump graft) can be used. If the previous graft is removed at the time of the retransplant, the stump of the previous graft vessel can also be used. Alternatively, to avoid extensive dissection in an area previously operated on, systemic vein drainage can be used, also utilizing the vena cava if the pancreatic head is already placed in a cephalad position and the common iliac vein cannot be reached. Again, the key to successful vascular reimplantation is technical flexibility on part of the transplant surgeon and considering all the different options for pancreas re-engraftment.

In case of inadvertent injury to the iliac artery or vein during the retransplant, an interposition graft of the donor iliac artery or vein can be used. Prosthetic material should be avoided to prevent subsequent infection.

If a prior kidney transplant is removed and replaced through a midline incision as part of a re-SPK, graft nephrectomy is performed using the extracapsular technique because only individual ligation of the renal artery and vein is required [282]. Even if the previous kidney graft is in a retroperitoneal position (PAK category), the extracapsular technique is preferred over intracapsular dissection since control of the major renal vessels, and not just of the renal hilum, is warranted. As for a pancreas retransplant, flexibility in determining the optimal site for implantation of the kidney retransplant is required [282].

Peritransplant care with either systemic or portal vein drainage is not different for pancreas retransplants vs. primary transplants (see Chap. 40). Likewise, the spectrum of surgical complications is as similar (see Chap. 42) as for primary transplants [277, 278, 280, 282].

## References

1. Kelly WD, Lillehei RC, Merkel FK, Idezuki Y, Goetz FC. Allotransplantation of the pancreas and duodenum along with the kidney in diabetic nephropathy. Surgery. 1967;61:827–37.

- Stratta RJ, Gaber AO, Shokouh-Amiri MH, et al. Evolution in pancreas transplantation techniques: simultaneous kidney-pancreas transplantation using portal-enteric drainage without antilymphocyte induction. Ann Surg. 1999;229:701–8.
- Lillehei RC, Simmons RL, Najarian JS, et al. Pancreaticoduodenal allotransplantation: experimental and clinical experience. Ann Surg. 1970;172:405–36.
- Gliedman ML, Gold M, Whittaker J, et al. Pancreatic duct to ureter anastomosis for exocrine drainage in pancreatic transplantation. Am J Surg. 1973;125:245–52.
- Sollinger HW, Cook K, Kamps D, Glass NR, Belzer FO. Clinical and experimental experience with pancreaticocystostomy for exocrine pancreatic drainage in pancreas transplantation. Transplant Proc. 1984;16:749–51.
- Gil-Vernet JM, Femandez-Cruz L, Caralps A, Andreu J, Figuerola D. Whole organ and pancreaticoureterostomy in clinical pancreas transplantation. Transplant Proc. 1985;17:2019–22.
- Nghiem DD, Corry RJ. Technique of simultaneous renal pancreatoduodenal transplantation with urinary drainage of pancreatic secretion. Am J Surg. 1987;153:405–6.
- 8. Gruessner AC. Personal communication. June 2021.
- Prieto M, Sutherland DE, Goetz FC, Rosenberg ME, Najarian JS. Pancreas transplant results according to the technique of duct management: bladder versus enteric drainage. Surgery. 1987;102:680–91.
- Gruessner RW, Sutherland DE, Troppmann C, et al. The surgical risk of pancreas transplantation in the cyclosporine era: an overview. J Am Coll Surg. 1997;185:128–44.
- Prieto M, Sutherland DE, Femandez-Cruz L, Heil J, Najarian JS. Experimental and clinical experience with urine amylase monitoring for early diagnosis of rejection in pancreas transplantation. Transplantation. 1987;43:73–9.
- Sollinger HW, Pirsch JD, D'Alessandro AM, Kalayoglu M, Belzer FO. Advantages of bladder drainage in pancreas transplantation: a personal view. Clin Transpl. 1990;4:32–6.
- Aideyan OA, Schmidt AJ, Trenkner SW, Hakim NS, Gruessner RW, Walsh JW. CT-guided percutaneous biopsy of pancreas transplants. Radiology. 1996;201:825–8.
- Bartlett ST, Schweitzer EJ, Johnson LB, et al. Equivalent success of simultaneous pancreas kidney and solitary pancreas transplantation. A prospective trial of tacrolimus immunosuppression with percutaneous biopsy. Ann Surg. 1996;224:440–9.
- Klassen DK, Weir MR, Cangro CB, Bartlett ST, et al. Pancreas allograft biopsy: safety of percutaneous biopsy-results of a large experience. Transplantation. 2002;73(4):553–5.
- Perkins JD, Munn SR, Marsh CL, Barr D, Engen DE, Carpenter HA. Safety and efficacy of cystoscopically directed biopsy in pancreas transplantation. Transplant Proc. 1990;22:665–6.
- Jones JW, Nakhleh RE, Casanova D, Sutherland DE, Gruessner RW. Cystoscopic transduodenal pancreas transplant biopsy: a new needle. Transplant Proc. 1994;26(2):527–8.
- Casanova D, Gruessner R, Brayman K, Jessurun J, Dunn D, Xenos E, Sutherland DE. Retrospective analysis of the role of pancreatic biopsy (open and transcystoscopic technique) in the management of solitary pancreas transplants. Transplant Proc. 1993;25(1 Pt 2):1192–3.
- Laftavi MR, Gruessner AC, Bland BJ, et al. Diagnosis of pancreas rejection: cystoscopic transduodenal versus percutaneous computed tomography scan-guided biopsy. Transplantation. 1998;65:528–32.
- Gaber AO, Shokouh-Amiri MH, Hathaway DK, et al. Results of pancreas transplantation with portal venous and enteric drainage. Ann Surg. 1995;221:613–22.
- Rogers J, Farney AC, Orlando G, Farooq U, et al. Pancreas transplantation with portal venous drainage with an emphasis on technical aspects. Clin Transpl. 2014;28(1):16–26.

- Sindhi R, Stratta RJ, Lowell JA, et al. Experience with enteric conversion after pancreatic transplantation with bladder drainage. J Am Coll Surg. 1997;184:281–9.
- See WA, Smith JL. Activated proteolytic enzymes in the urine of whole organ pancreas transplant patients with duodenocystostomy. Transplant Proc. 1991;23:1615–6.
- Tom WW, Munda R, First MR, Alexander JW. Autodigestion of the glans penis and urethra by activated transplant pancreatic exocrine enzymes. Surgery. 1987;102:99–101.
- Mullaney JM, DeMeo JH, Ham JM. Enzymatic digestion of the urethra after pancreas transplantation: a case report. Abdom Imaging. 1995;20:563–5.
- Rha KH, Jarrett TW, Bove P, Ong AM, et al. Urethral stricture after pancreas-kidney transplantation due to polypoid urethritis. Urology. 2004;64(5):1030.
- Dholakia J, Bartholomew D. Vulvar edema as presenting complication of simultaneous pancreas-kidney transplantation with bladder drainage. J Low Genit Tract Dis. 2019;23(1):82–3.
- Serrano OK, Wagner SL, Sun S, Kandaswamy R. Preneoplastic lesion in a pancreas allograft: dilemma for the pancreas transplant surgeon. Transplant Proc. 2018;50(10):3694–7.
- Pearson TC, Santamaria PJ, Routenberg KL, et al. Drainage of the exocrine pancreas in clinical transplantation: comparison of bladder versus enteric drainage in a consecutive series. Clin Transpl. 1997;11:201–5.
- Sollinger HW, Messing EM, Eckhoff DE, et al. Urological complications in 210 consecutive simultaneous pancreas-kidney transplants with bladder drainage. Ann Surg. 1993;218:561–8.
- Ploeg RJ, Eckhoff DE, D'Alessandro AM, et al. Urological complications and enteric conversion after pancreas transplantation with bladder drainage. Transplant Proc. 1994;26:458–9.
- Filmer RB, Spencer JR. Malignancies in bladder augmentations and intestinal conduits. J Urol. 1990;143:671–8.
- Nghiem DD, Kessler GM, Olson PR. Effects of long-term exposure to urine on proliferative lesions of the duodenum in bladderdrained pancreas transplants. Transplant Proc. 1995;27:3004–6.
- 34. Nakhleh RE, Gruessner RWG, Tzardis PJ, Dunn DL, Sutherland DER. Pathology of transplanted human duodenal tissue: a histologic study, with comparison to pancreatic pathology in resected pancreaticoduodenal transplants. Clin Transpl. 1991;5:241–7.
- West M, Gruessner AC, Metrakos P, Sutherland DE, Gruessner RW. Conversion from bladder to enteric drainage after pancreaticoduodenal transplantations. Surgery. 1998;124:883–93.
- West M, Gruessner AC, Sutherland DE, Gruessner RW. Surgical complications after conversion from bladder to enteric drainage in pancreatieoduodenal transplantation. Transplant Proc. 1998;30:438–9.
- Akateh C, Rajab A, Henry M, El-Hinnawi A. Enterovesical fistula after enteric conversion of a bladder-drained pancreatic allograft: a case report. Exp Clin Transplant. 2019;17(2):274–7.
- Adler JT, Zaborek N, Redfield RR 3rd, Kaufman DB, Odorico JS, Sollinger HW. Enteric conversion after bladder-drained pancreas transplantation is not associated with worse allograft survival. Am J Transplant. 2019 Sep;19(9):2543–9.
- Kleespies A, Mikhailov M, Khalil PN, Preissler G, et al. Enteric conversion after pancreatic transplantation: resolution of symptoms and long-term results. Clin Transpl. 2011;25(4):549–60.
- Groth CG, Collste H, Lundgren G, et al. Successful outcome of segmental human pancreatic transplantation with enteric exocrine diversion after modifications in technique. Lancet. 1982;2:522–4.
- Tyden G, Brattstrom C, Lundgren G, Ostman J, Gunnarsson R, Groth CG. Improved results in pancreatic transplantation by avoidance of nonimmunological graft failures. Transplantation. 1987;43:674–6.
- Starzl TE, Iwatsuki S, Shaw BW Jr, et al. Pancreaticoduodenal transplantation in humans. Surg Gynecol Obstet. 1984;159:265–72.

- 43. Tyden G, Tibell A, Sandberg J, Brattstrom C, Groth CG. Improved results with a simplified technique for pancreaticoduodenal transplantation with enteric exocrine drainage. Clin Transpl. 1996;10:306–9.
- 44. Büsing M, Martin D, Schulz T, et al. Pancreas-kidney transplantation with urinary bladder and enteric exocrine diversion: seventy cases without anastomotic complications. Transplant Proc. 1998;30:434–7.
- 45. Siskind EJ, Amodu LI, Pinto S, Akerman M, Jonsson J, et al. Bladder versus enteric drainage of exocrine secretions in pancreas transplantation: a retrospective analysis of the united network for organ sharing database. Pancreas. 2018;47(5):625–30.
- Stratta RJ, Gaber AO, Shokouh-Amiri MH, et al. A prospective comparison of systemic-bladder versus portal-enteric drainage in vascularized pancreas transplantation. Surgery. 2000;127:217–26.
- 47. Cattral MS, Bigam DL, Hemming AW, Carpentier A, et al. Portal venous and enteric exocrine drainage versus systemic venous and bladder exocrine drainage of pancreas grafts: clinical outcome of 40 consecutive transplant recipients. Ann Surg. 2000;232(5):688–95.
- Adamec M, Janouŝek L, Lipár K, Tosenovský P, et al. A prospective comparison of bladder versus enteric drainage in vascularized pancreas transplantation. Transplant Proc. 2004;36(5):1524–5.
- Douzdjian V, Rajagopalan PR. Primary enteric drainage of the pancreas allograft revisited. J Am Coll Surg. 1997;185:471–5.
- Kuo PC, Johnson LB, Schweitzer EJ, Bartlett ST. Simultaneous pancreas/kidney transplantation—a comparison of enteric and bladder drainage of exocrine pancreatic secretions. Transplantation. 1997;63:238–43.
- Corry RJ, Egidi MF, Shapiro R, et al. Enteric drainage of pancreas transplants revisited. Transplant Proc. 1995;27:3048–9.
- Pirsch JD, Odorico JS, D'Alessandro AM, Knechtle SJ, Becker BN, Sollinger HW. Posttransplant infection in enteric versus bladder-drained simultaneous pancreas-kidney transplant recipients. Transplantation. 1998;66:1746–50.
- 53. Newell KA, Bruce DS, Cronin DC, et al. Comparison of pancreas transplantation with portal venous and enteric exocrine drainage to the standard technique utilizing bladder drainage of exocrine secretions. Transplantation. 1996;62:1353–6.
- Corry RJ, Chakrabarti P, Shapiro R, Jordan ML, Scantlebury VP, Vivas CA. Comparison of enteric versus bladder drainage in pancreas transplantation. Transplant Proc. 2001;33:1647–51.
- 55. Odorico JS, Pirsch JD, Becker YT, et al. Results of solitary pancreas transplantation with enteric drainage: is there a benefit from monitoring urinary amylase levels? Transplant Proc. 2001;33:1700.
- Young CJ. Are there still roles for exocrine bladder drainage and portal venous drainage for pancreatic allografts? Curr Opin Organ Transplant. 2009;14(1):90–4.
- Gruessner AC, Sutherland DE, Gruessner RW. Enteric versus bladder drainage for solitary pancreas transplantation. Transplant Proc. 2001;33:1678–80.
- Calne RY. Paratopic segmental pancreas grafting: a technique with portal venous drainage. Lancet. 1984;1:595–7.
- 59. Gil-Vernet JM, Femandez-Cruz L, Andreu H, Figuerola D, Caralps A. Clinical experience with pancreaticopyelostomy for exocrine pancreatic drainage and portal venous drainage in pancreas transplantation. Transplant Proc. 1985;17:342–5.
- Tyden G, Lundgren G, Ostman J, Gunnarsson R, Groth CG. Grafted pancreas with portal venous drainage. Lancet. 1984;1:964–5.
- Sutherland DE, Goetz FC, Moudry KC, Abouna GM, Najarian JS. Use of recipient mesenteric vessels for revascularization of segmental pancreas grafts: technical and metabolic considerations. Transplant Proc. 1987;19:2300–4.
- 62. Mühlbacher F, Gnant MF, Auinger M, et al. Pancreatic venous drainage to the portal vein: a new method in human pancreas transplantation. Transplant Proc. 1990;22:636–7.

- Klauser R, Mühlbacher F, Gnant M, et al. Pancreatic transplantation with venous portal drainage. Lancet. 1989;2:988.
- Rosenlof LK, Earnhardt RC, Pruett TL, et al. Pancreas transplantation. An initial experience with systemic and portal drainage of pancreatic allografts. Ann Surg. 1992;215:586–95.
- 65. Diem P, Abid M, Redmon JB, Sutherland DE, Robertson RP. Systemic venous drainage of pancreas allografts as independent cause of hyperinsulinemia in type I diabetic recipients. Diabetes. 1990;39:534–40.
- Stout RW, Bierman EL, Ross R. Effect of insulin on the proliferation of cultured primate arterial smooth muscle cells. Circ Res. 1975;36:319–27.
- Stout RW. Insulin and atheroma. 20-yr perspective. Diabetes Care. 1990;13:631–54.
- Goalstone ML, Natarajan R, Standley PR, et al. Insulin potentiates platelet-derived growth factor action in vascular smooth muscle cells. Endocrinology. 1998;139:4067–72.
- Reaven GM. Banting lecture 1988. Role of insulin resistance in human disease. Diabetes. 1988;37:1595–607.
- DeFronzo RA, Ferrannini E. Insulin resistance. A multifaceted syndrome responsible for NIDDM, obesity, hypertension, dyslipidemia, and atherosclerotic cardiovascular disease. Diabetes Care. 1991;14:173–94.
- Keen HL, Brands MW, Smith MJ Jr, Shek EW, Hall JE. Inhibition of thromboxane synthesis attenuates insulin hypertension in rats. Am J Hypertens. 1997;10:1125–31.
- 72. Sobel BE. The potential influence of insulin and plasminogen activator inhibitor type 1 on the formation of vulnerable atherosclerotic plaques associated with type 2 diabetes. Proc Assoc Am Physicians. 1999;111:313–8.
- Bonner G. Hyperinsulinemia, insulin resistance, and hypertension. J Cardiovasc Pharmacol. 1994;24(suppl 2):S39–49.
- Madsbad S, Christiansen E, Tibell A, Tyden G, Rasmussen K, Burcharth F. Beta-cell dysfunction following successful segmental pancreas transplantation. Danish–Swedish study group of metabolic effect of pancreas transplantation. Transplant Proc. 1994;26:469–70.
- Boden G, DeSantis R, Chen X, Morris M, Badoza F. Glucose metabolism and leg blood flow after pancreas/kidney transplantation. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 1993;76:1229–33.
- Boden G, Chen X, Ruiz J, Heifets M, Morris M, Badosa F. Insulin receptor downregulation and impaired antilipolytic action of insulin in diabetic patients after pancreas/kidney transplantation. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 1994;78:657–63.
- Hughes TA, Gaber AO, Amiri HS, et al. Kidney-pancreas transplantation. The effect of portal versus systemic venous drainage of the pancreas on the lipoprotein composition. Transplantation. 1995;60:1406–12.
- Stern MP. Diabetes and cardiovascular disease. The "common soil" hypothesis. Diabetes. 1995;44:369–74.
- Despres JP, Lamarche B, Mauriege P, et al. Hyperinsulinemia as an independent risk factor for ischemic heart disease. N Engl J Med. 1996;334:952–7.
- Osei K. Insulin resistance and systemic hypertension. Am J Cardiol. 1999;84:33J–6J.
- Korhonen S, Hippelainen M, Niskanen L, Vanhala M, Saarikoski S. Relationship of the metabolic syndrome and obesity to polycystic ovary syndrome: a controlled, population based study. Am J Obstet Gynecol. 2001;184:289–96.
- Bagdade JD, Ritter MC, Kitabchi AE, et al. Differing effects of pancreas-kidney transplantation with systemic versus portal venous drainage on cholesteryl ester transfer in IDDM subjects. Diabetes Care. 1996;19:1108–12.
- Bagdade JD, Teuscher AU, Ritter MC, Eckel RH, Robertson RP. Alterations in cholesteryl ester transfer, lipoprotein lipase, and lipoprotein composition after combined pancreas-kidney transplantation. Diabetes. 1998;47:113–8.

- Martin X, Petruzzo P, Dawahra M, et al. Effects of portal versus systemic venous drainage in kidney-pancreas recipients. Transplant Int. 2000;13:64–8.
- Havrdova T, Boucek P, Jedinakova T, Lipar K, et al. Portal versus systemic venous drainage of the pancreatic graft: the effect on glucose metabolism in pancreas and kidney transplant recipients. Transplant Proc. 2014;46(6):1910–2.
- Alonso A, Fernández C, Cillero S, Gómez M, et al. Effects of portal versus systemic venous drainage in pancreas and kidneypancreas transplantation. Transplant Proc. 2007;39(7):2335–7.
- 87. Frystyk J, Ritzel RA, Maubach J, Büsing M, et al. Comparison of pancreas-transplanted type 1 diabetic patients with portalvenous versus systemic-venous graft drainage: impact on glucose regulatory hormones and the growth hormone/insulin-like growth factor-I axis. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2008 May;93(5):1758–66.
- Petruzzo P, Badet L, Lefrançois N, Berthillot C, et al. Metabolic consequences of pancreatic systemic or portal venous drainage in simultaneous pancreas-kidney transplant recipients. Diabet Med. 2006;23(6):654–9.
- Petruzzo P, Laville M, Badet L, Lefrançois N, et al. Effect of venous drainage site on insulin action after simultaneous pancreaskidney transplantation. Transplantation. 2004;77(12):1875–9.
- Earnhardt RC, Kindler DD, Weaver AM, et al. Hyperinsulinemia after pancreatic transplantation. Prediction by a novel computer model and in vivo verification. Ann Surg. 1993;218:428–41.
- Katz H, Homan M, Velosa J, Robertson P, Rizza R. Effects of pancreas transplantation on postprandial glucose metabolism. N Engl J Med. 1991;325:1278–83.
- Hricik DE, Chareandee C, Knauss TC, Schulak JA. Hypertension after pancreas–kidney transplantation: role of bladder versus enteric pancreatic drainage. Transplantation. 2000;70:494–6.
- Fiorina P, La Rocca E, Venturini M, et al. Effects of kidney–pancreas transplantation on atherosclerotic risk factors and endothelial function in patients with uremia and type 1 diabetes. Diabetes. 2001;50:496–501.
- 94. Oliver JB, Beidas AK, Bongu A, Brown L, Shapiro ME. A comparison of long-term outcomes of portal versus systemic venous drainage in pancreatic transplantation: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Clin Transpl. 2015;29(10):882–92.
- Cantor HM, Dumont AE. Hepatic suppression of sensitization to antigen absorbed into the portal system. Nature. 1967;215:744–5.
- Kamei T, Callery MP, Flye MW. Pretransplant portal venous administration of donor antigen and portal venous allograft drainage synergistically prolong rat cardiac allograft survival. Surgery. 1990;108:415–21.
- 97. Morita H, Nakamura N, Sugiura K, et al. Acceptance of skin allografts in pigs by portal venous injection of donor bone marrow cells. Ann Surg. 1999;230:114–9.
- Gorczynski RM, Cohen Z, Leung Y, Chen Z. Gamma delta TCR+ hybridomas derived from mice preimmunized via the portal vein adoptively transfer increased skin allograft survival in vivo. J Immunol. 1996;157:574–81.
- 99. Gruessner RW, Nakhleh RE, Harmon JV, Dunning M, Gruessner AC. Donor-specific portal blood transfusion in intestinal transplantation: a prospective, preclinicallarge animal study. Transplantation. 1998;66:164–9.
- 100. Nymann T, Hathaway DK, Shokouh-Amiri MH, et al. Patterns of acute rejection in portal-enteric versus systemic-bladder pancreas-kidney transplantation. Clin Transpl. 1998;12:175–83.
- 101. Philosophe B, Farney AC, Schweitzer EJ, et al. The superiority of portal venous drainage over systemic venous drainage in pancreas transplantation. Ann Surg. 2001;234:689–96.
- 102. Stratta RJ, Shokouh-Amiri MH, Egidi MF, et al. A prospective comparison of simultaneous kidney–pancreas transplantation with systemic-enteric versus portal-enteric drainage. Ann Surg. 2001;233:740–51.

- 103. Petruzzo P, Da Silva M, Feitosa LC, et al. Simultaneous pancreas– kidney transplantation: portal versus systemic venous drainage of the pancreas allografts. Clin Transpl. 2000;14:287–91.
- Siskind E, Amodu L, Liu C, Akerman M, et al. A comparison of portal venous versus systemic venous drainage in pancreas transplantation. HPB (Oxford). 2019;21(2):195–203.
- 105. Bazerbachi F, Selzner M, Marquez MA, Norgate A, et al. Portal venous versus systemic venous drainage of pancreas grafts: impact on long-term results. Am J Transplant. 2012;12(1):226–32.
- 106. Gruessner AC. 2011 update on pancreas transplantation: comprehensive trend analysis of 25,000 casesfollowed up over the course of twenty-four years at the international pancreas transplant registry (IPTR). Rev Diabet Stud. 2011;8(1):6–16.
- Gruessner AC, Gruessner RW. Long-term outcome after pancreas transplantation: a registry analysis. Curr Opin Organ Transplant. 2016;21(4):377–85.
- 108. Gruessner AC, Gruessner RW. Pancreas transplantation of US and non-US cases from 2005 to 2014 as reported to the united network for organ sharing (UNOS) and the international pancreas transplant registry(IPTR). Rev Diabet Stud. 2016;13(1):35–58.
- 109. Cattral MS, Bigam DL, Hemming AW, et al. Portal venous and enteric exocrine drainage versus systemic venous and bladder exocrine drainage of pancreas grafts: clinical outcome of 40 consecutive transplant recipients. Ann Surg. 2000;232:688–95.
- 110. Bruce DS, Newell KA, Woodle ES, et al. Synchronous pancreaskidney transplantation with portal venous and enteric exocrine drainage: outcome in 70 consecutive cases. Transplant Proc. 1998;30:270–1.
- 111. Feitosa Tajra LC, Dawhara M, Benchaib M, Lefrancois N, Martin X, Dubernard JM. Effect of the surgical technique on longterm outcome of pancreas transplantation. Transplant Int. 1998;11:295–300.
- 112. Secchi A, Dubernard JM, La Rocca E, et al. Endocrinometabolic effects of whole versus segmental pancreas allotransplantation in diabetic patients—a two-year follow-up. Transplantation. 1991;51:625–9.
- La Rocca E, Secchi A, Ruotolo G, et al. Whole vs segmental pancreas transplantation: effect on lipid metabolism. Transplant Proc. 1994;26:498–9.
- 114. Dubernard JM, Traeger J, Martin X, Faure JL, Devonec M. Pancreatic transplantation in man: surgical technique and complications. Transplant Proc. 1980;12:40–3.
- 115. Dubernard JM, Martin X, Sanseverino R, Gelet A. Surgical techniques and complications. In: Dubernard JM, Sutherland DER, editors. International handbook of pancreas transplantation. Dordrecht: Kluwer Academic Publishers; 1989. p. 71–123.
- 116. Barone GW, Sailors DM, Ketel BL. Combined kidney and pancreas transplants through lower transverse abdominal incisions. Clin Transpl. 1996;10:316–9.
- 117. Barrou B, Bitker MO, Mouquet C, et al. Extraperitoneal placement of the bladder-drained pancreas transplant: why not? Transplant Proc. 1995;27:1755.
- 118. Tesi RJ, Henry ML, Elkhammas EA, Sommer BG, Ferguson RM. Decreased wound complications of combined kidney/pan creas transplants using intra-abdominal pancreas graft placement. Clin Transpl. 1990;4:287–91.
- Schweitzer EJ, Bartlett ST. Wound complications after pancreatic transplantation through a kidney transplant incision. Transplant Proc. 1994;26:461.
- Boggi U, Vistoli F, Signori S, Del Chiaro M, et al. A technique for retroperitoneal pancreas transplantation with portal-enteric drainage. Transplantation. 2005;79(9):1137–42.
- Boggi U, Vistoli F, Del Chiaro M, Signori S, et al. Retroperitoneal pancreas transplantation with portal-enteric drainage. Transplant Proc. 2004;36(3):571–4.

- 122. Boggi U, Vistoli F, Signori S, Del Chiaro M, et al. Outcome of 118 pancreas transplants with retroperitoneal portal-enteric drainage. Transplant Proc. 2005;37(6):2648–50.
- 123. Kahn J, Iberer F, Kniepeiss D, Duller D, et al. Retroperitoneal pancreas transplantation with systemic-enteric drainage—case report. Clin Transpl. 2008;22(5):674–6.
- 124. Walter M, Jazra M, Kykalos S, Kuehn P, et al. 125 cases of duodenoduodenostomy in pancreas transplantation: a single-Centre experience of an alternative enteric drainage. Transpl Int. 2014;27(8):805–15.
- Khubutia M, Pinchuk A, Dmitriev I, Storozhev R. Simultaneous pancreas-kidney transplantation with duodeno-duodenal anastomosis. Transplant Proc. 2014;46(6):1905–9.
- 126. Ono S, Kuroki T, Kitazato A, Adachi T, Chen YY, et al. Simultaneous pancreas and kidney composite graft transplantation with retroperitoneal systemic-enteric drainage. Ann Transplant. 2014;19:586–90.
- 127. Pinchuk A, Dmitriev I, Lazareva K, Storozhev R, et al. Retroperitoneal pancreas transplantation with the use of duodenal drainage via "button technique": first clinical practice (case report). Transplant Proc. 2017;49(10):2347–51.
- Kuo PC, Krieger NR, Alfrey EJ, Scandling J, Dafoe DC. The utility of retroperitoneal kidney placement in simultaneous kidney– pancreas transplantation. Clin Transpl. 1995;9:457–62.
- 129. Kuo PC, Shaffer D, Madras P, Sahyoun AI, Monaco AP. Retroperitoneal renal and intraperitoneal pancreatic transplantation. J Am Coll Surg. 1994;179:349–50.
- 130. Douzdjian V, Gugliuzza KK. The impact of midline versus transverse incisions on wound complications and outcome in simultaneous pancreas-kidney transplants: a retrospective analysis. Transplant Int. 1996;9:62–7.
- 131. Tso PL, Cash MP, Pearson TC, Larsen CP, Newell KA. Simultaneous pancreas-kidney transplantation utilizing a common arterial conduit: early experience and potential applications. Am J Transplant. 2003;3(11):1440–3.
- 132. Fridell JA, Shah A, Milgrom ML, Goggins WC, et al. Ipsilateral placement of simultaneous pancreas and kidney allografts. Transplantation. 2004;78(7):1074–6.
- Nghiem DD. Ipsilateral portal enteric drained pancreas-kidney transplantation: a novel technique. Transplant Proc. 2008;40(5):1555–6.
- Gruessner RWG, Sutherland DER. Pancreas transplantation: part II—the recipient operation. Surg Rounds. 1994;June:383–91.
- 135. Troppmann C, Gruessner AC, Benedetti E, et al. Vascular graft thrombosis after pancreatic transplantation: univariate and multivariate operative and nonoperative risk factor analysis. J Am Coll Surg. 1996;182:285–316.
- 136. Sutherland DER, Ascher NL, Najarian JS. Pancreas transplantation. In: Simmons RL, Finch ME, Ascher NL, Najarian JS, editors. Manual of vascular access, organ donation, and transplantation. New York: Springer-Verlag; 1984. p. 237–54.
- 137. Benedetti E, Gruessner AC, Troppmann C, et al. Intra-abdominal fungal infections after pancreatic transplantation: incidence, treatment, and outcome. J Am Coll Surg. 1996;183:307–16.
- 138. Thakkar RG, Kanwar A, Singh A, Hawche G, Talbot D, et al. Preemptive appendicectomy at the time of pancreas transplantation: is it necessary? Exp Clin Transplant. 2019;17(6):792–5.
- 139. Schiemann U, Ferhat A, Götzberger M, Kaiser C, et al. Prevalence of cholecystolithiasis and its management among kidney/pancreastransplanted type 1 (insulin-dependent) diabetic patients. Eur J Med Res. 2008;13(3):127–30.
- 140. Kaufman DB, Leventhal JR, Koffron A, et al. Simultaneous pancreas–kidney transplantation in the mycophenolate mofetil/ tacrolimus era: evolution from induction therapy with bladder drainage to noninduction therapy with enteric drainage. Surgery. 2000;128:726–37.

- 141. West MS, Stevens RB, Metrakos P, et al. Renal pedicle torsion after simultaneous kidney–pancreas transplantation. J Am Coll Surg. 1998;187:80–7.
- Roza AM, Johnson CP, Adams M. Acute torsion of the renal transplant after combined kidney–pancreas transplant. Transplantation. 1999;67:486–8.
- 143. Niclauss N, Bédat B, Morel P, Andres A, Toso C, Berney T. Impact of graft implantation order on graft survival in simultaneous pancreas-kidney transplantation. Transpl Int. 2016;29(5):627–35.
- Lich R, Howerton LW, David LA. Recurrent urosepsis in children. J Urol. 1961;86:554.
- 145. Politano VA, Leadbetter WF. An operative technique for the correction of vesicoureteral reflux. J Urol. 1958;79:932.
- 146. Matas AI, Tellis VA, Karwa GL, et al. Comparison of posttransplant urologic complications following extravesical ureteroneocystostomy by a single-stitch or mucosal anastomosis. Clin Transpl. 1987;1:159–63.
- 147. Simmons RL, Najarian JS. Kidney transplantation. In: Simmons RL, Finch ME, Ascher NL, Najarian JS, editors. Manual of vascular access, organ donation, and transplantation. New York: Springer-Verlag; 1984. p. 292–328.
- 148. Gruessner RW, Kendall DM, Drangstveit MB, Gruessner AC, Sutherland DE. Simultaneous pancreas–kidney transplantation from live donors. Ann Surg. 1997;226:471–80.
- 149. Pescovitz MD, Dunn DL, Sutherland DE. Use of the circular stapler in construction of the duodenoneocystostomy for drainage into the bladder in transplants involving the whole pancreas. Surg Gynecol Obstet. 1989;169-17.
- Douzdjian V, Gugliuzza KK, Fish JC. Urologic complications after simultaneous pancreas-kidney transplantation: handsewn versus stapled duodenocystostomy. Clin Transpl. 1995;9:396–400.
- 151. Frisk B, Hedman L, Brynger H. Pancreaticocystostomy with a two-layer anastomosis technique in human segmental pancreas transplantation. Transplantation. 1987;44:836–8.
- 152. Frank A, Bartlett S, Farney AC. Whole-organ pancreaticoduodenal transplants with portal vein and enteric exocrine drainage. In: Gruessner RWG, DER S, editors. Transplantation of the pancreas. New York: Springer; 2004. p. 161–3. Chapter 8.2.2.
- 153. Gaber AO, Shokouh-Amiri H, Grewal HP, Britt LG. A technique for portal pancreatic transplantation with enteric drainage. Surg Gynecol Obstet. 1993;177(4):417–9.
- 154. Zibari GB, Aultman DF, Abreo KD, Lynn ML, et al. Rouxen-Y venting jejunostomy in pancreatic transplantation: a novel approach to monitor rejection and prevent anastomotic leak. Clin Transpl. 2000;14(4 Pt 2):380–5.
- 155. Losanoff JE, Harland RC, Thistlethwaite JR, Garfinkel MR, et al. Omega jejunoduodenal anastomosis for pancreas transplant. J Am Coll Surg. 2006;202(6):1021–4.
- 156. De Roover A, Coimbra C, Detry O, Van Kemseke C, Squifflet JP, et al. Pancreas graft drainage in recipient duodenum: preliminary experience. Transplantation. 2007;84(6):795–7.
- 157. Hummel R, Langer M, Wolters HH, Senninger N, Brockmann JG. Exocrine drainage into the duodenum: a novel technique for pancreas transplantation. Transpl Int. 2008;21(2):178–81.
- Shokouh-Amiri H, Zakhary JM, Zibari GB. A novel technique of portal-endocrine and gastric-exocrine drainage in pancreatic transplantation. J Am Coll Surg. 2011;212(4):730–8; discussion 738-9.
- 159. Gunasekaran G, Wee A, Rabets J, Winans C, Krishnamurthi V. Duodenoduodenostomy in pancreas transplantation. Clin Transpl. 2012;26(4):550–7.
- 160. Perosa M, Noujaim H, Ianhez LE, Oliveira RA, et al. Experience with 53 portal-duodenal drained solitary pancreas transplants. Clin Transpl. 2014;28(2):198–204.

- 161. Tyden G, Wilczek H, Lundgren G, et al. Experience with 21 intraperitoneal segmental pancreatic transplants with enteric or gastric exocrine diversion in humans. Transplant Proc. 1985;17:331–5.
- 162. Shokouh-Amiri H, Zibari GB. Portal-endocrine and gastricexocrine drainage technique in pancreatic transplantation. Int J Organ Transplant Med. 2011;2(2):76–84.
- 163. Zibari GB, Fallahzadeh MK, Hamidian Jahromi A, Zakhary J, et al. Portal-endocrine and gastric-exocrine drainage technique of pancreas transplantation provides an easy access for evaluation of pancreatic allograft dysfunction: six-year experience at a single center. J La State Med Soc. 2014;166(5):207–12.
- 164. Linhares MM, Beron RI, Gonzalez AM, Tarazona C, et al. Duodenum-stomach anastomosis: a new technique for exocrine drainage in pancreas transplantation. J Gastrointest Surg. 2012;16(5):1072–5.
- 165. Dubernard JM, Traeger J, Neyra P, Touraine JL, Tranchant D, Blanc-Brunat N. A new method of preparation of segmental pancreatic grafts for transplantation: trials in dogs and in man. Surgery. 1978;84:633–9.
- Brekke IB. Duct-drained versus duct-occluded pancreatic grafts: a personal view. Transplant Int. 1993;6:116–20.
- 167. Land W, Gebhardt C, Gall FP, Weitz H, Gokel MJ, Stolte M. Pancreatic duct obstruction with prolamine solution. Transplant Proc. 1980;12:72–5.
- 168. McMaster P, Gibby OM, Evans DB, Calne RY. Human pancreatic transplantation with polyisoprene and cyclosporine a immunosuppression. Proc. 1980 EASD satellite symposium on islet-pancreas transplantation and artificial pancreas. Horm Metab Res. 1981;22:151–6.
- 169. Sutherland DE, Goetz FC, Elick BA, Najarian JS. Experience with 49 segmental pancreas transplants in 45 diabetic patients. Transplantation. 1982;34:330–8.
- 170. Baumgartner D, Bruhlmann W, Largiader F. Technique and timing of pancreatic duct occlusion with prolamine in recipients of simultaneous renal and intraperitoneal segmental pancreas allotransplants. Transplant Proc. 1986;18:1134–5.
- 171. Aigner A, Konigsrainer A, Steiner E, et al. Delayed duct occlusion—a new technique of pancreas transplantation. Transplant Proc. 1987;19:3908.
- 172. Sutherland DE, Goetz FC, Najarian JS. One hundred pancreas transplants at a single institution. Ann Surg. 1984;200:414–40.
- 173. Martin X, Jemni M, Lefrancois N, et al. Conversion of total bladder-drained pancreas into total injected grafts. Transplant Proc. 1994;26:460.
- 174. Sutherland DE, Goetz FC, Najarian JS. Intraperitoneal transplantation of immediately vascularized segmental pancreatic grafts without duct ligation. A clinical trial. Transplantation. 1979;28:485–91.
- 175. Sutherland DE, Morel P, Gruessner RW. Transplantation of two diabetic patients with one divided deceaseddonor pancreas. Transplant Proc. 1990;22:585.
- 176. Gruessner RW, Manivel C, Dunn DL, Sutherland DE. Pancreaticoduodenal transplantation with enteric drainage following native total pancreatectomy for chronic pancreatitis: a case report. Pancreas. 1991;6:479–88.
- 177. Gruessner RW, Sutherland DE, Dunn DL, Najarian JS, et al. Transplant options for patients undergoing total pancreatectomy for chronic pancreatitis. J Am Coll Surg. 2004;198(4):559–67.
- 178. Gruessner RW, Sutherland DE, Drangstveit MB, Kandaswamy R, Gruessner AC. Pancreas allotransplants in patients with a previous total pancreatectomy for chronic pancreatitis. J Am Coll Surg. 2008;206(3):458–65.
- 179. Cerise A, Nagaraju S, Powelson JA, Lutz A, Fridell JA. Pancreas transplantation following total pancreatectomy for chronic pancreatitis. Clin Transpl. 2019;33(12):e13731.

- Choi BH, Park YM, Yang KH, Chu CW, Ryu JH. Inferior vena cavaduodenal drainage in pancreas alone transplantation for chronic pancreatitis: a case report. Transplant Proc. 2016;48(9):3217–21.
- 181. Ganger KR, Mettler D, Boss HP, Ruchti C, Stoffel M, Schilt W. Experimental duodeno-pancreatico-renal composite transplantation: a new alternative to avoid vascular thrombosis? Transplant Proc. 1987;19:3960–4.
- Gruessner RW, Tzardis PJ, Schechner R, et al. En bloc simultaneous pancreas and kidney allotransplantation in the pig. J Surg Res. 1990;49:366–70.
- 183. Sugitani A, Gritsch HA, Egidi F, Shapiro R, Corry RJ. En bloc pancreas and kidney transplantation in a patient with limited vascular access. Transplantation. 1997;63:1683–5.
- Sasaki TM, Light JA. Single-unit simultaneous pancreas-kidney graft facilitates transplantation. Transplantation. 1999;68:1432.
- 185. Buggenhout A, Hoang AD, Hut F, Lekeufack JB, et al. Pediatric en bloc dual kidney-pancreas transplantation into an adult recipient: a simplified technique. Benefits of the en bloc kidney-pancreas transplantation technique in pediatric donors. Am J Transplant. 2004;4(4):663–5.
- 186. Waldner M, Bächler T, Schadde E, Schiesser M, et al. New surgical technique for pediatric en-bloc kidney and pancreas transplantation: the pancreas piggy-back. Transpl Int. 2013;26(1):30–3.
- 187. Schenker P, Flecken M, Vonend O, Wunsch A, et al. En bloc retroperitoneal pancreas-kidney transplantation with duodenoduodenostomy using pediatric organs. Transplant Proc. 2009;41(6):2643–5.
- 188. Dobbs S, Shapey IM, Summers A, Moinuddin Z, et al. Simultaneous en-bloc pancreas and kidney transplantation from a small pediatric donor after circulatory death. Am J Transplant. 2019;19(3):929–32.
- 189. Gruessner RWG. Recipient procedures. In: Gruessner RWG, Sutherland DER, editors. Transplantation of the pancreas. New York: Springer; 2004. Chapter 8.2.2, 167.
- 190. Rhein T, Metzner R, Uhlmann D, Serr F, et al. Pediatric donor organs for pancreas transplantation: an underutilized resource? Transplant Proc. 2003;35(6):2145–6.
- 191. Fernandez LA, Turgeon NA, Odorico JS, Leverson G, et al. Superior long-term results of simultaneous pancreas-kidney transplantation from pediatric donors. Am J Transplant. 2004;4(12):2093–101.
- 192. Illanes HG, Quarin CM, Maurette R, Sánchez NG, et al. Use of small donors (<28 kg) for pancreas transplantation. Transplant Proc. 2009;41(6):2199–201.
- 193. Sageshima J, Ciancio G, Chen L, Selvaggi G, et al. Combined pancreas and en bloc kidney transplantation using a bladder patch technique from very small pediatric donors. Am J Transplant. 2010;10(9):2168–72.
- 194. Socci C, Orsenigo E, Santagostino I, Caumo A, et al. Pancreata from pediatric donors restore insulin independence in adult insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus recipients. Transplant Proc. 2010;42(6):2068–70.
- 195. Biglarnia AR, Bennet W, Nilsson T, Larsson E, et al. Utilization of small pediatric donors including infants for pancreas and kidney transplantation: exemplification of the surgical technique and the surveillance. Ann Surg. 2014;260(2):e5–7.
- 196. Chiari D, Bissolati M, Gazzetta PG, Guarneri G, et al. Pancreas transplantation from very small pediatric donor using the "cephalic placement" technique: a case report. Transplant Proc. 2016;48(2):435–7.
- 197. Spaggiari M, Bissing M, Campara M, Yeh CC, et al. Pancreas transplantation from pediatric donors: a united network for organ sharing registry analysis. Transplantation. 2017;101(10):2484–91.
- 198. Spaggiari M, Di Bella C, Di Cocco P, Campara M, et al. Pancreas transplantation from pediatric donors: a single-center experience. Transplantation. 2018;102(10):1732–9.

- 199. Al-Qaoud TM, Odorico JS, Al-Adra DP, Kaufman DB, et al. Pancreas transplants from small donors: are the outcomes acceptable? A retrospective study. Transpl Int. 2020;33(11):1437–46.
- 200. Christensen K, Kennedy A, Kim R, Martinez E, Campsen J. Pancreatic grafts from pediatric donors do not appear to grow after transplantation into adults. Cureus. 2018;10(9):e3363.
- Starzl TE, Todo S, Tzakis A, et al. Abdominal organ cluster transplantation for the treatment of upper abdominal malignancies. Ann Surg. 1989;210:374–85.
- 202. Alessiani M, Tzakis A, Todo S, Demetris AJ, Fung JJ, Starzl TE. Assessment of five-year experience with abdominal organ cluster transplantation. J Am Coll Surg. 1995;180(1):1–9.
- Mayes JT, Boyle JT, Schulak JA. Simultaneous orthotopic liver and heterotopic pancreas transplantation. Transplantation. 1991;52(1):146–7.
- 204. Deylgat B, Topal H, Meurisse N, Jochmans I, et al. Gastric outlet obstruction by a donor aortic tube after en bloc liver pancreas transplantation: a case report. Transplant Proc. 2012;44(9):2888–92.
- 205. Trail KC, Stratta RJ, Larsen JL, Langnas AN, et al. Orthotopic hepatic transplantation in patients with type I diabetes mellitus. J Am Coll Surg. 1994;178(4):337–42.
- 206. Trotter JF, Bak TE, Wachs ME, Everson GT, Kam I. Combined liver-pancreas transplantation in a patient with primary sclerosing cholangitis and insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus. Transplantation. 2000;70:1469–71.
- 207. Aquirrezabalaja J, Gómez M, Novas S, Fernandez C, Corbal G, Frajuela J, Bueno J, Suarez F, Otero A. Combined liver-pancreas transplantation: contribution of five cases. Transplant Proc. 2002;34:211–2.
- Pirenne J, Nevens F, Koshiba T, et al. Combined liver-pancreas transplantation for primary sclerosing cholangitis and type I diabetes. Acta Chir Austriaca. 2001;33(Suppl 174):25.
- 209. Pirenne J, Deloose K, Coosemans W, Aerts R, et al. Combined 'en bloc' liver and pancreas transplantation in patients with liver disease and type 1 diabetes mellitus. Am J Transplant. 2004;4(11):1921–7.
- Kornberg A, Küpper B, Bärthel E, Tannapfel A, et al. Combined enbloc liver-pancreas transplantation in patients with liver cirrhosis and insulin-dependent type 2 diabetes mellitus. Transplantation. 2009;87(4):542–5.
- 211. Chen ZS, Meng FY, Chen XP, Liu DG, et al. Combined en bloc liver/pancreas transplantation in two different patients. World J Gastroenterol. 2009;15(20):2552–5.
- 212. Li J, Guo QJ, Cai JZ, Pan C, Shen ZY, Jiang WT. Simultaneous liver, pancreas-duodenum and kidney transplantation in a patient with hepatitis B cirrhosis, uremia and insulin dependent diabetes mellitus. World J Gastroenterol. 2017;23(45):8104–8.
- 213. Caicedo LA, Villegas JI, Serrano O, Millán M, et al. En-bloc transplant of the liver, kidney and pancreas: experience from a Latin American transplant center. Am J Case Rep. 2017;18:114–8.
- 214. Zhang G, Qin W, Yuan J, Ming C, et al. A 14-year follow-up of a combined liver-pancreas-kidney transplantation: case report and literature review. Front Med. 2020;7:148.
- 215. Stern RC, Mayes JT, Weber FL Jr, Blades EW, Schulak JA. Restoration of exocrine pancreatic function following pancreas-liver-kidney transplantation in a cystic fibrosis patient. Clin Transpl. 1994;8:1–4.
- 216. Bandsma RH, Bozic MA, Fridell JA, Crull MH, et al. Simultaneous liver-pancreas transplantation for cystic fibrosis-related liver disease: a multicenter experience. J Cyst Fibros. 2014;13(4):471–7.
- 217. Cystic Fibrosis Foundation Patient Registry. Patient registry annual data report 2010; 2010.
- 218. Young AL, Peters CJ, Toogood GJ, Davies MH, et al. A combined liver-pancreas en-bloc transplant in a patient with cystic fibrosis. Transplantation. 2005;80(5):605–7.

- 219. Fridell JA, Vianna R, Kwo PY, Howenstine M, et al. Simultaneous liver and pancreas transplantation in patients with cystic fibrosis. Transplant Proc. 2005;37(8):3567–9.
- 220. Mekeel KL, Langham MR Jr, Gonzalez-Perralta R, et al. Combined en bloc liver pancreas transplantation for children with CF. Liver Transpl. 2007;13(3):406–9.
- 221. Henn C, Kapellen T, Prenzel F, Siekmeyer M, et al. Combined heterotopic liver-pancreas transplantation as a curative treatment for liver cirrhosis and diabetes mellitus in cystic fibrosis. Pediatr Transplant. 2014;18(1):E6–9.
- 222. Shankar S, Bolia R, Hodgson A, Bishop JR, Evans HM, Oliver MR. Combined liver and pancreas transplantation in two children with cystic fibrosis-first experience in Australia and New Zealand. Pediatr Transplant. 2018 Jun 6;e13234.
- 223. Nordström J, Lundgren M, Jorns C, Fischler B, Arnell H, et al. First European case of simultaneous liver and pancreas transplantation as treatment of Wolcott-Rallison syndrome in a small child. Transplantation. 2020;104(3):522–5.
- 224. Tzakis AG, Nunnelley MJ, Tekin A, Buccini LD, Garcia J, et al. Liver, pancreas and kidney transplantation for the treatment of Wolcott-Rallison syndrome. Am J Transplant. 2015;15(2):565–7.
- 225. Rivera E, Gupta S, Chavers B, Quinones L, et al. En bloc multiorgan transplant (liver, pancreas, and kidney) for acute liver and renal failure in a patient with Wolcott-Rallison syndrome. Liver Transpl. 2016;22(3):371–4.
- Elsabbagh AM, Hawksworth J, Khan KM, Yazigi N, et al. World's smallest combined en bloc liver-pancreas transplantation. Pediatr Transplant. 2018;22(1):10.
- 227. Abu-Elmagd K, Fung J, Bueno J, et al. Logistics and technique for procurement of intestinal, pancreatic, and hepatic grafts from the same donor. Ann Surg. 2000;232:680–7.
- Grant D. Intestinal transplantation: 1997 report of the international registry. Transplantation. 1999;67:1061–4.
- 229. Langnas AN, Sudan DL, Kaufman S, et al. Intestinal transplantation: a single-center experience. Transplant Proc. 2000;32:1228.
- 230. Kato T, Romero R, Verzaro R, et al. Inclusion of the entire pancreas in the composite liver and intestinal graft in pediatric intestinal transplantation. Pediatr Transplant. 1999;3:210–4.
- 231. Fridell JA, Wozniak TC, Reynolds JM, Powelson JA, et al. Bilateral sequential lung and simultaneous pancreas transplant: a new approach for the recipient with cystic fibrosis. J Cyst Fibros. 2008;7(4):280–4.
- 232. Barbas AS, Dib MJ, Al-Adra DP, Goldaracena N, et al. Combined lung-liver-pancreas transplantation in a recipient with cystic fibrosis. J Cyst Fibros. 2018;17(1):e1–4.
- 233. Costa M, Potvin S, Berthiaume Y, Gauthier L, et al. Diabetes: a major co-morbidity of cystic fibrosis. Diabetes Metab. 2005;31(3 Pt 1):221–32.
- 234. Mettauer B, Bellmont S, Epailly E, Faller B, Doutreleau S, et al. First European combined heart, kidney, and pancreas transplantation 11 years after. Transplant Proc. 2001;33(7–8):3496–8.
- 235. Nguyen MT, Giannetti N, Cantarovich M, Cecere R, et al. Pancreas transplantation after combined heart-kidney transplantation. Transplantation. 2011;91(2):e13–4.
- Sollinger HW, Stratta RJ, Kalayoglu M, Pirsch JD, Belzer FO. Pancreas transplantation with pancreaticocystostomy and quadruple immunosuppression. Surgery. 1987;102:674–9.
- D'Alessandro AM, Sollinger HW, Stratta RJ, Kalayoglu M, Pirsch JD, Belzer FO. Comparison between duodenal button and duodenal segment in pancreas transplantation. Transplantation. 1989;47:120–2.
- Tyden G, Tibell A, Groth CG. Pancreatico-duodenal transplantation with entire exocrine drainage: technical aspects. Clin Transpl. 1991;5:36–9.
- 239. Tibell A, Brattstrom C, Wadstrom J, Tyden G, Groth CG. Improved results using whole organ pancreatico-duodenal transplants with enteric exocrine drainage. Transplant Proc. 1994;26:412–3.

- 240. Benedetti E, Baraniewski HM, Asolati M, Pollak R, Schuler JJ. Iliac reconstruction with arterial allograft during pancreaskidney transplantation. Clin Transpl. 1997;11:459–62.
- 241. Barone GW, Henry ML, Elkhammas EA, Tesi RJ, Ferguson RM. Whole-organ transplant of an annular pancreas. Transplantation. 1992;53:492–3.
- 242. White JC, Shaver TR, Kocandrle V. Simultaneous kidneypancreas transplantation using a horseshoe kidney. Transplant Int. 1993;6:302–3.
- 243. Kocandrle V, Vanek I, Bartos V, Pavel P. Splenic artery interposition in animal and human segmental pancreatic transplantation. Transplant Proc. 1984;16:1283–4.
- 244. Szmidt J, Lao M, Grochowiecki T, et al. Pancreas transplantation: four vascular anastomoses. Transplant Proc. 1996;28:3511–3.
- Calne RY, McMaster P, Rolles K, Duffy TJ. Technical observations in segmental pancreas allografting: observations on pancreatic blood flow. Transplant Proc. 1980;12:51–7.
- Brekke IB, Norstein J. Pancreatic transplant revascularization by dual arterial anastomoses. Transplant Proc. 1987;19:3874–5.
- Sollinger HW, Kalayoglu M, Hoffman RM, Deierhoi MH, Belzer FO. Experience with pancreaticocystostomy in 24 consecutive pancreas transplants. Transplant Proc. 1985;17:141–3.
- Dafoe DC, Campbell DA Jr, Marks WH, Borgstrom A, Lloyd RV, Turcotte JG. Association of inclusion of the donor spleen in pancreaticoduodenal transplantation with rejection. Transplantation. 1985;40:579–84.
- 249. Kootstra G, van Hooff JP, Jorning PJ, et al. A new variant for whole pancreas grafting. Transplant Proc. 1987;19:2314–8.
- 250. Booster MH, Wijnen RM, van Hooff JP, et al. The role of the spleen in pancreas transplantation. Transplantation. 1993;56:1098–102.
- 251. Fernández-Cruz L, Astudillo E, Sanfey H, Llovera JM, et al. Combined whole pancreas and liver retrieval: comparison between Y-iliac graft and splenomesenteric anastomosis. Transpl Int. 1992;5(1):54–6.
- 252. Wolff H, Lippert H, Friess P, Benhidjeb T. New method of pancreatic transplantation with gallbladder-bile passages: exocrine drainage into recipient's duodenum. Transplant Proc. 1990;22:638.
- 253. Königsrainer A, Schmid T, Habringer C, Then P, Margreiter R. A new technique for venous anastomosis of pancreatic allografts. Eur Surg Res. 1990;22:279–82.
- 254. Choi JY, Jung JH, Kwon HW, Shin S, Kim YH, Han DJ. Does enteric conversion affect graft survival after pancreas transplantation with bladder drainage? Ann Transplant. 2018;23:89–97.
- 255. Marsh CL, Forg P. The diagnosis and management of urologie complications in nonrenal transplant recipients. Sem Urol. 1994;12:233–50.
- Sollinger HW, Sasaki TM, D'Alessandro AM, et al. Indications for enteric conversion after pancreas transplantation with bladder drainage. Surgery. 1992;112:842–5.
- 257. Gruessner RW, Stephanian E, Dunn DL, Gruessner AC, Najarian JS, Sutherland DE. Cystoenteric conversion after whole pancreaticoduodenal transplantation: indications, risk factors, and outcome. Transplant Proc. 1993;25:1179–81.
- 258. Stephanian E, Gruessner RW, Brayman KL, et al. Conversion of exocrine secretions from bladder to enteric drainage in recipients of whole pancreaticoduodenal transplants. Ann Surg. 1992;216:663–72.
- 259. Burke GW, Gruessner R, Dunn DL, Sutherland DE. Conversion of whole pancreaticoduodenal transplants from bladder to enteric drainage for metabolic acidosis or dysuria. Transplant Proc. 1990;22:651–2.
- Srivastava V, Passaris G, Juneja R, Siddins M, Barbara JA. Bladder rupture following conversion to enteric drainage after pancreatic transplantation. Case Rep Nephrol Urol. 2012;2(1):1–5.
- 261. Bogetti D, Nazarewski S, Zieliński A, Sileri P, Testa G, et al. Perioperative treatment with octreotide minimizes technical com-

plications after enteric conversion of bladder-drained pancreas transplants. Clin Transpl. 2004;18(2):137–41.

- 262. Kukla A, Radosevich DM, Finger EB, Kandaswamy R. High urine amylase level and the risk of enteric conversion in solitary pancreas transplant recipients. Transplant Proc. 2014;46(6):1938–41.
- 263. Troppmann C, Gruessner RW, Dunn DL, Fasola C, Najarian JS, Sutherland DE. Is transplant pancreatectomy after graft failure necessary? Transplant Proc. 1994;26:455.
- Stratta RJ. Experience with allograft pancreatectomy after pancreas transplantation. Transplant Proc. 1998;30:443.
- 265. Stratta RJ, Gaber AO, Shokouh-Amiri MH, Reddy KS, Egidi MF, Grewal HP. Allograft pancreatectomy after pancreas transplantation with systemic-bladder versus portal-enteric drainage. Clin Transpl. 1999;13:465–72.
- 266. Troppmann C, Gruessner AC, Dunn DL, Sutherland DE, Gruessner RW. Surgical complications requiring early relaparotomy after pancreas transplantation: a multivariate risk factor and economic impact analysis of the cyclosporine era. Ann Surg. 1998;227:255–68.
- 267. Parajuli S, Odorico J, Astor BC, Djamali A, Sollinger H, et al. Incidence and indications for late allograft pancreatectomy while on continued immunosuppression. Transplantation. 2017;101(9):2228–34.
- Nagai S, Powelson JA, Taber TE, Goble ML, et al. Allograft pancreatectomy: indications and outcomes. Am J Transplant. 2015;15(9):2456–64.
- Wallace DF, Bunnett J, Fryer E, Drage M, et al. Early allograft pancreatectomy—technical failure or acute pancreatic rejection? Clin Transpl. 2019;33(10):e13702.
- 270. Paraskevas S, Gruessner AC, Kandaswamy R, Humar A, Sutherland DER, Gruessner RWG. Pancreas exchange: single procedure graft pancreatectomy and retransplant for early graft thrombosis. Acta Chir Austriaca. 2001;33(Supplement 174):2.
- 271. Leone JP, Kendall DM, Reinsmoen N, Hering BJ, Sutherland DE. Immediate insulin independence after retransplantation of islets prepared from an allograft pancreatectomy in a type 1 diabetic patient. Transplant Proc. 1998;30:319.
- 272. Humar A, Kandaswamy R, Drangstveit MB, Parr E, Gruessner AG, Sutherland DE. Surgical risks and outcome of pancreas retransplants. Surgery. 2000;127:634–40.
- 273. Stratta RJ, Sindhi R, Taylor RJ, et al. Retransplantation in the diabetic with a pancreas allograft after a previous kidney or pancreas transplant. Transplant Proc. 1997;29:666.
- 274. Sansalone CV, Aseni P, Follini ML, et al. Early pancreas retransplantation for vascular thrombosis in simultaneous pancreaskidney transplants. Transplant Proc. 1998;30:253–4.
- 275. Reddy KS, Shokouh-Amiri H, Stratta RJ, Gaber AO. Successful reuse of portal-enteric technique in pancreas retransplantation. Transplantation. 2000;69:2443–5.
- 276. Buron F, Thaunat O, Demuylder-Mischler S, Badet L, et al. Pancreas retransplantation: a second chance for diabetic patients? Transplantation. 2013;95(2):347–52.
- 277. Rudolph EN, Finger EB, Chandolias N, Kandaswamy R, Sutherland DE, Dunn TB. Outcomes of pancreas retransplantation. Transplantation. 2015;99(2):367–74.
- 278. Fridell JA, Mangus RS, Chen JM, Goble ML, et al. Late pancreas retransplantation. Clin Transpl. 2015;29(1):1–8.
- 279. Hollinger EF, Powelson JA, Mangus RS, Kazimi MM, et al. Immediate retransplantation for pancreas allograft thrombosis. Am J Transplant. 2009;9(4):740–5.
- Perosa M, Sergi F, Noujaim H. Outcomes after pancreas retransplantation: is the juice worth the squeeze? Curr Opin Organ Transplant. 2018;23(4):461–6.
- 281. Siskind E, Maloney C, Jayaschandaran V, Kressel A, et al. Pancreatic retransplantation is associated with poor allograft sur-

vival: an update of the united network for organ sharing database. Pancreas. 2015;44(5):769–72.

- 282. LaMattina JC, Sollinger HW, Becker YT, Mezrich JD, et al. Simultaneous pancreas and kidney (SPK) retransplantation in prior SPK recipients. Clin Transpl. 2012;26(3):495–501.
- 283. Gasteiger S, Cardini B, Göbel G, Oberhuber R, et al. Outcomes of pancreas retransplantation in patients with pancreas graft failure. Br J Surg. 2018;105(13):1816–24.
- 284. Wales L, Canelo R, Dosani T, Mustafa N, Hakim NS. Justifying a third pancreas transplant: a case report. Exp Clin Transplant. 2008;6(1):84–6.
- 285. Bösmüller C, Maglione M, Margreiter C, Dziodzio T, et al. Successful combined pancreas fourth-kidney third and pancreas third-kidney second transplantation: a case report. Transplant Direct. 2015;1(6):e22.

- 286. Stratta RJ, Lowell JA, Sudan D, Jerius JT. Retransplantation in the diabetic patient with a pancreas allograft. Am J Surg. 1997;174(6):759–62, discussion 763
- 287. Genzini T, Crescentini F, Torricelli FC, Antunes I, et al. Pancreas retransplantation: outcomes of 20 cases. Transplant Proc. 2006;38(6):1937–8.
- 288. Vendrame F, Hopfner Y, Diamantopoulos S, Virdi SK, et al. Risk factors for type 1 diabetes recurrence in immunosuppressed recipients of simultaneous pancreas-kidney transplants. Am J Transplant. 2016;16(1):235–45.
- Morel P, Schlumpf R, Dunn DL, Moudry-Munns K, Najarian JS, Sutherland DE. Pancreas retransplants compared with primary transplants. Transplantation. 1991;51:825–33.